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Chief Executive Officer's Review

A foundation
for growth.

Dear Shareholders, 
I am pleased to present to you, our valued shareholders, 

my inaugural CEO's report for the financial year ended 

September 30, 2024. Before going further, I wish to thank my 

predecessor, Gervase Warner, for his insightful leadership 

and the mark he made on Massy during his 14 years as Group 

CEO. As we approach the end of this first year of our second 

century in business, I believe it is an appropriate opportunity 

to update you in a more focused manner on our 2024 

financial performance, key strategic initiatives, and on our 

commitment to where we are heading in 2025 and beyond.

Strong Underlying Financial Performance 
in 2024
The Group’s Fiscal Year (FY) 2024 financial performance 

demonstrated our resilience, achieving stable top-line growth 

with Third Party Revenue from our Portfolios increasing by 11 

percent, from TT$14.2 billion in FY 2023 to TT$15.7 billion in 

FY 2024, driven largely by our Gas Products and Integrated 

Retail Portfolios, which recorded 19 percent and 10 percent 

growth respectively.  At the Group consolidated level, a 

challenging year resulted in several one-off costs (which will 

be explained in the Group Chief Financial Officer's Report), 

and an 8 percent decline in the Group’s Profit before Tax, from 

TT$1.2 billion, to TT$1.1 billion in FY 2024, that reduced Profit 

for the year by 12 percent, from last fiscal’s record breaking 

TT$813 million to TT$712 million.  In line with the increased 

focus of the Investment Holding Company (IHC) on Cash Flow 

generation, Cash Flow from Operating Activities after interest 

paid increased by 33 percent from TT$802 million to TT$1.1 

billion.  Our overall cash position also strengthened from 

David Affonso
President & Group
Chief Executive Officer
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TT$1.3 billion to TT$1.6 billion, and we notably paid off TT$589 million 

on the margin line of the Divestment Fund Portfolio (DFP) investments, 

significantly enhancing our capacity to undertake future investments.

Strategic Update on Major Initiatives 
to Support Sustainable Growth
The Massy Group remains committed to focus strategically on our 

three industry Portfolios – Integrated Retail, Gas Products and Motors 

& Machines, that together account for 99 percent of the Group's 

Revenue.  For the foreseeable future, we will retain our investments in 

the companies within the Financial Services Line of Business as they 

continue to act as strategic enablers in key markets.

 

It is extremely important that we allocate capital across various 

markets in alignment with the growth objectives of each of the 

Portfolios. From a geographic perspective, we will be increasing our 

focus on investing in territories where hard currencies are earned, 

and those that allow for greater capital mobility to permit easier 

repatriation of funds back to the parent company, to support our capital 

requirements, including payment of dividends to shareholders.  

As we continue along the path towards our Vision to be ‘A Global Force 

for Good, an Investment Holding Company with a Caribbean Heart’, 

we recognise that the systems and structures that drove our success 

in the past will not all be as productive or appropriate in the future.  We 

have been reviewing our operating and governance models to ensure 

that they are sufficiently robust to support the needs of the future 

growth of the Group.

In the financial year 2024, we made significant progress in these areas 

and the major initiatives undertaken include:

• A review of the IHC Organisational Design and Group Governance 

structure.

• Review of our Executive Compensation/Renumeration philosophy, 

with a view to creating better linkages between pay and 

performance in the markets in which we operate.

• A review of our Group Human Resource Policies and Contracts.

• Operational improvements aimed at Cash Generation Performance.

• A review of our Capital Allocation methodology.

• Building our Crisis Communications and Brand Reputation 

Management capabilities.

• Strengthening our Community Engagement.

• Strengthening our relationship with our Shareholders.

The Massy Group is an Investment Holding Company that is 

multinational and multi-business; we compete for talent, capital, 

markets and customers globally and our continued success demands 

that we always seek to improve, adapt to stay relevant and in step with 

global best practice in every aspect of our operations.

Outlook for 2025 and Beyond
In keeping with this guiding philosophy, in 2025 we will complete the 

next phase of implementing the new organisational and governance 

structures arising out of the reviews conducted in 2024. We are 

committed to delivering consistent, sustainable shareholder returns, 

and we will be even more sharply focused on operating profitability, 

cash flow generation, returns on capital invested, and our capacity to 

find and invest in growth and expansion opportunities.

The Group’s aspiration is to grow our revenue to over US$4 billion by 2030 

through organic growth, and disciplined Mergers and Acquisitions 

and capital investments. Achieving this goal will provide the scale and 

scope to ensure that the Group is more recognisable on a global stage 

and is able to attract international capital to support further growth and 

generate even greater value to our shareholders in the medium to long 

term.

Welcome
I would like to extend a special welcome to Nadia McCarthy, our Senior 

Vice President, Group People & Culture, who joined the Massy Group 

in November 2024; and Karlene Bailey, Vice President and Group Chief 

Risk Officer, who joined us in May 2024. We are confident that their 

addition to our team will support our future growth aspirations.

Thank you
In closing, while I reflect on the challenges that we experienced during 

the period under review, I am proud of what we have achieved. Our 

performance is tangible evidence that our growth strategy is grounded 

on a solid business platform, and we are well-poised to realise our 

aspirations. It would be remiss of me not to take this opportunity to offer 

my sincere and wholehearted thanks, appreciation, and gratitude to all 

our stakeholders, our employees, our customers, our suppliers and our 

investors, for the confidence you placed with us during the past year. It 

has inspired us, and I assure you that we remain wholly committed to 

continue delivering on the trust and belief that you have placed in us.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW      

Building for 
the future.

2024: A Year of Resilience, Record Cash 
Flow and Transformation in Support 
of Disciplined Hard Currency Growth
As I reflect on the last year and enter my second year as 

CFO, I am proud to share results that reflect the hard work, 

resilience, and unwavering commitment of our people. This 

year brought significant challenges, some of which impacted 

our results, which have been mentioned by our Chairman and 

our Chief Executive Officer.

Despite these hurdles, the organisation responded to these 

challenges and seized new opportunities, which continue 

to inspire me. Building on a record performance in 2023 

and the commitment I made in the 2023 CFO letter, to 

pursue “significant growth, responsibly,” I am pleased to 

share results that reflect not only operational strength but 

also increased prudence and transparency. These efforts, 

I’m excited to say, have laid a solid foundation for greater 

resilience, long-term performance, and meaningful impact for 

all stakeholders.  

The Chairman of the Board highlighted the strategic and 

operational adjustments made this year, underscoring our 

transformation into an Investment Holding Company (IHC), 

the building and deployment of critical capabilities, and 

improvements in governance. These foundational changes 

are not just about structure—they are about ensuring that 

Massy is equipped to thrive in an ever-changing landscape 

while delivering long-term value to shareholders and broader 

societal benefits to all our stakeholders.  

Chief Financial Officer's Report

James Mc Letchie
Executive Vice President
Group Chief Financial Officer
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Transforming into a Purpose-Driven 
Investment Holding Company  
As the Chairman noted, our journey to becoming an IHC represents a 

reimagining of how we operate as a Group. At its core, this transformation 

is about ensuring every decision we make and every dollar we invest 

drives sustainable value for shareholders, while creating opportunities for 

intergenerational economic security and benefits for all stakeholders.  

To achieve this, the IHC is being transformed to focus on six clear objectives:  

1 Protecting the Value and Reputation of Your Investment: Upholding 

robust governance and risk management practices to safeguard trust.  

2 Driving Strategic Growth: Making deliberate, fact-based choices about 

where to compete and how to win.  

3 Sourcing and Allocating Capital Responsibly: Leveraging “wholesale” 

capital and deploying with discipline and impact.  

4 Enabling Targeted Performance Management: Driving operational 

excellence across portfolios to unlock their highest potential.  

5 Investing in Our Human Capital ie. Our People: Attracting, developing, 

and retaining top-tier talent capable of achieving our bold ambitions.  

6 Unlocking Inorganic Growth: Building world-class capabilities in Mergers, 

Acquisitions and Divestitures to accelerate hard currency cash flow 

generation and fill strategic gaps.  

The Chairman’s remarks on these objectives emphasised their critical role in 

ensuring that Massy is not only resilient but positioned to take advantage of 

opportunities in a dynamic global environment.  

What excites me most is the tangible benefits we are already seeing. For 

example, by focusing on improved capital management, we strengthened 

our balance sheet, reducing our debt-to-equity ratio to 37 percent, creating 

significant capacity for future growth. Additionally, we achieved a historic 

milestone: for the first time, Massy generated over TT$1 billion in net 

operational cash flow. This achievement underscores the importance of 

liquidity as the engine powering dividends, reinvestment, and growth.  

Performance Highlights: A Year of Growth and Prudence  
In 2024, the Group achieved TT$15.7 billion in revenue, representing an 11 

percent increase over 2023. While Profit Before Tax (PBT) and Profit After Tax 

(PAT) declined slightly to TT$1.1 billion and TT$712 million, respectively, these 

results reflect our deliberate focus on prudence and long-term value creation. 

The decline was primarily driven by increased provisioning for bad debts, 

Group Debt
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Profit Before Tax
CAGR +7%
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 2022 2023 2024

995 1,229 1,135
1,500

1,000

500

0

Earnings Per Share 

33.38 TT¢

 2022 2023 2024

8.55

32.57

41.12

-1.03

39.64

38.61

0.21

33.17

33.38

continuing                        discontinuing  total

50

40

30

20

10

0

-10

higher investments in governance and the IHC model, full-year interest costs 

on acquisition financing, and one-off legal expenses. 

The Chairman’s market-specific insights provided important context for the 

challenges we faced. For instance, in Colombia, economic pressures created 

headwinds for some of our portfolios, with a significant impact on the Motors & 

Machines Portfolio, but these were mitigated through operational adjustments. 

In Trinidad, Guyana, Jamaica and Barbados we saw robust demand for our 

portfolios despite local challenges, while the Florida market demonstrated the 

strength of our acquisition in creating anchors for USD cash flow.  

Portfolio Performance: Strength Across the Board  
Integrated Retail Portfolio: Third party revenue grew 10 percent, driven by 

enhanced customer engagement strategies, successful new product launches, 

and the continued strong performance of Rowe’s IGA, which we acquired in 

2023. Rowe’s has not only been accretive from a profit perspective but has 

also provided a critical anchor for USD net operational cash flow. Improved 

inventory and receivables management further strengthened cash generation 

across both the retail and distribution businesses.

From the opening of the new advanced Jacksonville warehouse in April 2024, 

to the sale of the non-core retail pharmacy business in Trinidad in September 

2024, this Portfolio demonstrated focus and agility within its highly competitive 

sector. 

Gases Products Portfolio: Achieved an impressive 19 percent revenue growth, 

driven by increased turnaround customer revenue in Trinidad and the full-

year contribution of the IGL Saint Lucia acquisition. Integration synergies are 

already materialising, and we have accelerated the remaining integration 

projects to realise the full potential of this transaction in FY 2025. In Trinidad 

our CO2 expansion project is underway to meet unfulfilled demand and our 

commitment to the people of Guyana has been reinforced with the opening of 

a new Air Separation Unit (ASU) reducing the USD imports required.

Motors and Machines Portfolio: Revenue growth was strong, but PBT 

performance was impacted by macroeconomic challenges in Colombia, 

and bad debt provisioning. While these one-off costs weighed on short-

term results, operational improvements through improved working capital 

management along with a more favourable Colombian economic outlook in 

FY 2025 has positioned this Portfolio for PBT recovery and growth.   IR GP MM FS PBT CS 2024 2023 2022
from 

continuing
operations

& other
adjust-
ments

Group Profit Before Tax 

690,284

355,790

227,712
75,481 1,349,267

-214,082

1,135,185
1,229,055

995,017

1,135,185TT’000s 
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 2022 2023 2024

Invested Capital (%)

IR
GP 
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5,524 7,142 7,536

7,536TTM 

Contribution by Business Unit (TT$M)

100% 100% 100%

Value Distribution: A Commitment to All Stakeholders  
This financial year, the Group distributed significant value across key stakeholders, reflecting 

our commitment to sustainable growth, responsible corporate citizenship, and creating 

long-term value. This distribution demonstrates how we balance the needs of employees, 

governments, debt providers, shareholders including dividends and reinvestments to drive 

economic progress and deliver on our purpose.  

Salaries, wages, and benefits represented 56 percent of the total value distributed in the 

year under review.  This represents a slight decrease from 58 percent in the 2023 financial 

year.  This investment highlights the crucial role our workforce plays in our success, and 

reaffirms our commitment to attracting, retaining, and supporting the talent necessary to 

achieve our ambitious growth and expansion goals.

Reinvestment in the business represented 13 percent, or TT$415 million, a 44 percent 

increase from $289 million in the prior year. This substantial growth reflects our strategic 

focus on ensuring the Group is well-positioned for future opportunities that focus on future 

proofing the cash flows through organic and inorganic investments that increase hard 

currency cash generation.  

Contributions to governments totalled TT$447 million, or 14 percent of the value distributed, 

up from $414 million in the prior year. These payments, which include taxes and statutory 

obligations, highlight our role as a responsible corporate citizen supporting public services, 

infrastructure, and societal progress.  

Payments to our debt capital providers grew significantly to TT$224 million, or 7 percent of 

total value, compared to $159 million in the prior year. This increase is a result of significant 

reductions in high priced debt as part of our disciplined capital management to ensure 

that we have sustained access to financial markets to fund future growth and strategic 

acquisitions.  

Finally, we distributed TT$313 million, or 10 percent of the total, to shareholders in the form 

of dividends, consistent with the prior year. This demonstrates our steadfast commitment to 

delivering predictable and stable returns, reinforcing confidence in our strategy and long-

term vision.  

Employees (salaries, wages and other benefits) 1,797

Government (statutory contributions) 447

Reinvested in the Business (retained earnings)  415

Shareholders (dividends) 313 

Lenders (finance costs) 224

Community (contributions) 10

Value Distribution (TT$)

 2022 2023 2024

Continuing Operations PBT (%)

IR
GP 
MM  
FS

         

8

20

26

46

6
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26

49

6

17

26

51

1,167,320 1,345,452 1,349,267

1,349,267TTM 

Contribution by Business Unit (TT$’000)

100% 100% 100%
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This balanced approach to value distribution ensures that we meet immediate stakeholder expectations while positioning the Group for 

enduring success. By sharing these insights, we aim to foster transparency and strengthen partnerships with all our stakeholders, reinforcing 

our shared purpose of creating a better future for employees, investors, and the communities we serve.

Shareholder Value: A Strong and Resilient Investment  
As stewards of your capital, delivering robust and sustainable returns remains our highest priority. A $100 investment in Massy shares on 

October 1, 2019, would now be worth $155 as of September 30, 2024, significantly outperforming the TTSE Index, and the JSE index, where the 

same investment would now be worth $87 and $71 respectively. 

Compared to the S&P 500 Index, where a $100 investment would have grown to $210, our performance remains competitive, particularly given 

the dominance of technology and innovation leaders in the global index. 

Earlier this year, we commissioned research into stock price movements on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange (TTSE). This analysis 

revealed that Massy’s stock is among the most “efficient” on the exchange, highly responsive to market sentiment and information. While this 

responsiveness reflects trust in our results, it also highlights the challenges posed by periods of negative sentiment. 

Massy

Simple Average 
Caribbean 
Conglomerate
Peer Group

Median Latin American³
Peer Group
 

Market CAP P/E 1 Dividend2 

TT$million Multiple Yield % 

7,027 10.7 4.73 

6,357 14.9 3.08 

10,940 16.8        1.54 

 
Notes:
1  Based on EPS from Continuing 

Operations only. PE based on Continuing 
and Discontinued Operations is 10.6x

2  Represents the selected Peer Group 
average

3  Determined independently by BICS Best 
Fit as per Bloomberg

  TT S&P
  Composite 500 JSE
 Massy Index Index Index

Opening Price (Sep 30, 2019) 2.72 1400.75 2976.74 516,042.9

Closing Price (Sep 30, 2024) 3.55 12052.8 5762.48 318,325.7

Price Change (%)  30.5 -24.8 93.6 -38.3

Dividend Return (%)  24.7 12.1 16.1 9.24

Total Return (%)  55.2 -12.8 109.7 -29.07

Value of $100 
investment in 2019  87.24 209.67 70.93155.19
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Despite these challenges, we are proud that our shares have delivered 

consistent and meaningful returns to shareholders over time and 

demonstrated that our historic shareholder return performance is consistent 

with our increased focus to make an investment in Massy an investment into a 

vehicle that provides intergenerational wealth creation.  

Looking Ahead: Building for the Future  
As I reflect on 2024, I am filled with gratitude and optimism. This year has 

been about more than financial performance—it has been about resilience, 

transformation, and laying the foundation for our ambition to double the 

Group’s value by 2030 and strengthen the currency exposure of the Group and 

its shareholders.  

The strategic and operational adjustments highlighted by the Chairman—

including the IHC transformation, capability building, and governance 

enhancements—have been critical to our progress. These changes ensure 

Massy remains well-positioned to navigate challenges, seize opportunities, and 

create enduring value for all stakeholders.  

Thank you for your trust and partnership. Together, we are building a legacy of 

sustainable value that will endure for generations to come.  

Dividend Coverage

Dividend Yield

3 YEAR AVERAGE  2.35x

3 YEAR AVERAGE  3.77%

1.99 X

4.73 %
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0
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2.00

1.00
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at September 30. Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars

    Notes 2024 2023
     $ $

Assets    
Non-current assets    
 Property, plant and equipment  5 3,635,867 3,399,878
 Right of use assets  6 896,757 769,990
 Goodwill  8 1,068,865 1,071,282
 Other intangible assets  9 106,581 116,107
 Investments in associates and joint ventures  10 105,328 104,014
 Trade and other receivables  11 22,002 26,472
 Financial assets  12 1,533,367 1,622,259
 Deferred income tax assets  13 174,035 151,629
	 Retirement	benefit	assets	 	 14	 482,798 403,635
 
     8,025,600 7,665,266
     
Current assets    
 Inventories  15 2,333,614 2,450,402
 Trade and other receivables  11 2,328,464 2,344,081
 Financial assets  12 836,483 1,406,286
 Statutory deposits with regulators  16 82,007 77,656
 Cash and cash equivalents  17 1,600,253 1,289,686
	 Assets	classified	as	held	for	sale	 	 35	 240,761 307,473
     
     7,421,582 7,875,584

Total assets   15,447,182 15,540,850
     
Equity    
Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the parent     
 Share capital  18 764,344 764,344
 Retained earnings   7,074,119 6,659,025
 Other reserves  20  (53,363)  (21,900)
     
     7,785,100 7,401,469
Non-controlling interests  21 228,345 207,037

Total equity   8,013,445 7,608,506
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    Notes 2024 2023
     $ $

Liabilities    
Non-current liabilities    
 Borrowings  22 1,385,200 1,487,613
 Lease liabilities  6 974,860 795,533
 Trade and other payables  24 17,375 8,045
 Deferred income tax liabilities  13 359,520 333,683
 Customers’ deposits  23 279,455 262,400
	 Retirement	benefit	obligations		 	 14	 112,351 111,605
 Provisions for other liabilities and charges   13,494 13,957

     3,142,255 3,012,836
     
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables  24 1,789,299 1,943,615
Customers’ deposits  23 583,167 604,054
Current income tax liabilities   204,786 215,973
Borrowings  22 1,610,484 2,002,927
Lease liabilities  6 96,115 142,399
Liabilities	classified	as	held	for	sale	 	 35	 7,631 10,540
     4,291,482 4,919,508

Total liabilities   7,433,737 7,932,344

Total equity and liabilities   15,447,182 15,540,850

The	notes	on	pages	27	to	118	are	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements.

On	November	19,	2024,	the	Board	of	Directors	of	Massy	Holdings	Ltd.	authorised	these	consolidated	financial	statements	for	issue.

David Affonso Peter Jeewan James McLetchie

Director Director  Director

     

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at September 30. Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Year ended September 30. Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars

    Notes 2024 2023
     $ $

Continuing operations:    
Revenue  3/25 15,723,137 14,195,284
Cost of sales   25  (11,503,716)  (10,182,428)

Gross profit    4,219,421 4,012,856
Administrative	expenses	 	 25.2	  (1,562,760)  (1,511,806)
Other	operating	expenses	 	 25.2	  (1,561,895)  (1,400,330)
Expected	credit	losses		 	 25.2	  (161,788)  (59,008)
Other income   322,341 352,338

Operating profit before net finance cost   1,255,319 1,394,050
Finance cost  27  (291,665)  (217,670)
Finance income  27 52,501 48,883

Operating profit after net finance cost   1,016,155 1,225,263
Share of results of associates and joint ventures  10 119,030 3,792

Profit before income tax   1,135,185 1,229,055
Income tax expense   28  (426,887)  (395,756)

Profit for the year from continuing operations   708,298 833,299
     
Discontinued operations:    
Profit/(loss)	after	tax	from	discontinued	operations	 	 35	 4,135  (20,367)

Profit/(loss)	for	the	year	from	discontinued	operations	 	 	 4,135  (20,367)

Profit for the year   712,433 812,932
     
Owners of the parent:     
Profit	for	the	year	from	continuing	operations	 	 	 656,464 784,562
Profit/(loss)	for	the	year	from	discontinued	operations	 	 35	 4,135  (20,367)

     660,599 764,195
Non-controlling interests:   
Profit	for	the	year	from	continuing	operations	 	 21	 51,834 48,737
Profit	attributable	to	non-controlling	interests	 	 	 51,834 48,737

Profit for the year   712,433 812,932
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    Notes 2024 2023
     $ $

Earnings per share attributable to the owners of the parent during the year (expressed in TT$ per share):    
Basic earnings per share    
-  from continuing operations  29 33.17	 39.64
-  from discontinued operations  29 0.21	 	(1.03)

     33.38 38.61

The	notes	on	pages	27	to	118	are	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements.
     

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Year ended September 30. Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars
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Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended September 30. Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars

     2024 2023
    $ $

Profit for the year   712,433 812,932
   
Other comprehensive income:   
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss   
-		 remeasurement	of	defined	benefit	pension	plans	 	 	 32,711  (37,610)

    32,711  (37,610)

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss   
-		 currency	translation	differences		 	 	  (44,615) 46,226
-		 remeasurement	of	financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	OCI	 	 	 44,541  (109,062)

     (74)  (62,836)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax   32,637  (100,446)
   
Total comprehensive income for the year   745,070 712,486
    
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:   
Owners of the parent   695,291 662,756
Non-controlling interests   49,779 49,730

Total comprehensive income for the year   745,070 712,486
   
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of the parent, attributable to:   
Continuing operations   691,333 681,815
Discontinued operations   3,958  (19,059)

Total comprehensive income for the year   695,291 662,756

The	notes	on	pages	27	to	118	are	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended September 30. Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars

      Subtotal  
      attributable  
      to equity Non- 
   Share Other Retained holders of controlling Total
   capital reserves earnings the parent interest equity
  Notes $ $ $ $ $ $
        
Balance at October 1, 2023  764,344   (21,900)  6,659,025   7,401,469   207,037   7,608,506 
        
Profit	for	the	year	 	 	–		 –		 	660,599		 	660,599		 	51,834		  712,433 
Other	comprehensive	income/(loss)	 	 	–		 	(42,603)	 	77,295		 	34,692		 	(2,055)	  32,637 

Total comprehensive income for the year   –   (42,603)  737,894   695,291   49,779   745,070 

Other movements:       
-		 Other	reserve	movements	 20	 –	 	11,140		 	(9,463)	 	1,677		 	75	  1,752 
        
Transactions with owners:       
	 -	Dividends	declared	 19	 –		 –	 	(313,337)	 	(313,337)	 	(28,546)	  (341,883)

Balance at September 30, 2024   764,344   (53,363)  7,074,119   7,785,100   228,345   8,013,445 
        
        
Balance at October 1, 2022  764,344   (67,903)  6,370,513   7,066,954   185,829   7,252,783 
        
Profit	for	the	year	 	 –		 –		 	764,195		 	764,195		 	48,737		 	812,932 
Other	comprehensive	income/(loss)	 	 –		 	45,201		 	(146,640)	 	(101,439)	 	993		  (100,446)

Total comprehensive income for the year   –   45,201   617,555   662,756   49,730   712,486 

Other movements:       
-		 Other	reserve	movements	 20	 –		 	802		 	(15,706)	 	(14,904)	 	(1,680)  (16,584)
        
Transactions with owners:
-		 Purchase	of	non-controlling	interest	 	 –		 –		 –		 –	 	(1,966)	  (1,966)
-		 Dividends	declared	 19	 –	 –	 	(313,337)	 	(313,337)	 	(24,876)	  (338,213)

Balance at 30 September 2023   764,344   (21,900)  6,659,025   7,401,469   207,037   7,608,506 
        
        
              Year ended September 30
       2024  2023

Dividends per share 19     16.78¢	 15.83¢
Dividends paid per share 19     15.83¢	 15.83¢

The	notes	on	pages	27	to	118	are	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements.	 	 	 	
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended September 30. Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars

    Notes 2024 2023
     $ $

Cash flows from operating activities    
Profit	before	income	tax	from	continuing	operations	 	 	  1,135,185   1,229,055 
Profit	before	tax	from	discontinued	operations	 	 35	  4,261   (20,348)

     1,139,446   1,208,707 
Adjustments for:    
 Share of results of associates and joint ventures  10  (119,030)  (3,792)
 Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment  5  367,340   303,254
 Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use asset  6  108,403   106,799 
 Depreciation and impairment of investment properties  7 –  20,733 
 Amortisation of other intangible assets  9  28,416   23,466 
 Unwinding of interest on restoration liability    1,850   295 
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment    (28,965)  (32,149)
 Gain on disposal of associates    (673)  (30,442)
	 Expected	credit	losses/impairment	expense	on	financial	instruments	 	   161,788   59,008 
	 Gain	on	other	financial	instruments	 	 	  (2,341)  (67)
	 Employee	retirement	and	other	benefits	 	 	  (45,706)  2,603 
 Interest expense on borrowings    223,617   159,334 
 Interest expense on lease liabilities    61,855   56,659 

Operating cashflows before changes in working capital    1,896,000   1,874,408 
    
Changes in working capital:    
 Decrease/(increase) in inventories    116,788   (365,538)
 Increase in trade and other receivables    (126,900)  (512,253)
 Decrease in provisions and other charges    (2,314)  (23,432)
 Increase in instalment credit    (19,850)  (154,325)
 (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables    (107,033)  229,842 
 Increase in statutory deposits    (4,351)  (30,002)
 (Decrease)/increase in customers’ deposits    (3,830)  319,851
 
Cash generated from operations    1,748,510   1,338,551 
Taxation paid    (399,558)  (320,161)

Net cash generated from operating activities    1,348,952   1,018,390

The	notes	on	pages	27	to	118	are	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements.
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    Notes 2024 2023
     $ $

Cash flows from investing activities    
 Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    101,635   66,830 
 Proceeds on sale of investment properties   –   109,424 
 Additions to property, plant and equipment  5  (705,736)  (518,065)
 Additions to investment properties  7  –    (3,118)
	 Net	change	in	other	financial	assets	excluding	instalment	credit	and	other	loans	 	 	  714,784   (76,419)
 Increase in other investments, other intangibles,     
     non-controlling interests and investments in associates and joint ventures   (10,189)  (21,972)
 Dividends received from associated companies  10  74,062   13,513 
 Acquisition of subsidiaries net of cash acquired  34 –    (1,615,047)
 Proceeds on sale of associates    673   54,813 

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities    175,229   (1,990,041)

Cash flows from financing activities    
 Proceeds from borrowings    2,778,256   3,020,792 
 Repayments on borrowings    (3,498,607)  (1,522,319)
 Repayments on lease liabilities    (156,689)  (147,856)
 Purchase of non-controlling interest   –    (1,966)
 Dividends paid to company’s shareholders  19  (313,337)  (313,337)
 Dividends paid to non-controlling interests    (28,546)  (24,876)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities    (1,218,923)  1,010,438 

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents    305,258   38,787 
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at beginning of the year    1,213,843   1,169,333 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and bank overdrafts    (7,938)  5,723

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at end of the year    1,511,163 1,213,843 

Cash and short - term funds    1,602,388   1,292,079 
Bank overdrafts    (91,225)  (78,236)

     1,511,163   1,213,843 

The	following	amounts	are	included	within	cash	flows	from	operating	activities:	 	 	 	
Interest income    132,873   119,018 
Dividend income from investments    1,592   554 

Continuing operations     1,600,253   1,289,686 
Reclassified	to	held	for	sale	 	 	  2,135   2,393

     1,602,388   1,292,079

The	notes	on	pages	27	to	118	are	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended September 30. Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars
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1 General information
	 Massy	Holdings	Ltd.	(the	‘Company’)	was	incorporated	in	the	Republic	of	Trinidad	and	Tobago	in	1923.	The	address	of	its	registered	office	is	Third	

Floor	Invaders	Bay	Tower,	Port	of	Spain,	Trinidad.	The	Company	and	its	subsidiaries,	(together,	the	Group)	is	engaged	in	trading,	service	industries	
and	finance	in	Trinidad	and	Tobago,	the	wider	Caribbean	region	and	Colombia.	The	Company	has	primary	listings	on	the	Trinidad	and	Tobago	and	
Jamaica	Stock	Exchange.	

	 The	material	subsidiaries	are	listed	below	with	the	percentage	holding	of	the	Parent’s	(Massy	Holdings	Ltd.)	effective	shareholding	where	there	is	an	
intermediary	company.

    
  Percentage

  Country of equity capital
  incorporation held

 Motors and Machines
	 Massy	Transportation	Group	Ltd.	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 100
	 Massy	Motors	Ltd.	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 100
 City Motors (1986) Limited Trinidad and Tobago 100
	 Massy	Machinery	Ltd.	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 100
	 Massy	Automotive	Components	Ltd.	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 100
	 Massy	Motors	(Tobago)	Ltd.	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 100
 Master Serv Limited Trinidad and Tobago 100
	 Massy	Motors	(Guyana)	Ltd.	 Guyana	 93.64
	 Massy	Motors	Colombia	S.A.S	 Colombia	 100
	 Massy	Motors	Best	Auto	Ltd.	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 100
	 Massy	Motors	&	Machines	Miami	Distribution	Inc.	 United	States	of	America	 100

 Financial Services
	 Massy	Remittance	Services	(Trinidad)	Ltd.	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 100
	 Massy	Remittance	Services	(SLU)	Ltd.	 St.	Lucia	 100
	 Massy	Finance	GFC	Ltd.	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 100
 Massycard (Barbados) Limited Barbados 100
	 Massy	Remittance	Services	(Guyana)	Ltd.	 Guyana	 93.64
	 Massy	Credit	Plus	Ltd.	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 100
	 Massy	Remittance	Services	(St.	Vincent)	Ltd.	 St	Vincent	 100

 Gas Products
	 Massy	Gas	Products	Holdings	Ltd.	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 100
	 Massy	Energy	(Trinidad)	Ltd.	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 100
	 Massy	Gas	Products	(Trinidad)	Ltd.	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 100
 Massy Gas Products (Jamaica) Limited Jamaica 100
	 Massy	Gas	Products	(Guyana)	Ltd.	 Guyana	 93.64
	 Massy	Energy	Colombia	S.A.S.	 Colombia	 100
	 Massy	Energy	Engineered	Solutions	Ltd.	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 100
	 Massy	Gas	Products	Manufacturing	(Trinidad)	Ltd.	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 100
	 I.G.L.	Limited	 Jamaica	 100

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended September 30. Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars
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1 General information continued

   Percentage
  Country of equity capital
  incorporation held

 Integrated Retail
	 Massy	Integrated	Retail	Ltd.	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 100
 Arvee Foodmaster Limited Trinidad and Tobago 100
	 Massy	Stores	(SLU)	Ltd.	 St.	Lucia	 60
	 Massy	Stores	(Guyana)	Inc.	 Guyana	 93.64
	 Massy	Stores	(Barbados)	Ltd.	 Barbados	 100
	 Price	Low	Ltd.	 Barbados	 100
	 Massy	Stores	(SVG)	Ltd.	 St	Vincent	 83.33
 Massy Distribution (Jamaica) Limited Jamaica 100
	 Massy	Distribution	(Guyana)	Inc.	 Guyana	 93.64
	 Massy	Distribution	(Barbados)	Ltd.	 Barbados	 100
	 Massy	Distribution	(St.	Lucia)	Ltd.	 St.	Lucia	 100
	 Massy	Distribution	(USA)	Inc.	 United	States	of	America	 100
	 Knights	Limited	 Barbados	 99.8
	 Massy	Stores	(USA)	LLC.	 United	States	of	America	 100
 Rowe’s IGA, LLC United States of America 100
 Rowe’s IGA II, LLC United States of America 100
 Rowe’s IGA III, LLC United States of America 100
	 Rowe’s	IGA	IV,	LLC	 United	States	of	America	 100
	 Rowe’s	IGA	V,	LLC	 United	States	of	America	 100
	 Rowe’s	IGA	VII,	LLC	 United	States	of	America	 100
	 Rowe’s	IGA	VIII,	LLC	 United	States	of	America	 100

 Corporate Services
	 Massy	Ltd.	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 100
	 Massy	(Barbados)	Ltd.	 Barbados	 100
	 Massy	(Guyana)	Ltd.	 Guyana	 93.64
 The Interregional Reinsurance Company Limited Cayman Islands 100
	 Massy	Finance	(Barbados)	Ltd.	 Barbados	 100

	 The	Group	has	subsidiaries	whose	financial	information	is	consolidated	as	at	September	30,	however,	these	subsidiaries’	year-ends	are	not	
coterminous with the Group as follows:

   Reporting
   year end

	 Massy	Motors	Colombia	S.A.S	 	 31	December
	 Massy	Energy	Colombia	S.A.S	 	 31	December
	 Autogalias	S.A.S	 	 31	December
 Macarena de la Montaña SAS  31 December
 Autolux SAS  31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended September 30. Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars
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1 General information continued

   Reporting
   year end

	 Seguros	Automontaña	Ltda.	 	 31	December
	 Automontaña	S.A.S	 	 31	December
	 Germania	Motors	S.A.S	 	 31	December
	 Auto	Orion	S.A.S	 	 31	December
	 Massy	Motors	Premium	S.A.S.	 	 31	December
	 Massy	Motors	Rentals	S.A.S	 	 31	December
	 Mazko	S.A.S.	 	 31	December
	 Massy	Motors	Costa	S.A.S.	 	 31	December
	 Massy	Motors	Bogota	S.A.S	 	 31	December
	 Granados	Gomez	&	CIA	S.A.	Empresa	de	Servicios	Publicos	Gas,	Gragos	S.A.	E.S	P.	(Gragos)	 	 31	December

2 Material accounting policies
	 The	principal	accounting	policies	applied	in	the	preparation	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements	are	set	out	below.	These	policies	have	been	

consistently	applied	to	all	the	years	presented,	unless	otherwise	stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
	 The	consolidated	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(“IFRS	Accounting	

Standards”)	and	International	Financial	Reporting	Interpretations	Committee	(“IFRIC”)	interpretations.	The	consolidated	financial	statements	
have	been	prepared	under	the	historical	cost	convention	as	modified	by	the	measurement	of	certain	financial	assets	at	fair	value	and	except	for	
assets	held	for	sale	which	are	measured	at	fair	value	less	costs	to	sell	and	defined	benefit	obligations	at	actuarial	value.

	 The	preparation	of	financial	statements	in	conformity	with	IFRS	Accounting	Standards	requires	the	use	of	certain	critical	accounting	estimates.	
It	also	requires	management	to	exercise	its	judgement	in	the	process	of	applying	the	Group’s	accounting	policies.	The	areas	involving	a	higher	
degree	of	judgement	or	complexity,	or	areas	where	assumptions	and	estimates	are	significant	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements	are	
disclosed	in	Note	4.

2.1.1 Standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group
 The Group has applied the following amendment for the annual reporting period commencing October 1, 2023:

•	 Narrow	scope	amendments	to	IAS	1,	Practice	statement	2	and	IAS	8		–		These	amendments	aim	to	improve	accounting	policy	
disclosures	and	to	help	users	of	the	financial	statements	to	distinguish	between	changes	in	accounting	estimates	and	changes	in	
accounting	policies.	With	regards	to	IAS	1,	entities	are	now	required	to	disclose	their	material	rather	than	their	significant	accounting	
policies.	The	amendments	define	what	is	‘material	accounting	policy	information’	and	explain	how	to	identify	when	accounting	
policy	information	is	material.	They	further	clarify	that	immaterial	accounting	policy	information	does	not	need	to	be	disclosed.	If	it	is	
disclosed,	it	should	not	obscure	material	accounting	policy	information.	No	accounting	policies	were	added	or	removed	as	a	result	of	
these	amendments.		

•	 Amendment	to	IAS	12	–	deferred	tax	related	to	assets	and	liabilities	arising	from	a	single	transaction.	These	amendments	require	
entities to recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal amounts of taxable and deductible 
temporary	differences.	

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended September 30. Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars
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2 Material accounting policies continued
2.1 Basis of preparation continued

2.1.1 Standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group continued

•	 Amendment	to	IAS	12	-	International	tax	reform	-	pillar	two	model	rules.	On	23	May	2023,	the	IASB	issued	narrow-scope	
amendments	to	IAS	12.	The	amendments	provide	a	temporary	exception	from	the	requirement	to	recognize	and	disclose	deferred	
taxes arising from enacted or substantively enacted tax law that implements the Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation 
for	Economic	Co-operation	and	Development	(OECD),	including	tax	law	that	implements	qualified	domestic	minimum	top-up	
taxes	described	in	those	rules.	The	amendments	also	introduce	targeted	disclosure	requirements	for	affected	companies.	The	
amendments to IAS 12 are required to be applied immediately (subject to any local endorsement processes) and retrospectively in 
accordance	with	IAS	8,	‘Accounting	Policies,	Changes	in	Accounting	Estimates	and	Errors’,	including	the	requirement	to	disclose	the	
fact	that	the	exception	has	been	applied	if	the	entity’s	income	taxes	will	be	affected	by	enacted	or	substantively	enacted	tax	law	that	
implements	the	OECD’s	Pillar	Two	model	rules.	The	countries	in	which	the	Group	operates	has	not	adopted	the	pillar	two	rules	as	of	
30	September	2024.	However,	several	countries	have	either	announced	their	intentions	to	adopt	or	are	in	the	process	of	reviewing	
the	requirements.	Consequently,	there	is	no	impact	in	the	current	year.	However,	this	will	be	reassessed	in	future	periods.

	 	The	adoption	of	these	amendments	did	not	have	a	material	impact	on	the	Group.

2.1.2	 New	standards	and	interpretations	that	are	not	yet	effective	and	not	early	adopted
 The following are new standards and interpretations which have not yet been adopted and are not expected to have a material impact 

on the Group in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions:
•	 Amendment	to	IFRS	16	–	Leases	on	sale	and	leaseback.	These	amendments	include	requirements	for	sale	and	leaseback	

transactions	in	IFRS	16	to	explain	how	an	entity	accounts	for	a	sale	and	leaseback	after	the	date	of	the	transaction.	Effective	for	
annual	reporting	periods	commencing	January1,	2024.

•	 Amendment	to	IAS	1	–	Non-current	liabilities	with	covenants.	These	amendments	clarify	how	conditions	with	which	an	entity	must	
comply	within	twelve	months	after	the	reporting	period	affect	the	classification	of	a	liability.	The	amendments	also	aim	to	improve	
information	an	entity	provides	related	to	liabilities	subject	to	these	conditions.	Effective	for	annual	reporting	periods	commencing		
January	1,	2024.

•	 Amendment	to	IAS	7	and	IFRS	7	–	Supplier	finance	arrangements.	These	amendments	require	disclosures	to	enhance	the	
transparency	of	supplier	finance	arrangements	and	their	effects	on	an	entity’s	liabilities,	cash	flows	and	exposure	to	liquidity	risk.	The	
disclosure	requirements	are	the	IASB’s	response	to	investors’	concerns	that	some	companies’	supplier	finance	arrangements	are	not	
sufficiently	visible,	hindering	investors’	analysis.	Effective	for	annual	reporting	periods	commencing	January	1,	2024.

•	 Amendments	to	IAS	21	–	Lack	of	Exchangeability.	An	entity	is	impacted	by	the	amendments	when	it	has	a	transaction	or	an	
operation	in	a	foreign	currency	that	is	not	exchangeable	into	another	currency	at	a	measurement	date	for	a	specified	purpose.	
A currency is exchangeable when there is an ability to obtain the other currency (with a normal administrative delay), and the 
transaction	would	take	place	through	a	market	or	exchange	mechanism	that	creates	enforceable	rights	and	obligations.	Effective	for	
annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	2025.	

•	 Amendment	to	IFRS	9	and	IFRS	7	–	Classification	and	Measurement	of	Financial	Instruments.	These	amendments:	
–	 clarify	the	requirements	for	the	timing	of	recognition	and	derecognition	of	some	financial	assets	and	liabilities,	with	a	new	

exception	for	some	financial	liabilities	settled	through	an	electronic	cash	transfer	system;	
–	 clarify	and	add	further	guidance	for	assessing	whether	a	financial	asset	meets	the	solely	payments	of	principal	and	interest	(SPPI)	

criterion;	
–	 add	new	disclosures	for	certain	instruments	with	contractual	terms	that	can	change	cash	flows	(such	as	some	instruments	with	

features	linked	to	the	achievement	of	environment,	social	and	governance	(ESG)	targets);	and	
–	 make	updates	to	the	disclosures	for	equity	instruments	designated	at	Fair	Value	through	Other	Comprehensive	Income	(FVOCI).
	 	Effective	for	annual	reporting	periods	commencing	January	1,	2026.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended September 30. Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars
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2 Material accounting policies continued
2.1 Basis of preparation continued

2.1.2	 New	standards	and	interpretations	that	are	not	yet	effective	and	not	early	adopted	continued

•	 IFRS	18	Presentation	and	Disclosure	in	Financial	Statements.	This	is	the	new	standard	on	presentation	and	disclosure	in	financial	
statements,	with	a	focus	on	updates	to	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss.	The	key	new	concepts	introduced	in	IFRS	18	relate	to:	
–	 the	structure	of	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss;
–	 required	disclosures	in	the	financial	statements	for	certain	profit	or	loss	performance	measures	that	are	reported	outside	an	

entity’s	financial	statements	(that	is,	management-defined	performance	measures);	and
–	 enhanced	principles	on	aggregation	and	disaggregation	which	apply	to	the	primary	financial	statements	and	notes	in	general.

The	group	is	in	the	process	of	evaluating	the	impact	of	IFRS	18	on	the	consolidated	financial	statement.		

Effective	for	annual	reporting	periods	commencing	January	1,	2027.

•	 IFRS	19	Subsidiaries	without	Public	Accountability	Disclosures.	This	new	standard	works	alongside	other	IFRS	Accounting	
Standards.	An	eligible	subsidiary	applies	the	requirements	in	other	IFRS	Accounting	Standards	except	for	the	disclosure	
requirements	and	instead	applies	the	reduced	disclosure	requirements	in	IFRS	19.	IFRS	19’s	reduced	disclosure	requirements	
balance	the	information	needs	of	the	users	of	eligible	subsidiaries’	financial	statements	with	cost	savings	for	preparers.	IFRS	19	is	a	
voluntary	standard	for	eligible	subsidiaries.	A	subsidiary	is	eligible	if:	
–	 it	does	not	have	public	accountability;	and	
–	 it	has	an	ultimate	or	intermediate	parent	that	produces	consolidated	financial	statements	available	for	public	use	that	comply	with	

IFRS	Accounting	Standards.		

	 Effective	for	annual	reporting	periods	commencing	January	1,	2027.

2.2 Consolidation 
2.2.1 Subsidiaries
	 Subsidiaries	are	all	entities	(including	structured	entities)	over	which	the	Group	has	control.	The	Group	controls	an	entity	when	the	

Group	is	exposed	to,	or	has	rights	to,	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	entity	and	has	the	ability	to	affect	those	returns	
through	its	power	over	the	entity.	Subsidiaries	are	fully	consolidated	from	the	date	on	which	control	is	transferred	to	the	Group.	They	are	
deconsolidated	from	the	date	that	control	ceases.

	 The	Group	applies	the	acquisition	method	to	account	for	business	combinations.	The	consideration	transferred	for	the	acquisition	
of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity 
interests	issued	by	the	Group.	The	consideration	transferred	includes	the	fair	value	of	any	asset	or	liability	resulting	from	a	contingent	
consideration	arrangement.	Identifiable	assets	acquired	and	liabilities	and	contingent	liabilities	assumed	in	a	business	combination	are	
measured	initially	at	their	fair	values	at	the	acquisition	date.	

 The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling	interest’s	proportionate	share	of	the	recognised	amounts	of	acquiree’s	identifiable	net	assets.

	 Acquisition-related	costs	are	expensed	as	incurred.

	 Inter-company	transactions,	balances	and	unrealised	gains	on	transactions	between	Group	companies	are	eliminated.	Unrealised	losses	
are	also	eliminated.	When	necessary	amounts	reported	by	subsidiaries	have	been	adjusted	to	conform	with	the	Group’s	accounting	
policies.
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2 Material accounting policies continued
2.2 Consolidation  continued

2.2.2	 Transactions	with	non-controlling	interests
	 The	Group	treats	transactions	with	non-controlling	interests	as	transactions	with	equity	owners	of	the	Group.	For	purchases	from	non-

controlling	interests,	the	difference	between	any	consideration	paid	and	the	relevant	share	acquired	of	the	carrying	value	of	net	assets	of	
the	subsidiary	is	recorded	in	equity.	Gains	or	losses	on	disposals	to	non-controlling	interests	are	also	recorded	in	equity.

	 When	the	Group	ceases	to	have	control	or	significant	influence,	any	retained	interest	in	the	entity	is	remeasured	to	its	fair	value,	with	
the	change	in	carrying	amount	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	The	fair	value	is	the	initial	carrying	amount	for	the	purposes	of	subsequently	
accounting	for	the	retained	interest	as	an	associate,	joint	venture	or	financial	asset.	In	addition,	any	amounts	previously	recognised	in	
other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities.	This	may	mean	that	amounts	previously	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	income	are	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss.

	 If	the	ownership	interest	in	an	associate	is	reduced	but	significant	influence	is	retained,	only	a	proportionate	share	of	the	amounts	
previously	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	income	are	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss	where	appropriate.

2.2.3	 Associates	and	Joint	ventures
	 Associates	are	all	entities	over	which	the	Group	has	significant	influence	but	not	control	or	joint	control,	generally	accompanying	a	

shareholding	of	between	20%	and	50%	of	the	voting	rights.	

	 Investments	in	associates	are	accounted	for	using	the	equity	method	of	accounting	and	are	initially	recognised	at	cost.	The	Group’s	
investment	in	associates	includes	goodwill	(net	of	any	accumulated	impairment	loss)	identified	on	acquisition.

	 The	Group’s	share	of	its	associates’	post	acquisition	profits	or	losses	is	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss,	and	
its	share	of	post-acquisition	movements	in	reserves	is	recognised	in	reserves.	The	cumulative	post-acquisition	movements	are	adjusted	
against	the	carrying	amount	of	the	investment.	When	the	Group’s	share	of	losses	in	an	associate	equals	or	exceeds	its	interest	in	the	
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or 
made	payments	on	behalf	of	the	associate.	Joint	ventures	are	also	accounted	for	using	the	equity	method.	The	Group	discontinues	the	
use	of	the	equity	method	from	the	date	on	which	it	ceases	to	have	joint	control	over,	or	have	significant	influence	in,	a	jointly	controlled	
entity.

 Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest	in	these	entities.	Unrealised	losses	are	also	eliminated	unless	the	transaction	provides	evidence	of	an	impairment	of	the	asset	
transferred.	

 Accounting policies of associates and joint ventures have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted	by	the	Group.

	 Dilution	gains	and	losses	arising	in	investments	in	associates	are	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss.
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2 Material accounting policies continued

2.3 Segment reporting
	 Operating	segments	are	reported	in	a	manner	consistent	with	the	internal	reporting	provided	to	the	chief	operating	decision-maker.	The	

chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been 
identified	as	the	Group	Chief	Executive	Officer	who	makes	strategic	decisions.	

2.4 Foreign currency translation
2.4.1	 Functional	and	presentation	currency
	 Items	included	in	the	financial	statements	of	each	of	the	Group’s	entities	are	measured	using	the	currency	of	the	primary	economic	

environment	in	which	the	entity	operates	(‘the	functional	currency’).	The	consolidated	financial	statements	are	presented	in	Trinidad	and	
Tobago	dollars,	which	is	the	Group’s	presentation	currency.

2.4.2	 Transactions	and	balances
 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 

transactions.	

 Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange 
rates	of	monetary	assets	and	liabilities	denominated	in	foreign	currencies	are	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss.

	 Translation	differences	on	non-monetary	financial	assets	and	liabilities,	such	as	equities	held	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	are	
recognised	as	part	of	the	fair	value	gain	or	loss.	

	 Translation	differences	on	non-monetary	items	such	as	equities	classified	as	fair	value	through	consolidated	other	comprehensive	
income	are	treated	as	though	they	were	carried	at	amortised	cost	and	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss.

	 Translation	differences	on	debt	securities	and	other	monetary	financial	assets	measured	at	fair	value	are	included	in	foreign	exchange	
gains	and	losses.

	 Translation	differences	on	a	monetary	item	designated	as	a	hedging	instrument	in	a	cash	flow	hedge,	to	the	extent	that	the	hedge	is	
effective,	are	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	income.	This	also	occurs	for	a	monetary	item	that	is	designated	as	a	hedge	of	a	net	
investment	in	consolidated	financial	statements,	to	the	extent	that	the	hedge	is	effective.

2.4.3	 Group	companies
	 The	results	and	financial	position	of	all	the	Group	entities	(none	of	which	has	the	currency	of	a	hyperinflationary	economy)	that	have	a	

functional	currency	different	from	the	presentation	currency	are	translated	into	the	presentation	currency	as	follows:
a	 assets	and	liabilities	for	each	statement	of	financial	position	presented	are	translated	at	the	closing	rate	at	the	date	of	that	statement	

of	financial	position;
b	 income	and	expenses	for	each	statement	of	profit	or	loss	are	translated	at	average	exchange	rates	(unless	this	average	is	not	

a	reasonable	approximation	of	the	cumulative	effect	of	the	rates	prevailing	on	the	transaction	dates,	in	which	case	income	and	
expenses	are	translated	at	the	dates	of	the	transactions);	and

c	 all	resulting	exchange	differences	are	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	other	comprehensive	income.

	 On	consolidation,	exchange	differences	arising	from	the	translation	of	the	net	investment	in	foreign	operations,	and	of	borrowings	and	
other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to the consolidated statement of other comprehensive 
income.	When	a	foreign	operation	is	sold,	exchange	differences	that	were	recorded	in	other	comprehensive	income	are	recognised	in	
the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss	as	part	of	the	gain	or	loss	on	sale.
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2 Material accounting policies continued
2.4 Foreign currency translation continued

2.4.3	 Group	companies continued

 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are included in assets and liabilities of the foreign entity 
and	translated	at	the	closing	rate.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment
	 Property,	plant	and	equipment	including	land	and	buildings	are	stated	at	historical	cost	less	depreciation.	Historical	cost	includes	expenditure	

that	is	directly	attributable	to	the	acquisition	of	the	items.

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
future	economic	benefits	associated	with	the	item	will	flow	to	the	Group	and	the	cost	of	the	item	can	be	measured	reliably.	The	carrying	amount	
of	the	replaced	part	is	de-recognised.	All	other	repairs	and	maintenance	are	charged	to	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss	during	the	
financial	period	in	which	they	are	incurred.

	 Interest	costs	on	borrowings	to	finance	the	construction	of	qualifying	property,	plant	and	equipment	are	capitalised	during	the	period	of	time	
that	is	required	to	complete	and	prepare	the	asset	for	its	intended	use.	Other	borrowing	costs	are	expensed.

 Land is not depreciated
	 Depreciation	is	provided	on	the	straight-line	basis	at	rates	estimated	to	write-off	the	cost	of	each	asset	over	its	expected	useful	life.		In	the	case	

of	motor	vehicles,	depreciation	is	based	on	cost	less	an	estimated	residual	value.		The	estimated	useful	lives	of	assets	are	reviewed	periodically,	
taking account of commercial and technological obsolescence as well as normal wear and tear, and depreciation rates are adjusted if 
appropriate.

 Current rates of depreciation are:
 Freehold property - 2%
 Leasehold property and improvements - 2% to 20%
	 Plant	and	equipment	 -	 5%	to	33.3%
 Rental assets - 25%
	 Furniture	and	fixtures	 -	 10%	to	25%
 Motor vehicles - 10% to 25%

	 The	assets’	residual	values	and	useful	lives	are	reviewed,	and	adjusted	if	appropriate,	at	each	statement	of	financial	position	date.

	 Leasehold	property	and	improvements	are	depreciated	over	the	shorter	of	the	asset’s	useful	economic	life	and	the	lease	term.

 An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable	amount.

 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are included in the consolidated 
statement	of	profit	or	loss.
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2 Material accounting policies continued

2.6 Leases
	 At	inception	of	a	contract,	the	Group	assesses	whether	a	contract	is,	or	contains	a	lease.	A	contract	is,	or	contains,	a	lease	if	the	contract	

conveys	the	right	to	control	the	use	of	an	identified	asset	for	a	period	of	time	in	exchange	for	consideration.	To	assess	whether	a	contract	
conveys	the	right	to	control	the	use	of	an	identified	asset,	the	Group	assesses	whether:
•	 The	contract	involves	the	use	of	an	identified	asset.	This	may	be	specified	explicitly	or	implicitly,	and	should	be	physically	distinct	or	

represent	substantially	all	of	the	capacity	of	a	physically	distinct	asset.	If	the	supplier	has	a	substantive	substitution	right,	then	the	asset	is	
not	identified;

•	 The	Group	has	the	right	to	obtain	substantially	all	of	the	economic	benefits	from	use	of	the	asset	throughout	the	period	of	use;	and
•	 The	Group	has	the	right	to	direct	the	use	of	the	asset.	The	Group	has	this	right	when	it	has	the	decision-making	rights	that	are	most	relevant	

to	changing	how	and	for	what	purpose	the	asset	is	used.

2.6.1	 The	Group	as	a	lessee
	 The	Group	mainly	leases	various	commercial	space,	motor	vehicles	and	equipment	used	in	its	operations.	Rental	contracts	for	these	

leases	are	typically	made	for	fixed	periods	but	may	have	extension	options,	which	are	described	below.	Some	contracts	contain	lease	
and	non-lease	components,	which	are	accounted	for	as	separate	components	based	on	the	standalone	prices	stated	in	the	contracts.

	 Lease	terms	are	negotiated	on	an	individual	basis	and	contain	a	wide	range	of	different	terms	and	conditions.	The	lease	agreements	do	
not	impose	any	covenants	and	the	leased	assets	may	not	be	used	as	security	for	borrowing	purposes.

 The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach to all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets.	At	lease	commencement	date,	the	Group	recognises	a	right-of-use	asset	and	a	lease	liability	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	
financial	position.

 The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs 
incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments 
made	in	advance	of	the	lease	commencement	date	(net	of	any	incentives	received).	Subsequent	to	initial	measurement,	the	right-of-
use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the 
right-of-use	asset	or	the	end	of	the	lease	term.	If	the	Group	is	reasonably	certain	to	exercise	a	purchase	option,	the	right-of-use	asset	is	
depreciated	over	the	underlying	asset’s	useful	life.	The	Group	also	assesses	the	right-of-use	asset	for	impairment	when	such	indicators	
exist.	The	Group	does	not	revalue	any	of	its	right-of-use	assets.

 The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the lease commencement date, 
discounted	using	the	interest	rate	implicit	in	the	lease.	If	the	interest	rate	implicit	in	the	lease	cannot	be	readily	determined,	the	lessee’s	
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an 
asset	of	similar	value	to	the	right-of-use	asset	in	a	similar	economic	environment	with	similar	terms,	security	and	conditions.	These	rates	
were	attained	from	the	Group’s	bankers	in	the	differing	regions.	

 Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
•	 Fixed	lease	payments	(including	in-substance	fixed	payments),	less	any	lease	incentives;
•	 Residual	guarantees;
•	 Variable	lease	payments	that	depend	on	an	index	or	rate,	initially	measured	using	the	index	or	rate	at	the	commencement	date;
•	 Lease	payments	in	an	optional	renewal	period	if	the	Group	is	reasonably	certain	to	exercise	an	extension	option;	and
•	 Penalty	payments	for	early	termination	of	a	lease	unless	the	Group	is	reasonably	certain	not	to	terminate	early.
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2 Material accounting policies continued
2.6 Leases continued

2.6.1	 The	Group	as	a	lessee continued

	 The	lease	liability	is	subsequently	measured	by	increasing	the	carrying	amount	to	reflect	interest	on	the	lease	liability	(using	the	effective	
interest	method)	and	by	reducing	the	carrying	amount	to	reflect	lease	payments	made.

 The Group remeasures the lease liability when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or 
if	the	Group	changes	its	assessment	of	whether	it	will	exercise	an	extension	or	termination	option.	Extension	and	termination	options	
are	included	in	a	number	of	leases	across	the	Group.	These	are	used	to	maximise	operational	flexibility	in	terms	of	managing	the	assets	
used	in	the	Group’s	operations.	The	majority	of	extension	and	termination	options	held	are	exercisable	only	by	the	Group	and	not	by	the	
respective	lessor.	When	the	lease	liability	is	remeasured,	a	corresponding	adjustment	is	made	to	the	carrying	amount	of	the	right-of-use	
asset,	or	is	recorded	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss	if	the	carrying	amount	of	the	right-of-use	asset	has	been	reduced	to	
zero.

	 Variable	lease	payments	that	do	not	depend	on	an	index	or	a	rate	are	not	included	in	the	measurement	of	the	lease	liability	and	the	right-
of-use	asset.	The	related	payments	(or	credits)	are	recognised	as	an	expense	(or	income)	in	the	period	in	which	the	event	or	condition	
that	triggers	those	payments	occurs.	The	Group	did	not	have	any	variable	lease	payments	that	do	not	depend	on	an	index	or	a	rate	for	
the	period	ended	30	September	2024.

	 The	Group	applies	the	short-term	lease	recognition	exemption	to	its	short-term	leases	i.e.,	those	leases	that	have	a	lease	term	of	12	
months	or	less	from	the	commencement	date	and	do	not	contain	a	purchase	option.	It	also	applies	the	lease	of	low-value	assets	to	
leases	that	are	considered	to	be	low	value.	The	Group	recognises	the	lease	payments	associated	with	these	leases	as	an	expense	on	a	
straight	line	basis	over	the	lease	term.

2.6.2	 The	Group	as	a	lessor
	 When	assets	are	leased	out	under	a	finance	lease,	the	present	value	of	the	lease	payments	is	recognised	as	a	receivable.	The	difference	

between	the	gross	receivable	and	the	present	value	of	the	receivable	is	recognised	as	unearned	finance	income.	Lease	income	is	
recognised	over	the	term	of	the	lease	using	the	net	investment	method,	which	reflects	a	constant	periodic	rate	of	return.		Assets	
leased	out	under	operating	leases	are	included	in	property,	plant	and	equipment	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position.	
They	are	depreciated	over	their	expected	useful	lives	on	a	basis	consistent	with	similarly	owned	property,	plant	and	equipment.	Rental	
income	(net	of	any	incentives	given	to	lessees)	is	recognised	on	a	pattern	reflecting	a	constant	periodic	rate	of	return	on	the	lessor’s	net	
investment.

2.7 Investment properties
 Investment and development properties are owned or leased by the Group and held for long-term rental income and capital appreciation and 

exclude	properties	occupied	by	the	Group.

	 Investment	properties	are	stated	at	cost	less	accumulated	depreciation	and	impairment.	Transaction	costs	are	included	on	initial	measurement.	
The	fair	values	of	investment	properties	are	disclosed	in	Note	35.	These	are	assessed	using	internationally	accepted	valuation	methods,	such	
as	taking	comparable	properties	as	a	guide	to	current	market	prices	or	by	applying	the	discounted	cash	flow	method.	Like	property,	plant	and	
equipment,	investment	properties	are	depreciated	using	the	straight-line	method.

	 The	current	rate	of	depreciation	is	2%.
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2.7 Investment properties continued

 Investment properties cease recognition as investment property either when they have been disposed of or when they are permanently 
withdrawn	from	use	and	no	future	economic	benefit	is	expected	from	their	disposal.	Gains	or	losses	arising	from	the	retirement	or	
disposal	of	investment	property	are	determined	as	the	difference	between	the	net	disposal	proceeds	and	the	carrying	amount	of	the	
asset	and	are	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss	in	the	period	of	the	retirement	or	disposal.

2.8 Intangible assets
2.8.1	 Goodwill
	 Goodwill	represents	the	excess	of	the	cost	of	an	acquisition	over	the	fair	value	of	the	Group’s	share	of	the	net	identifiable	assets	of	

the	acquired	subsidiary/associate	at	the	date	of	acquisition.	Goodwill	represents	the	goodwill	acquired	on	acquisition	of	subsidiaries.	
Goodwill	on	acquisition	of	associates	is	included	in	‘Investments	in	Associates’.	Separately	recognised	goodwill	is	tested	annually	for	
impairment	(ref	note	2.8.4)	and	carried	at	cost	less	accumulated	impairment	losses.	Impairment	losses	on	goodwill	are	not	reversed.	
Gains	and	losses	on	the	disposal	of	an	entity	include	the	carrying	amount	of	goodwill	relating	to	the	entity	sold.

	 Goodwill	is	allocated	to	cash-generating	units	for	the	purpose	of	impairment	testing.	The	allocation	is	made	to	those	cash-generating	
units	or	groups	of	cash-generating	units	that	are	expected	to	benefit	from	the	business	combination	in	which	the	goodwill	arose.	The	
Group	discloses	goodwill	for	each	business	segment	in	each	country	in	which	it	operates	(Note	8).

2.8.2 Computer software
	 Costs	associated	with	the	maintenance	of	existing	computer	software	programmes	are	expensed	as	incurred.	Development	costs	that	

are	directly	attributable	to	the	design	and	testing	of	identifiable	and	unique	software	products	controlled	by	the	Group	are	recognised	as	
intangible assets when the following criteria are met:
•	 it	is	technically	feasible	to	complete	the	software	product	so	that	it	will	be	available	for	use;
•	 management	intends	to	complete	the	software	product	and	use	or	sell	it;
•	 there	is	an	ability	to	use	or	sell	the	software	product;
•	 it	can	be	demonstrated	how	the	software	product	will	generate	probable	future	economic	benefits;
•	 adequate	technical,	financial	and	other	resources	to	complete	the	development	and	to	use	or	sell	the	software	product	are	available;	

and 
•	 the	expenditure	attributable	to	the	software	product	during	its	development	can	be	reliably	measured.

 Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the software development employee costs and an 
appropriate	portion	of	relevant	overheads.

	 Other	development	expenditures	that	do	not	meet	these	criteria	are	recognised	as	an	expense	as	incurred.	Development	costs	
previously	recognised	as	an	expense	are	not	recognised	as	an	asset	in	a	subsequent	period.

 Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which do not exceed six 
years.	

2.8.3 Brands
 Brands acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date, and are being amortised over seven to 

twenty	years.
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2.8 Intangible assets continued

2.8.4	 Impairment	of	non-financial	assets
	 Assets	that	have	an	indefinite	useful	life	are	not	subject	to	amortisation	and	are	tested	annually	for	impairment.	Assets	that	are	subject	

to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be	recoverable.	An	impairment	loss	is	recognised	for	the	amount	by	which	the	asset’s	carrying	amount	exceeds	its	recoverable	amount.	
The	recoverable	amount	is	the	higher	of	an	asset’s	fair	value	less	costs	of	disposal	and	value	in	use.	For	the	purposes	of	assessing	
impairment,	assets	are	grouped	at	the	lowest	levels	for	which	there	are	separately	identifiable	cash	flows	(cash-generating	units).	Non-
financial	assets	other	than	goodwill	that	suffered	an	impairment	are	reviewed	for	possible	reversal	of	the	impairment	at	each	reporting	
date.

2.9 Financial assets
2.9.1	 Classification
	 The	Group	classifies	its	financial	assets	in	the	following	measurement	categories:

• those to be measured at Amortised Cost (AC),
•	 those	to	be	measured	at	Fair	Value	Through	Other	Comprehensive	income	(FVOCI),	and
•	 those	to	be	measured	subsequently	at	Fair	Value	Through	Profit	or	Loss	(FVPL).

	 The	classification	for	debt	instruments	depends	on	the	entity’s	Business	Model	for	managing	those	assets.	It	also	requires	the	entity	to	
examine	the	contractual	terms	of	the	cash	flows,	i.e.	whether	these	represent	‘Solely	Payments	of	Principal	and	Interest’	(SPPI).		

 The Business Model test requires the entity to assess the purpose for holding debt securities (hold to collect, hold to collect and sell or 
to	trade).	Substantially	all	the	Group’s	debt	instruments	are	held	to	collect	cash	flows	and	accordingly	meet	the	‘hold	to	collect’	criteria.

	 All	debt	instruments	passing	the	Business	Model	and	SPPI	tests	are	classified	at	amortised	cost.	Debt	securities	where	the	contractual	
cash	flows	are	solely	principal	and	interest	and	the	objective	of	the	Group’s	business	model	is	achieved	both	by	collecting	contractual	
cash	flows	and	selling	financial	assets	are	classified	at	FVOCI.

	 On	initial	recognition,	equity	securities	which	are	not	held	for	trading	and	which	are	considered	strategic	investments	are	classified	
irrevocably	at	FVOCI.

	 All	other	instruments	are	carried	at	FVPL.	For	assets	measured	at	fair	value,	gains	and	losses	are	recorded	in	profit	or	loss.

	 The	Group	reclassifies	debt	investments	when	and	only	when	its	business	model	for	managing	those	assets	changes.

2.9.2	 Recognition	and	derecognition	
	 Regular	way	purchases	and	sales	of	financial	assets	are	recognised	on	trade-date,	the	date	on	which	the	Group	commits	to	purchase	

or	sell	the	asset.	Financial	assets	are	derecognised	when	the	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	financial	assets	have	expired	or	have	
been	transferred	and	the	Group	has	transferred	substantially	all	the	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership.	

2.9.3 Measurement
	 At	initial	recognition,	the	Group	measures	a	financial	asset	at	its	fair	value	plus,	in	the	case	of	a	financial	asset	not	at	fair	value	through	

profit	or	loss	(FVPL),	transaction	costs	that	are	directly	attributable	to	the	acquisition	of	the	financial	asset.	Transaction	costs	of	financial	
assets	carried	at	FVPL	are	expensed	in	profit	or	loss.
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2 Material accounting policies continued
2.9 Financial assets continued

2.9.3 Measurement continued

a Debt instruments
	 Subsequent	measurement	of	debt	instruments	depends	on	the	Group’s	business	model	for	managing	the	asset	and	the	cash	flow	

characteristics	of	the	asset.	There	are	three	measurement	categories	into	which	the	Group	classifies	its	debt	instruments:
•	 Amortised	cost:	Assets	that	are	held	for	collection	of	contractual	cash	flows	where	those	cash	flows	represent	SPPI	are	

measured	at	amortised	cost.	Interest	income	from	these	financial	assets	is	included	within	‘net	interest	and	other	investment	
income’	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.	

	 The	amortised	cost	is	the	amount	at	which	the	financial	asset	or	financial	liability	is	measured	at	initial	recognition	minus	the	
principal	repayments,	plus	or	minus	the	cumulative	amortisation	using	the	effective	interest	method	of	any	difference	between	
that	initial	amount	and	the	maturity	amount	and,	for	financial	assets,	adjusted	for	any	loss	allowance.	

	 The	effective	interest	rate	is	the	rate	that	exactly	discounts	estimated	future	cash	payments	or	receipts	through	the	expected	
life	of	the	financial	asset	or	financial	liability	to	the	gross	carrying	amount	of	a	financial	asset	(i.e.	its	amortised	cost	before	any	
impairment	allowance)	or	to	the	amortised	cost	of	a	financial	liability.	The	calculation	does	not	consider	expected	credit	losses	
and	includes	transaction	costs,	premiums	or	discounts	and	fees	and	points	paid	or	received	that	are	integral	to	the	effective	
interest	rate,	such	as	origination	fees.	For	purchased	or	originated	credit-impaired	(POCI)	financial	assets	-	assets	that	are	credit-
impaired	at	initial	recognition	-	the	Group	calculates	the	credit-adjusted	effective	interest	rate,	which	is	calculated	based	on	the	
amortised	cost	of	the	financial	asset	instead	of	its	gross	carrying	amount	and	incorporates	the	impact	of	expected	credit	losses	
in	estimated	future	cash	flows.	

	 When	the	Group	revises	the	estimates	of	future	cash	flows,	the	carrying	amount	of	the	respective	financial	assets	or	financial	
liability	is	adjusted	to	reflect	the	new	estimate	discounted	using	the	original	effective	interest	rate.	Any	changes	are	recognised	in	
profit	or	loss.	

	 Any	gain	or	loss	arising	on	derecognition	is	recognised	directly	in	profit	or	loss	and	presented	in	‘net	interest	and	other	
investment	income’	together	with	foreign	exchange	gains	and	losses.	Impairment	losses	are	presented	as	separate	line	item	in	
the	statement	of	profit	or	loss.	

•	 FVOCI:	Assets	that	are	held	for	collection	of	contractual	cash	flows	and	for	selling	the	financial	assets,	where	the	assets’	cash	
flows	represent	solely	payments	of	principal	and	interest,	are	measured	at	FVOCI.	Movements	in	the	carrying	amount	are	taken	
through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses 
which	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	When	the	financial	asset	is	derecognised,	the	cumulative	gain	or	loss	previously	recognised	
in	OCI	is	reclassified	from	equity	to	profit	or	loss	and	recognised	in	other	gains/(losses).	Interest	income	from	these	financial	
assets	is	included	in	finance	income	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.	Foreign	exchange	gains	and	losses	are	presented	in	
operating	profit	before	finance	costs	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss.

•	 FVPL:	Assets	that	do	not	meet	the	criteria	for	amortised	cost	or	FVOCI	are	measured	at	FVPL.	A	gain	or	loss	on	a	debt	
investment	that	is	subsequently	measured	at	FVPL	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	and	presented	net	within	‘net	interest	and	other	
investment	income’	in	the	period	in	which	it	arises.
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2 Material accounting policies continued
2.9 Financial assets continued

2.9.3 Measurement continued

b Equity instruments
	 The	Group	subsequently	measures	all	equity	investments	at	fair	value.	Gains	or	losses	are	either	recognised	either	in	OCI	or	in	profit	

or	loss,	depending	on	the	nature	and	purpose	of	the	investment.	Changes	in	the	fair	value	of	financial	assets	at	FVPL	are	recognised	
in	‘net	interest	and	other	investment	income’	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss	as	applicable.	While	changes	in	the	fair	value	of	
financial	assets	at	FVOCI	are	recognised	in	‘items	that	will	not	be	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss	–	financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	
OCI’	in	the	statement	of	other	comprehensive	income.		Dividends	from	equity	investments	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	within	‘net	
interest	and	other	investment	income’	when	the	Group’s	right	to	receive	payments	is	established.	

2.9.4 Impairment
 The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL) associated with its debt instruments carried at 

amortised	cost	and	FVOCI.	

a Debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI
	 IFRS	9	outlines	a	‘three-stage’	model	for	impairment	based	on	changes	in	credit	quality	since	initial	recognition	as	summarised	

below: 
•	 Stage	1	–	This	category	comprises	instruments	which	are	performing	in	accordance	with	the	contractual	terms	and	conditions	

and	display	no	deterioration	in	credit	risk	since	initial	recognition.	This	category	also	includes	those	financial	instruments	with	low	
credit	risk.

•	 Stage	2	–	This	category	includes	instruments	which	display	a	significant	increase	in	credit	risk	(SICR)	since	initial	recognition	but	
have	not	yet	defaulted.	

•	 Stage	3	–	This	category	includes	instruments	that	are	in	default.	

	 The	above	categories	exclude	purchased	or	originated	credit-impaired	(POCI)	financial	assets.	A	financial	asset	is	considered	credit-
impaired on purchase or origination if there is evidence of impairment at the point of initial recognition (for instance, if it is acquired at 
a	deep	discount).	POCI	financial	assets	are	not	included	in	Stages	1,	2	or	3,	and	are	instead	shown	as	a	separate	category.	

 Expected credit loss (ECL) is measured as follows:
•	 Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses 

that	result	from	default	events	possible	within	the	next	12	months.
•	 Instruments	in	Stages	2	or	3	or	that	are	POCI	have	their	ECL	measured	based	on	expected	credit	losses	on	a	lifetime	basis.	
•	 A	pervasive	concept	in	measuring	ECL	in	accordance	with	IFRS	9	is	that	it	should	consider	forward-	looking	information.	The	

Group	utilised	a	probability-weighted	assessment	of	the	factors	which	it	believes	will	have	an	impact	on	forward	looking	rates.	

	 The	formula	for	ECL	is	generally	the	‘Probability	of	Default’	(PD)	multiplied	by	the	‘Exposure	at	Default’	(EAD)	multiplied	by	the	‘Loss	
Given	Default’	(LGD).	An	adjustment	is	made	to	reflect	the	time	value	of	money	by	considering	the	original	effective	interest	rate	
on	the	individual	instruments.	The	overall	models	involved	the	use	of	various	PD,	EAD	and	LGD	tables	which	were	then	applied	to	
individual instruments based on several pre-determined criteria, including type, original tenor, time to maturity, whether they are in 
Stages	1,	2	or	3	and	other	indicators.	

 The process in arriving at the individual components of ECL and the forward-looking adjustments involved critical estimates and 
judgements.	This	is	discussed	further	in	Note	4.	
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2 Material accounting policies continued
2.9 Financial assets continued

2.9.4 Impairment continued
a Debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI continued

	 The	change	in	allowance	for	debt	investments	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	For	debt	instruments	at	FVOCI,	the	change	is	
recognised	in	profit	or	loss	and	adjusts	the	fair	value	change	otherwise	recognised	in	OCI.

b	 Definition	of	default	and	credit-impaired	assets
	 The	Group	defines	a	financial	instrument	as	in	default,	which	is	fully	aligned	with	the	definition	of	credit-impaired,	when	it	meets	one	

or more of the following criteria:

 Expected credit loss measurement Quantitative criteria:

	 The	borrower	is	more	than	90	days	past	due	on	its	contractual	payment.

Qualitative criteria:
The	borrower	meets	unlikeliness	to	pay	criteria,	which	indicates	the	borrower	is	in	significant	financial	difficulty.	These	are	instances	
where:
• The borrower is deceased
•	 The	borrower	is	insolvent.
• It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
•	 Financial	assets	are	purchased	or	originated	at	a	deep	discount	that	reflects	the	incurred	credit	losses.

The	criteria	above	have	been	applied	to	all	financial	instruments	held	by	the	Company	and	are	consistent	with	the	definition	of	default	
used	for	internal	credit	risk	management	purposes.	The	default	definition	has	been	applied	consistently	to	model	the	Probability	of	
default	(PD),	Exposure	at	Default	(EAD),	and	Loss	given	Default	(LGD)	throughout	the	Company’s	expected	loss	calculations.
An	instrument	is	considered	to	no	longer	be	in	default	(i.e.	to	have	cured)	when	it	no	longer	meets	any	of	the	default	criteria	for	a	
consecutive	period	of	six	(6)	months.

Expected credit loss measurement
The Group recognises provision for losses on instalment credit and other loans subject to credit risk using the expected credit loss 
model.	While	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	statutory	deposit,	due	from	related	parties	and	other	financial	assets	are	also	subject	to	the	
impairment	requirements	of	IFRS	9,	the	identified	impairment	loss	was	immaterial.

The	Group	uses	the	general	approach	in	arriving	at	expected	losses	for	instalment	credit	and	other	loans.

The general approach
Under the general approach, the Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of an asset and whether there 
has	been	a	significant	increase	in	credit	risk	on	an	ongoing	basis	throughout	each	reporting	period.	To	assess	whether	there	is	a	
significant	increase	in	credit	risk,	the	Company	compares	the	risk	of	a	default	occurring	on	the	asset	as	at	the	reporting	date	with	the	
risk	of	default	as	at	the	date	of	initial	recognition.

It considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information, including the following:
–	 Significant	changes	in	the	expected	performance	and	behaviour	of	the	borrower,	including	changes	in	the	payment	status	of	

borrowers	in	the	Company.
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2 Material accounting policies continued
2.9 Financial assets continued

2.9.4 Impairment continued
b	 Definition	of	default	and	credit-impaired	assets continued

The general approach continued

Regardless	of	the	analysis	above,	a	significant	increase	in	credit	risk	is	presumed:
-	 if	a	debtor	is	more	than	30	days	past	due	in	making	a	contractual	payment.

A default on a loan occurs in the following circumstances:
-	 When	the	borrower	fails	to	make	contractual	payments	within	90	days	of	when	they	fall	due.

Historical	loss	rates	are	adjusted	to	reflect	current	and	forward-looking	information	on	macroeconomic	factors	affecting	the	ability	of	
the	customers	to	settle	the	receivables.	The	Company	has	identified	the	country’s	GDP	as	the	most	relevant	macroeconomic	factor	
and	accordingly	adjusted	the	historical	loss	rates	based	on	expected	changes	in	this	factor.	

c Trade receivables and contract assets
The	Group	applies	the	simplified	approach	for	trade	receivables	and	contract	assets	as	permitted	by	IFRS	9,	which	requires	
expected	lifetime	losses	to	be	recognised	from	initial	recognition	of	the	assets.		All	customer	accounts	are	grouped	together	based	
on	shared	credit	risk	characteristics	and	are	aged	using	a	‘provisions	matrix’.	Scaled	loss	rates	are	then	calculated	based	on	
historical	payment	profiles.	The	loss	rates	were	adjusted	to	incorporate	forward-looking	information	and	then	applied	to	the	different	
aging	buckets	as	of	the	statement	of	financial	position	date.

The	Group	prepares	separate	calculations	for	those	customers	with	special	arrangements	for	settlement	over	an	extended	period.	
The Group segregates those customers from the main provision matrix, and thereafter calculates the impairment provision by 
comparing	their	carrying	values	to	the	present	value	of	expected	future	cash	flows	using	the	discount	rates	which	reflect	the	
counterparty	credit	risk.	The	Group	derives	estimations	of	future	receipts	by	considering	the	pattern	of	historical	receipts	and/or	any	
formal	payment	arrangements.

2.10 Inventories
	 Inventories	are	stated	at	the	lower	of	cost	or	net	realisable	value.		Cost	is	determined	using	the	weighted	average	cost	method.	The	cost	of	

finished	goods	and	work	in	progress	comprise	raw	materials,	direct	labour,	other	direct	costs	and	related	production	overheads,	but	excludes	
interest	expense.		Net	realisable	value	is	the	estimate	of	the	selling	price	in	the	ordinary	course	of	business,	less	the	costs	of	completion	and	
selling	expenses.

2.11 Trade receivables
	 Trade	receivables	are	recognised	initially	at	the	amount	of	consideration	that	is	unconditional,	unless	they	contain	significant	financing	

components	when	they	are	recognised	at	fair	value.	They	are	subsequently	measured	at	amortised	cost	using	the	effective	interest	method,	
less	provision	for	impairment.	

	 Trade	receivables	are	amounts	due	from	customers	for	merchandise	sold	or	services	performed	in	the	ordinary	course	of	business.	If	collection	
is	expected	in	one	year	or	less	(or	in	the	normal	operating	cycle	of	the	business	if	longer),	they	are	classified	as	current	assets.	If	not,	they	are	
presented	as	non-current	assets.	

	 Impairment	of	trade	receivables	is	described	in	Note	2.9.4(c).
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2 Material accounting policies continued

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents
	 In	the	consolidated	statement	of	cash	flows,	cash	and	cash	equivalents	include	cash	in	hand,	deposits	held	at	call	with	banks,	other	short-

term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which 
are	subject	to	an	insignificant	risk	of	changes	in	value	and	bank	overdrafts.	In	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position,	bank	overdrafts	
and	short-term	borrowings	are	shown	within	borrowings	in	current	liabilities.	

2.13 Share capital 
	 Ordinary	shares	are	classified	as	equity.

	 Incremental	costs	directly	attributable	to	the	issue	of	new	shares	or	options	are	shown	in	equity	as	a	deduction,	net	of	tax,	from	the	proceeds.

	 Where	any	Group	company	purchases	the	Company’s	equity	share	capital	(treasury	shares),	the	consideration	paid,	including	any	directly	
attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are 
cancelled	or	reissued.	Where	such	ordinary	shares	are	subsequently	reissued,	any	consideration	received,	net	of	any	directly	attributable	
incremental	transaction	costs	and	the	related	income	tax	effects,	is	included	in	equity	attributable	to	the	Company’s	equity	holders.

2.14 Trade payables
	 Trade	payables	are	obligations	to	pay	for	goods	or	services	that	have	been	acquired	in	the	ordinary	course	of	business	from	suppliers.	

Accounts	payable	are	classified	as	current	liabilities	if	payment	is	due	within	one	year	or	less	(or	in	the	normal	operating	cycle	of	the	business	
if	longer).	If	not,	they	are	presented	as	non-current	liabilities.

	 Trade	payables	are	recognised	initially	at	fair	value	and	subsequently	measured	at	amortised	cost	using	the	effective	interest	method.

2.15 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale and discontinued operations 
	 Non-current	assets	(or	disposal	groups)	are	classified	as	held	for	sale	if	their	carrying	amount	will	be	recovered	principally	through	a	sale	

transaction	rather	than	through	continuing	use	and	a	sale	is	considered	highly	probable.	They	are	measured	at	the	lower	of	their	carrying	
amount	and	fair	value	less	costs	to	sell,	except	for	assets	such	as	deferred	tax	assets,	assets	arising	from	employee	benefits,	financial	assets	
and	investment	property	that	are	carried	at	fair	value	and	contractual	rights	under	insurance	contracts,	which	are	specifically	exempt	from	this	
requirement.		An	impairment	loss	is	recognised	for	any	initial	or	subsequent	write-down	of	the	asset	(or	disposal	group)	to	fair	value	less	costs	
to	sell.	A	gain	is	recognised	for	any	subsequent	increases	in	fair	value	less	costs	to	sell	of	an	asset	(or	disposal	group),	but	not	in	excess	of	
any	cumulative	impairment	loss	previously	recognised.	A	gain	or	loss	not	previously	recognised	by	the	date	of	the	sale	of	the	noncurrent	asset	
(or	disposal	group)	is	recognised	at	the	date	of	derecognition.

	 Non-current	assets	(including	those	that	are	part	of	a	disposal	group)	are	not	depreciated	or	amortised	while	they	are	classified	as	held	for	
sale.	Interest	and	other	expenses	attributable	to	the	liabilities	of	a	disposal	group	classified	as	held	for	sale	continue	to	be	recognised.	Non-
current	assets	classified	as	held	for	sale	and	the	assets	of	a	disposal	group	classified	as	held	for	sale	are	presented	separately	from	the	other	
assets	in	the	statement	of	financial	position.	The	liabilities	of	a	disposal	group	classified	as	held	for	sale	are	presented	separately	from	other	
liabilities	in	the	statement	of	financial	position.	

	 A	discontinued	operation	is	a	component	of	the	entity	that	has	been	disposed	of	or	is	classified	as	held	for	sale.	The	results	of	discontinued	
operations	are	presented	separately	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss.
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2 Material accounting policies continued

2.16 Borrowings
	 Borrowings	are	recognised	initially	at	fair	value,	net	of	transaction	costs	incurred.	Borrowings	are	subsequently	stated	at	amortised	cost;	any	

difference	between	the	proceeds	(net	of	transaction	costs)	and	the	redemption	value	is	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	
loss	over	the	period	of	the	borrowings	using	the	effective	interest	method.

	 Borrowings	are	classified	as	current	liabilities	unless	the	Group	has	an	unconditional	right	to	defer	settlement	of	the	liability	for	at	least	12	
months	after	the	statement	of	financial	position	date.

	 Borrowings	are	removed	from	the	statement	of	financial	position	when	the	obligation	specified	in	the	contract	is	discharged,	cancelled	or	
expired.	The	difference	between	the	carrying	amount	of	a	financial	liability	that	has	been	extinguished	or	transferred	to	another	party	and	the	
consideration	paid,	including	any	non-cash	assets	transferred	or	liabilities	assumed,	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	as	other	income	or	finance	
costs.

2.17 Current and deferred income tax
	 The	tax	expense	for	the	period	comprises	current	and	deferred	tax.	Tax	is	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss,	except	

to	the	extent	that	it	relates	to	items	recognised	in	other	comprehensive	income	or	directly	in	equity.	In	this	case,	the	tax	is	also	recognised	in	
other	comprehensive	income	or	directly	in	equity,	respectively.

	 The	current	income	tax	charge	is	calculated	on	the	basis	of	the	tax	laws	enacted	or	substantively	enacted	at	the	statement	of	financial	
position	date	in	the	countries	where	the	Group’s	subsidiaries,	associates	and	joint	ventures	operate	and	generate	taxable	income.	
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to 
interpretation	and	establishes	provisions	where	appropriate	on	the	basis	of	amounts	expected	to	be	paid	to	the	tax	authorities.

	 Deferred	income	tax	is	provided	in	full,	using	the	liability	method,	on	temporary	differences	arising	between	the	tax	bases	of	assets	and	
liabilities	and	their	carrying	amounts	in	the	consolidated	financial	statements.	However,	the	deferred	income	tax	is	not	accounted	for	if	it	arises	
from	initial	recognition	of	an	asset	or	liability	in	a	transaction	other	than	a	business	combination	that	at	the	time	of	the	transaction	affects	
neither	accounting	nor	taxable	profit	or	loss	and	does	not	give	rise	to	equal	taxable	and	deductible	temporary	differences.	Deferred	income	
tax	is	determined	using	tax	rates	(and	laws)	that	have	been	substantively	enacted	by	the	statement	of	financial	position	date	and	are	expected	
to	apply	when	the	related	deferred	income	tax	asset	is	realised	or	the	deferred	income	tax	liability	is	settled.

	 Deferred	income	tax	assets	are	recognised	only	to	the	extent	that	it	is	probable	that	future	taxable	profit	will	be	available	against	which	the	
temporary	differences	can	be	utilised.	

 
	 Deferred	income	tax	is	provided	on	temporary	differences	arising	on	investments	in	subsidiaries	and	associates	and	joint	ventures,	except	

where	the	timing	of	the	reversal	of	the	temporary	difference	is	controlled	by	the	Group	and	it	is	probable	that	the	temporary	difference	will	not	
reverse	in	the	foreseeable	future.

	 Deferred	income	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	offset	when	there	is	a	legally	enforceable	right	to	offset	current	tax	assets	against	current	tax	
liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the 
same	taxable	entity	or	different	taxable	entities	where	there	is	an	intention	to	settle	the	balances	on	a	net	basis.

	 The	principal	temporary	differences	arise	from	depreciation	on	property,	plant	and	equipment,	retirement	benefits	and	tax	losses	carried	
forward.		Deferred	tax	assets	relating	to	the	carrying	forward	of	unused	tax	losses	are	recognised	to	the	extent	that	it	is	probable	that	future	
taxable	profit	will	be	earned	against	which	the	unused	tax	losses	can	be	utilised.	
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2 Material accounting policies continued

2.18 Employee benefits
2.18.1	 Pension	obligations
	 Group	companies	operate	various	pension	plans.	The	majority	of	the	Trinidad	and	Tobago	resident	employees	are	members	of	either	

the	Neal	&	Massy	Group	Pension	Fund	Plan,	the	Retirement	Income	Security	Plan	or	the	T.	Geddes	Grant	Limited	Pension	Fund	Plan.

	 These	plans	share	risks	among	subsidiaries	of	the	Group	which	are	under	common	control.	The	Group’s	policy	is	to	recognise	the	
net	defined	benefit	cost	of	the	plan	in	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements	of	Massy	Holdings	Ltd	which	is	legally	considered	the	
sponsoring	employer	of	the	plan.	The	participating	entities	recognise	a	cost	equal	to	its	contribution	payable	for	its	employees	in	its	
separate	financial	statements.

	 The	liability	or	asset	is	recognised	in	the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position.	In	respect	of	the	defined	benefit	pension	plan,	
as	at	September	2024,	the	defined	benefit	pension	plan	asset	represented	the	fair	value	of	the	plan’s	asset	less	the	present	value	of	
the	obligation	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period.	The	plan	is	currently	on	a	contribution	holiday.

	 The	Neal	&	Massy	Group	Pension	Fund	Plan,	contributions	to	which	were	frozen	on	January	3,1990,	is	a	defined	contribution	plan	
whose	assets	are	held	separately	from	those	of	the	Group	in	an	independently	administered	fund.		The	pension	benefits	accrued	prior	
to	1	February	1990	are	defined	benefit	in	nature.	The	most	recent	actuarial	valuation,	at	March	31,	2023,	revealed	that	the	plan	is	
adequately	funded.	There	are	certain	benefits	payable	by	the	Neal	&	Massy	Group	Pension	Fund	Plan	which	fall	within	the	scope	of	
IAS	19	(revised)	–	Employee	Benefits.

	 T.	Geddes	Grant	Limited	Pension	Fund	Plan	is	a	defined	contribution	plan	whose	assets	are	held	separately	from	those	of	the	
Group	in	an	independently	administered	fund.		Contributions	to	the	plan	are	accounted	for	on	the	accrual	basis	and	are	reviewed	by	
independent	actuaries	on	the	basis	of	triennial	valuations.

	 The	majority	of	the	employees	of	the	overseas	companies	participate	in	either	defined	contribution	or	defined	benefit	pension	plans	
which	are	separate	from	the	Trinidad	and	Tobago	plans.

	 A	defined	benefit	plan	is	a	pension	plan	that	defines	an	amount	of	pension	benefit	to	be	provided,	usually	as	a	function	of	one	or	more	
factors	such	as	age,	years	of	service	or	compensation.	A	defined	contribution	plan	is	a	pension	plan	under	which	the	Group	pays	
fixed	contributions	into	a	separate	entity	(a	fund)	and	will	have	no	legal	or	constructive	obligations	to	pay	further	contributions	if	the	
fund	does	not	hold	sufficient	assets	to	pay	all	employees	benefits	relating	to	employee	service	in	the	current	and	prior	periods.

	 The	asset	and	liability	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	in	respect	of	defined	benefit	pension	plans	is	the	
present	value	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation	at	the	statement	of	financial	position	date	less	the	fair	value	of	plan	assets.	The	defined	
benefit	obligation	is	calculated	annually	by	independent	actuaries	using	the	projected	unit	credit	method.	The	present	value	of	the	
defined	benefit	obligation	is	determined	by	discounting	the	estimated	future	cash	outflows	using	interest	rates	of	government	bonds	
that	are	denominated	in	the	currency	in	which	the	benefits	will	be	paid,	and	that	have	terms	to	maturity	approximating	to	the	terms	of	
the	related	pension	obligation.	

 The Group operates in countries where there is no deep market and trading liquidity for corporate bonds and as such the market 
rates	on	government	bonds	are	used	as	a	benchmark	to	derive	prices	and	bond	values.

	 The	pension	assets	consist	of	financial	investments	held	at	fair	value	which	are	based	on	a	range	of	inputs	obtainable	from	readily	
available	liquid	market	prices	and	rates.	Certain	securities	are	based	on	modelled	prices	due	to	limited	market	data.	For	these	
instances,	significant	judgements	are	made	by	management	resulting	in	high	estimation	uncertainty	risks.
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2 Material accounting policies continued
2.18 Employee benefits continued

2.18.1	 Pension	obligations	continued

	 The	net	interest	cost	is	calculated	by	applying	the	discount	rate	to	the	net	balance	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation	and	the	fair	value	
of	plan	assets.	This	cost	is	included	in	employee	benefit	expense	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss.

 Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments, changes in actuarial assumptions and amendments to pension plans 
are	charged	or	credited	to	equity	in	other	comprehensive	income	in	the	period	in	which	they	arise.

 Past-service costs are recognised immediately in income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees 
remaining	in	service	for	a	specified	period	of	time	(the	vesting	period).	In	this	case,	the	past-service	costs	are	amortised	on	a	straight-
line	basis	over	the	vesting	period.

	 For	defined	contribution	plans,	the	Group	pays	contributions	to	publicly	or	privately	administered	pension	insurance	plans	on	a	
mandatory,	contractual	or	voluntary	basis.	The	Group	has	no	further	payment	obligations	once	the	contributions	have	been	paid.	The	
contributions	are	recognised	as	employee	benefit	expense	when	they	are	due.	Prepaid	contributions	are	recognised	as	an	asset	to	
the	extent	that	a	cash	refund	or	a	reduction	in	the	future	payments	is	available.

2.18.2	 Other	post-employment	obligations
	 Certain	Group	companies	provide	post-retirement	healthcare	benefits	to	their	retirees.	The	entitlement	to	these	benefits	is	usually	

conditional	on	the	employee	remaining	in	service	up	to	retirement	age	and	the	completion	of	a	minimum	service	period.	The	expected	
costs	of	these	benefits	are	accrued	over	the	period	of	employment	using	the	same	accounting	methodology	as	used	for	defined	
benefit	pension	plans.	Actuarial	gains	and	losses	arising	from	experience	adjustments,	and	changes	in	actuarial	assumptions	are	
charged	or	credited	to	equity	in	other	comprehensive	income	in	the	period	in	which	it	arises.	These	obligations	are	valued	annually	by	
independent	qualified	actuaries.

2.18.3	 Termination	benefits
	 Termination	benefits	are	payable	when	employment	is	terminated	by	the	Group	before	the	normal	retirement	date,	or	whenever	

an	employee	accepts	voluntary	redundancy	in	exchange	for	these	benefits.	The	Group	recognises	termination	benefits	when	it	is	
demonstrably committed to a termination and when the entity has a detailed formal plan to terminate the employment of current 
employees	without	possibility	of	withdrawal.	In	the	case	of	an	offer	made	to	encourage	voluntary	redundancy,	the	termination	benefits	
are	measured	based	on	the	number	of	employees	expected	to	accept	the	offer.	Benefits	falling	due	more	than	12	months	after	the	
end	of	the	reporting	period	are	discounted	to	their	present	value.

2.18.4	 Bonus	plans
	 A	liability	for	employee	benefits	in	the	form	of	bonus	plans	is	recognised	in	other	provisions	when	there	is	no	realistic	alternative	but	to	

settle the liability and at least one of the following conditions are met:
•	 there	is	a	formal	plan	and	the	amounts	to	be	paid	are	determined	before	the	time	of	issuing	the	financial	statements;	or
•	 past	practice	has	created	a	valid	expectation	by	employees	that	they	will	receive	a	bonus/profit	sharing	and	the	amount	can	be	

determined	before	the	time	of	issuing	the	financial	statements.

 Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled within 12 months and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when 
they	are	settled.
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2 Material accounting policies continued
2.18 Employee benefits continued

2.18.5	 Share-based	payments	and	long	term	incentive	plan

a Share-based payments
 The Group operates cash and equity-settled, share-based compensation plans, under which the entity receives services from 

employees	as	consideration	for	cash	or	equity	instruments	of	the	Group.	The	fair	value	of	the	employee	services	received	in	
exchange for the allocation or grant of the shares is recognised as an expense under both the Employee Share Ownership Plan 
(“ESOP”).

 The total amount to be expensed for shares allocated under the ESOP is determined by reference to the market value and 
purchase	price	of	the	shares	on	the	market	at	the	point	of	purchase.

	 The	total	expense	is	recognised	over	the	vesting	period,	which	is	the	period	over	which	all	of	the	specified	performance	criterion	
and	vesting	conditions	are	to	be	satisfied.	At	the	end	of	each	reporting	period,	the	entity	revises	its	estimates	of	the	number	
of	shares	that	are	expected	to	vest	based	on	the	performance	criterion	and	any	applicable	non-market	vesting	conditions.	
It	recognises	the	impact	of	the	revision	to	original	estimates,	if	any,	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss,	with	a	
corresponding	adjustment	to	equity.

b Long term incentive plan
	 Long-term	incentive	plans	are	employee	benefits	(other	than	post-employment	benefits	and	termination	benefits)	that	are	not	

expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the 
service	that	gives	rise	to	the	benefit.	These	include	annual	incentive	plans	which	are	subject	to	a	multi-year	vesting	period	and	
other	considerations,	including	EPS	growth.

	 The	Plan	is	not	accounted	for	under	IFRS	2	–	Share-Based	Payments	as	the	growth	in	EPS	in	itself	is	not	considered	a	true	
reflection	of	the	fair	value	of	the	entity’s	shares.	Other	factors	such	as	changes	in	P/E	multiples	are	typically	considered	in	arriving	
at	fair	market	value.	Accordingly,	the	Plan	is	accounted	for	under	IAS	19	–	Employee	Benefits	as	a	deferred	compensation	
arrangement.	

	 The	accounting	for	deferred	compensation	arrangements	under	IAS	19	involves	discounting	of	future	cash	flows	(where	the	time	
value	of	money	is	material)	using	the	projected	unit	credit	method.	The	projected	unit	credit	method	sees	each	period	of	service	
as	giving	rise	to	an	additional	unit	of	benefit	entitlement	and	measures	each	unit	separately	to	build	up	the	final	obligation.	The	
rate	used	to	discount	the	obligations	is	determined	using	the	same	methodology	as	that	used	for	defined	benefit	pension	plans,	
subject	to	a	shorter	settlement	period.	

 The measurement of deferred compensation plans is not usually subject to the same degree of uncertainty as the measurement 
of	post-employment	benefits.	For	this	reason,	a	simplified	approach	is	applied	where	the	service	cost,	interest	cost	and	re-
measurements	are	all	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	year	they	arise.	

	 At	the	end	of	each	financial	year,	the	Group	will	re-estimate	the	obligation	based	on	factors	existing	as	of	the	new	statement	
of	financial	position	date	(e.g.	revised	EPS	numbers,	performance	score	cards	etc.).	The	change	in	estimate	as	it	relates	to	the	
opening obligation is recognised immediately, such the annual undiscounted current service cost is always equal to the total 
benefit	divided	by	4.	Re-estimates	and	re-measurements	are	to	be	recognised	immediately	in	profit	or	loss.
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2 Material accounting policies continued 

2.19 Provisions
 Provisions for dismantlement costs, restructuring costs, legal claims and all other provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present 

legal	or	constructive	obligation	as	a	result	of	past	events;	it	is	more	likely	than	not	that	an	outflow	of	resources	will	be	required	to	settle	the	
obligation;	and	the	amount	has	been	reliably	estimated.	Provisions	are	not	recognised	for	future	operating	losses.

	 Where	there	are	a	number	of	similar	obligations,	the	likelihood	that	an	outflow	will	be	required	in	settlement	is	determined	by	considering	the	
class	of	obligations	as	a	whole.	A	provision	is	recognised	even	if	the	likelihood	of	an	outflow	with	respect	to	any	one	item	included	in	the	same	
class	of	obligations	may	be	small.

 Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that 
reflects	current	market	assessments	of	the	time	value	of	money	and	the	risks	specific	to	the	obligation.	The	increase	in	the	provision	due	to	
passage	of	time	is	recognised	as	interest	expense.	

2.20 Revenue recognition
2.20.1	 Sale	of	goods	and	services
 Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and the rendering of services in 

the	ordinary	course	of	the	Group’s	activities.	Revenue	is	shown	net	of	value-added	tax,	returns,	rebates	and	discounts	and	after	
eliminating	sales	within	the	Group.	A	description	of	revenue	by	business	segment	is	shown	in	Note	3.	

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when control of the products has transferred, being when the products are delivered 
to	the	customer,	the	customer	has	full	discretion	over	the	use	and	deployment	of	the	products,	and	there	is	no	unfulfilled	obligation	
that	could	affect	the	customer’s	acceptance	of	the	products.	Delivery	occurs	when	the	products	have	been	shipped	to	the	specific	
customer site or place of delivery, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer, or the customer has 
accepted	the	products	in	accordance	with	the	relevant	contract.	

	 Sales	are	recorded	based	on	the	price	specified	in	the	sales	contracts,	net	of	the	estimated	volume	discounts	and	returns	at	the	time	
of	sale.	Accumulated	experience	is	used	to	estimate	and	provide	for	the	discounts	and	returns.	The	volume	discounts	are	assessed	
based	on	anticipated	annual	purchases.	No	element	of	financing	is	deemed	present	as	the	sales	are	made	with	credit	terms	as	
specified	for	entities	within	the	Group,	which	is	consistent	with	the	market	practice.	Variable	consideration	relating	to	volume	rebates	
and	discounts	are	measured	using	the	expected	value	approach	and	are	shown	within	contract	liabilities.

	 Revenue	from	the	rendering	of	services	is	recognised	in	the	accounting	period	in	which	the	services	are	rendered.	The	Group	
employs	various	methods	for	measuring	progress	for	services	delivered	over	time.	The	method	selected	best	depicts	the	pattern	of	
transfer	and	is	applied	consistently	to	similar	performance	obligations	and	in	similar	circumstances.	Methods	for	measuring	progress	
include:
• Output methods, that recognise revenue based on direct measurements of the value transferred to the customer (for example, 

using	contract	milestones).
•	 Input	methods,	that	recognise	revenue	based	on	the	entity’s	efforts	to	satisfy	the	performance	obligation	(for	example,	labour	

hours	spent).

	 Payments	received	in	advance	of	satisfying	performance	obligations	are	shown	within	contract	liabilities.



49    Massy Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2024 excerpts  

2 Material accounting policies continued
2.20 Revenue recognition continued

2.20.1	 Sale	of	goods	and	services continued

 If circumstances arise that may change the original estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward completion, estimates 
are	revised.	These	revisions	may	result	in	increases	or	decreases	in	estimated	revenues	or	costs	and	are	reflected	in	income	in	the	
period	in	which	the	circumstances	that	give	rise	to	the	revision	become	known	by	management.

	 Some	arrangements	involve	two	or	more	unrelated	parties	that	contribute	to	providing	a	specified	good	or	service	to	a	customer.	
Management	determines,	separately	for	each	specified	good	or	service,	whether	the	entity	has	promised	to	provide	the	specified	
good	and	service	itself	(as	a	principal)	or	to	arrange	for	those	specified	good	or	service	to	be	provided	by	another	party	(as	an	
agent).	An	entity	is	the	principal	in	a	transaction	if	it	obtains	control	of	the	specified	goods	or	services	before	they	are	transferred	to	
the	customer.	The	principal	recognises	as	revenue	the	‘gross’	amount	paid	by	the	customer	for	the	specified	good	or	service.	The	
principal records a corresponding expense for the commission or fee that it has to pay to any agent, in addition to the direct costs 
of	satisfying	the	contract.	An	entity	is	an	agent	if	it	does	not	control	the	specified	goods	or	services	before	they	are	transferred	to	the	
customer.	An	agent	records	as	revenue	the	commission	or	fee	earned	for	facilitating	the	transfer	of	the	specified	goods	or	services	
(the	‘net’	amount	retained).	It	records	as	revenue	the	net	consideration	that	it	retains	after	paying	the	principal	for	the	specified	goods	
or	services	that	were	provided	to	the	customer.

2.20.2	 Customer	loyalty	programme
 The Group operates a loyalty programme where retail customers accumulate points for purchases made which entitle them to 

discount	on	future	purchases.	The	points	provide	a	material	right	to	customers	that	they	would	not	receive	without	entering	into	a	
contract.	Therefore,	the	promise	to	provide	points	to	the	customer	is	a	separate	performance	obligation.	The	transaction	price	is	
allocated	to	the	product	and	the	points	on	a	relative	stand-alone	selling	price	basis.	Management	estimates	the	stand-alone	selling	
price	per	point	on	the	basis	of	the	discount	granted	and	the	likelihood	of	redemption	using	past	experience.	A	contract	liability	for	the	
award	points	is	recognised	at	the	time	of	the	sale.	Revenue	is	recognised	when	the	points	are	redeemed	or	when	they	expire.

2.20.3	 Rental	income
	 Rental	income	from	investment	property	leased	out	under	an	operating	lease	is	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	

loss	on	a	straight-	line	basis	over	the	lease	term.

 Contingent rents, such as turnover rents, rent reviews and indexation, are recorded as income in the periods in which they are 
earned.	Rent	reviews	are	recognised	when	such	reviews	have	been	agreed	with	tenants.

2.20.4	 Interest	income
	 Interest	income	is	calculated	by	applying	the	effective	interest	rate	to	the	gross	carrying	amount	of	a	financial	asset	except	for	

financial	assets	that	subsequently	become	credit-impaired.	For	credit-impaired	financial	assets	the	effective	interest	rate	is	applied	to	
the	net	carrying	amount	of	the	financial	asset	(after	deduction	of	the	loss	allowance).

2.20.5	 Dividend	income
	 Dividend	income	is	recognised	when	the	shareholder’s	right	to	receive	payment	is	established.

2.21 Dividend distribution
	 Dividend	distribution	to	the	Company’s	shareholders	is	recognised	as	a	liability	in	the	Group’s	financial	statements	in	the	period	in	which	the	

dividends	are	approved	by	the	Company’s	directors.
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3 Segment information
The	Group	Chief	Operating	Decision	Maker	(CODM)	is	the	Group	Chief	Executive	Officer	(GCEO).	Management	has	determined	the	operating	
segments	based	on	the	reports	reviewed	by	the	GCEO	and	the	Board	of	Massy	Holdings	Ltd.

The	GCEO	and	the	Board	consider	the	business	from	both	a	geographic	and	business	unit	perspective.		Geographically,	management	considers	the	
performance	of	operating	companies	in	Trinidad	and	Tobago,	Barbados	and	the	Eastern	Caribbean,	Guyana,	Jamaica,	U.S.A.	and	Colombia.

The Group is organised into four (2023: four) main business segments:
1	 Integrated	Retail;
2	 Gas	Products;
3	 Motors	&	Machines;	and
4	 Financial	Services.

Corporate	Office	and	Other	Adjustments	relate	to	the	cost	associated	with	the	provision	of	support	services	by	the	head	office	to	its	subsidiaries.		
The	returns	from	divestment	proceeds	that	were	re-invested	are	included,	as	well	as	the	Held	for	Sale.

The	GCEO	and	the	Board	assess	the	performance	of	the	operating	segments	based	on	a	measure	of	profit	before	income	tax,	profit	for	the	year	
and	asset	utilisation.

1	 Integrated	Retail
This segment derives its revenue mainly from the sale of retail and wholesale distribution of food,
pharmaceuticals	and	general	merchandise.

2	 Gas	Products
This	segment	derives	its	revenue	from	the	sale	of	Liquified	Petroleum	Gases	and	Industrial	Gases	including	Nitrogen,	Oxygen	and	Carbon	
Dioxide.	Gas	Products	also	derives	revenue	from	the	provision	of	maintenance	services	and	the	execution	of	construction	projects	for	oil,	gas	
and	mining	clients.

3	 Motors	and	Machines
This segment derives its revenue mainly from the sale of new and used vehicles, spare parts and industrial equipment and also includes the sale 
of	lubricants	and	short-	and	long-term	vehicle	and	equipment	rentals.

4	 Financial	Services
This	segment	includes	a	financing	company	that	accepts	deposits	for	fixed	terms	and	grants	instalment	credit	secured	by	assets.	This	segment	
also	includes	the	Group’s	Remittances	service	companies	in	Guyana,	Trinidad,	Barbados,	St.	Lucia	and	St.	Vincent.	
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3 Segment information continued

	 The	Group’s	retirement	benefit	assets	are	deemed	unallocated	and	are	not	considered	to	be	segment	assets	but	rather	are	managed	by	Head	
Office.	These	assets	along	with	the	related	income	and	expense	are	included	in	Corporate	Office	and	Other	Adjustments.

 The segment results for the year ended September 30, 2024, relating to continuing operations are as follows:
   
      Corporate  

 Integrated Gas Motors & Financial Office & Other  
 Retail Products Machines Services Adjustments Total

  $ $ $ $ $ $

 Group revenue  10,428,642   2,252,388   3,734,175   170,661   43,059   16,628,925
 Inter-segment revenue  (533,669)  (105,774)  (247,533)  (1,161)  (17,651)  (905,788)

 Third party revenue  9,894,973   2,146,614   3,486,642   169,500   25,408   15,723,137  
  

 Revenue recognised under IFRS 15:
 -  At a point in time  10,428,642   1,528,631   3,556,654   170,661   17,651   15,702,239
	 -		 Over	time	 –		 	200,866		 	72,135		 –			 –			  273,001
 Revenue recognised in accordance with  
		 			other	IFRS	standards	 	–		 	522,891		 	105,386		 –			 	25,408		  653,685  

 
   10,428,642   2,252,388   3,734,175   170,661   43,059   16,628,925  

  
	 Operating	profit/(loss)	before	finance	costs	 	757,018		 	291,714		 	270,756		 	75,077		 	(139,246)	  1,255,319
	 Finance	costs	–	net	 	(66,734)	 	(54,954)	 	(43,044)	 	404		 	(74,836)	  (239,164) 

  
    690,284   236,760   227,712   75,481   (214,082)  1,016,155  

  
 Share of results of associates and joint ventures   
	 		(Note	10)		 –			 	119,030		 –			 –			 –			  119,030
 
	 Profit/(loss)	before	income	tax	 	690,284		 	355,790		 	227,712		 	75,481		 	(214,082)	  1,135,185  

Taxation (Note 28)  (198,413)  (149,244)  (77,211)  (23,546)  21,527   (426,887) 
  

 Profit/(loss) for the year  491,871   206,546   150,501   51,935   (192,555)  708,298
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3 Segment information continued       
  

 The segment results for the year ended September 30, 2023, relating to continuing operations are as follows:    
     

      Corporate  
 Integrated Gas Motors & Financial Office & Other  
 Retail Products Machines Services Adjustments Total

   $ $ $ $ $ $
   
 Group revenue  9,510,060   1,861,752   3,548,230   163,398   45,343   15,128,783  

Inter-segment	revenue	 	(517,477)	 	(61,177)	 	(332,929)	 –			 	(21,916)	  (933,499)

 Third party revenue  8,992,583   1,800,575   3,215,301   163,398   23,427   14,195,284  
  

 Revenue recognised under IFRS 15:      
 -  At a point in time  9,510,060   1,545,454   3,392,109   116,690   18,554   14,582,867
	 -		 Over	time	 –		 	297,239		 	64,515		 	46,708		 	–			 	408,462  

Revenue recognised in accordance with  
	 		other	IFRS	standards	 	–			 	19,059		 	91,606		 	–			 	26,789		 	137,454  

 
    9,510,060   1,861,752   3,548,230   163,398   45,343   15,128,783  

  
	 Operating	profit/(loss)	before	finance	costs	 	712,673		 	355,299		 	306,968		 	86,178		 	(67,068)	  1,394,050  

Finance costs - net  (58,710)  (30,669)  (30,526)  447   (49,329)  (168,787) 
  

    653,963   324,630   276,442   86,625   (116,397)  1,225,263  
  

 Share of results of associates and joint ventures  
	 			(Note	10)	 –			 	18,612		 	(14,820)	 	–			 –			 	3,792
 
	 Profit/(loss)	before	income	tax	 	653,963		 	343,242		 	261,622		 	86,625		 	(116,397)	  1,229,055  

Taxation (Note 28)  (140,446)  (136,048)  (87,642)  (22,931)  (8,689)  (395,756) 
  

 Profit/(loss) for the year  513,517   207,194   173,980   63,694   (125,086)  833,299
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3 Segment information continued      
   

 The segment assets and liabilities at September 30, 2024, and capital expenditure for the year then ended are as follows:  

      Corporate  
 Integrated Gas Motors & Financial Office & Other  
 Retail Products Machines Services Adjustments Total

  $ $ $ $ $ $

 Total assets  6,443,228   2,906,103   2,447,743   1,245,021   2,405,087  15,447,182
 Investments in associates  
	 		and	joint	ventures	(Note	10)	 –		 	102,723		 	1,215		 –			 	1,390		  105,328  

Total liabilities  2,245,402   1,248,081   1,064,326   887,922   1,988,006   7,433,737  
Capital expenditure (Notes 5, 6, 7 and 9)  636,612   100,284   202,587   4,282   20,729   964,494  
          
Other	segment	items	included	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss	are	as	follows:-	 	 	 	 	
    

 Depreciation and impairment 
     (Notes 5, 6 and 7) 219,680 121,549 132,244 3,214 (944) 475,743 

        
 

 The segment assets and liabilities at September 30, 2023, and capital expenditure for the year then ended are as follows:   
      

      Corporate  
 Integrated Gas Motors & Financial Office & Other  
 Retail Products Machines Services Adjustments Total

   $ $ $ $ $ $
   
 Total assets  5,879,286   3,515,179   2,355,308   1,246,551   2,544,526   15,540,850  

Investments in associates  
	 			and	joint	ventures	(Note	10)	 –			 	101,374		 	1,250		 	–		 	1,390		 	104,014
 Total liabilities  2,007,135   1,443,345   960,145   910,416   2,611,303   7,932,344  

Capital expenditure (Notes 5, 6, 7 and 9)  192,044   175,455   201,164   6,589   39,402   614,654  
          
Other	segment	items	included	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss	are	as	follows:-	 	 	 	 	
    

 Depreciation and impairment 
        (Notes 5, 6 and 7) 212,027 83,376 106,415 2,914 3,409 408,141
 

        



54    Massy Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2024 excerpts  

3 Segment information continued 
         

The	Group’s	four	business	segments	operate	in	six	main	geographical	areas,	even	though	they	are	managed	on	a	regional	basis.	 	 	
      

	 The	main	operations	occur	in	the	home	country	of	the	Company.		The	areas	of	operation	are	principally	trading,	service	industries	and	finance.	 	
       

  Third party revenue Profit before income tax Total assets Capital expenditure
  2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
   $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

 Trinidad and Tobago   5,398,251   5,090,927   511,971   559,159   7,248,721   7,558,770   248,292   240,316
 Barbados and Eastern Caribbean   3,827,635   3,655,867   286,575   264,215   3,164,214   3,178,457   273,555   79,797
 Guyana   1,918,594   1,789,626   321,580   303,848   1,723,377   1,624,493   100,477   128,378 

Jamaica   1,174,152   895,213   137,989   112,573   974,499   1,038,068   54,888   84,303
 Colombia   2,195,720   1,822,736   47,609   34,796   976,465   948,837   78,596   70,960
 USA   1,208,785  940,915   43,543   70,861   1,359,906   1,192,225   208,687   10,900
	 Corporate	Office	and	other	
   adjustments   –		 –			  (214,082)  (116,397) –			 	–			 –		 –

   15,723,137   14,195,284   1,135,185   1,229,055   15,447,182   15,540,850   964,495   614,654
  
       
4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
 Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 

events	that	are	believed	to	be	reasonable	under	the	circumstances.

a Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
	 The	Group	makes	estimates	and	assumptions	concerning	the	future.	The	resulting	accounting	estimates	will,	by	definition,	seldom	equal	the	

related	actual	results.	The	estimates	and	assumptions	that	have	a	significant	risk	of	causing	a	material	adjustment	to	the	carrying	amounts	of	
assets	and	liabilities	within	the	next	financial	year	are	discussed	below.

i Estimated impairment of goodwill
	 The	Group	tests	annually	whether	goodwill	has	suffered	any	impairment,	in	accordance	with	the	accounting	policy	stated	in	Note	2.8.4.	

The	recoverable	amounts	of	cash-generating	units	have	been	determined	based	on	value-in-use	and	fair	value	less	cost	to	sell	calculations.	
These	calculations	require	the	use	of	estimates	as	described	in	Note	8.

	 The	value	in	use	calculation	is	based	on	a	discounted	cash	flow	model.	The	cash	flows	are	derived	from	approved	budgets	and	do	
not	include	restructuring	activities	that	the	Group	is	not	yet	committed	to	or	significant	future	investments	that	will	enhance	the	asset’s	
performance	of	the	cash	generating	unit	being	tested.	The	recoverable	amount	is	sensitive	to	the	discount	rate	used	for	the	discounted	cash	
flow	model	as	well	as	the	expected	future	cash	inflows	and	the	growth	rate	used	for	extrapolation	purposes.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements continued
a Critical accounting estimates and assumptions continued

ii Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance
	 The	measurement	of	the	expected	credit	loss	allowance	(ECL)	for	debt	instruments	measured	at	amortised	cost	and	FVOCI	is	an	area	

that	requires	the	use	of	models	and	significant	assumptions	about	future	economic	conditions	and	credit	behaviour	(e.g.	the	likelihood	
of	customers	defaulting	and	the	resulting	losses).	A	number	of	significant	judgements	are	also	required	in	applying	the	accounting	
requirements for measuring ECL, such as: 

	 •	 Determining	criteria	for	significant	increase	in	credit	risk;	
	 •	 Choosing	appropriate	models	and	assumptions	for	the	measurement	of	ECL;	
 • Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of product / market and the associated  

	 ECL;	and	
	 •	 Establishing	groups	of	similar	financial	assets	for	the	purposes	of	measuring	ECL.	

	 ECL	calculations	are	shown	in	Note	33.1.2.	Had	there	been	a	10%	improvement	in	the	average	ECL	rate	for	all	debt	instruments	at	
amortised	cost	and	FVOCI,	the	Group	ECL	allowance	would	have	been	lower	by	$29,999	(2023:	$14,305).

	 For	receivables	greater	than	90	days	a	3	month	delay	in	cash	flow	will	result	in	a	change	in	an	ECL	of	$1.8	million.

iii Impairment of property, plant and equipment and investment properties
	 When	any	indicators	of	impairment	are	identified,	property,	plant	and	equipment	and	investment	properties	are	reviewed	for	impairment	

based	on	each	cash	generating	unit.	The	cash	generating	units	are	the	smallest	group	of	assets	which	generates	independent	cashflows.	
The carrying value of these assets is compared to the recoverable amount of the cash generating units, which is based either on value-
in-use	or	fair	value	less	cost	to	sell.	Value-in-use	calculations	use	pre-tax	cash	flow	projections	based	on	financial	budgets	approved	by	
management	covering	a	5-year	period.		Cash	flows	beyond	the	5-year	period	are	extrapolated	using	the	estimated	growth	rates	which	do	
not	exceed	the	long-term	average	growth	rates	for	the	businesses	in	which	the	cash	generating	unit	operates.	Where	fair	values	are	used,	
these	are	provided	by	an	independent	professional	valuator.	Impairment	losses	are	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	
loss.	

 The assessment of whether indicators of impairment exist and the estimation of the recoverable amount both require the use of 
management	judgement.	Refer	to	Notes	5	and	7	for	the	carrying	values	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	and	investment	properties.	

iv Income taxes
	 The	Group	is	subject	to	income	taxes	in	several	jurisdictions.	Significant	judgement	is	required	in	determining	the	provision	for	income	taxes.	

There	are	many	transactions	and	calculations	for	which	the	ultimate	tax	determination	is	uncertain	during	the	ordinary	course	of	business.	
The	Group	recognises	liabilities	for	anticipated	tax	audit	issues	based	on	estimates	of	whether	additional	taxes	will	be	due.	Where	the	final	
tax	outcome	of	these	matters	is	different	from	the	amounts	that	were	initially	recorded,	such	differences	will	impact	the	income	tax	and	
deferred	tax	provisions	in	the	period	in	which	such	determination	is	made.	Current	and	deferred	income	tax	balances	are	disclosed	in	the	
statement	of	financial	position.	Details	of	the	expense	for	the	year	are	shown	in	Note	28.		

v	 Fair	value	of	financial	instruments
	 The	fair	value	of	financial	instruments	that	are	not	traded	in	an	active	market	is	determined	by	using	valuation	techniques.	The	Group	

uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each 
statement	of	financial	position	date.	The	Group	uses	discounted	cash	flow	analyses	for	various	financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	other	
comprehensive	income	that	were	not	traded	in	active	markets.	The	assumptions	and	amounts	subject	to	fair	value	measurements	are	
shown	in	Note	33.3.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements continued
a Critical accounting estimates and assumptions continued

vi Revenue recognition
	 Once	the	Group	determines	that	a	performance	obligation	is	satisfied	over	time,	it	measures	its	progress	towards	complete	satisfaction	

of	that	performance	obligation,	in	order	to	determine	the	timing	of	revenue	recognition.	The	purpose	of	measuring	progress	towards	
satisfaction	of	a	performance	obligation	is	to	recognise	revenue	in	a	pattern	that	reflects	the	transfer	of	control	of	the	promised	good	or	
service	to	the	customer.	Management	employs	various	input	or	output	methods	for	measuring	progress	ensuring	that	the	selected	approach	
best depicts the transfer of control of goods or services and applies that method consistently to similar performance obligations and in 
similar	circumstances.	Revenue	from	the	rendering	of	services	is	disclosed	in	Note	25.

vii	 Pension	benefits
	 The	present	value	of	the	pension	obligations	is	determined	on	an	actuarial	basis	using	a	number	of	assumptions.	The	assumptions	used	in	

determining	the	net	cost	(income)	for	pensions	include	the	discount	rate.	Any	changes	in	these	assumptions	will	impact	the	carrying	amount	
of	pension	obligations.

	 The	Group	determines	the	appropriate	discount	rate	at	the	end	of	each	year.	This	is	the	interest	rate	that	should	be	used	to	determine	the	
present	value	of	estimated	future	cash	outflows	expected	to	be	required	to	settle	the	pension	obligations.	In	determining	the	appropriate	
discount rate, the Group considers the interest rates of high-quality government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the 
benefits	will	be	paid	and	that	have	terms	to	maturity	approximating	the	terms	of	the	related	pension	obligation.

 
	 The	pension	assets	consist	of	financial	investments	held	at	fair	value	which	are	based	on	a	range	of	inputs	obtainable	from	readily	available	

liquid	market	prices	and	rates,	certain	securities	are	based	on	modelled	prices	due	to	limited	market	data.	For	these	instances,	significant	
judgements	are	made	by	management	resulting	in	high	estimation	uncertainty	risks.

	 As	at	September	30,	2024,	if	the	discount	rate	had	been	1.0%	higher	or	lower	with	all	other	variables	held	constant,	the	carrying	amount	of	
pension	benefits	would	have	been	$241,381	lower	or	$205,418	higher	(2023:	$241,109	lower	or	$205,663	higher).

	 Other	key	assumptions	for	pension	obligations	are	based	in	part	on	current	market	conditions.	Additional	information	is	disclosed	in	Note	
14.	
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5 Property, plant and equipment

    Leasehold
    properties      Capital
   Freehold & improve-  Plant & Rental  Furniture Motor work in
   Properties ments equipment assets & fixtures vehicles progress Total
   $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

 Year ended September 30, 2024
 Opening net book amount   1,337,730   374,469   971,602   300,192   141,944   148,490   125,451   3,399,878 
 Additions   206,261   36,949   103,542   121,174   23,565   45,461   168,784   705,736 
 Disposals and adjustments   (34,246)  (2,203)  (1)  (22,990)  (447)  (12,351)  (431)  (72,669)
 Translation adjustments   (11,002)  (2,303)  (10,018)  (3,404)  (649)  (1,445)  (917)  (29,738)
 Transfer from capital work in progress  29,659   6,294   56,455   1,584   13,986   7,328   (115,306)  – 
	 Depreciation	and	impairment	charge	 	(25,856)	 	(33,935)	 	(148,718)	 	(90,249)	 	(32,500)	 	(36,082)	 	–		  (367,340)

 Closing net book amount   1,502,546   379,271   972,862   306,307   145,899   151,401   177,581   3,635,867 
        
 At September 30, 2024        
 Cost   1,766,729   626,130   2,412,912   586,334   438,910   353,993   177,581   6,362,589 
	 Accumulated	depreciation	 		 (264,183)	 	(246,859)	 	(1,440,050)	 	(280,027)	 	(293,011)	 	(202,592)	 		–		  (2,726,722)

 Net book amount   1,502,546   379,271   972,862   306,307   145,899   151,401   177,581   3,635,867 
       

 
	 The	net	book	amount	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	includes	$2,069	(2023:	$2,128)	in	respect	of	motor	vehicles	held	under	finance	leases.

	 Depreciation	and	impairment	expenses	of	$151,808	(2023:	$77,557)	have	been	charged	in	cost	of	sales	and	$215,532	(2023:	$225,697)	in	‘selling,	
general	and	administrative	expenses’.
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5 Property, plant and equipment continued

    Leasehold
    properties      Capital
   Freehold & improve-  Plant & Rental  Furniture Motor work in
   Properties ments equipment assets & fixtures vehicles progress Total
   $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

 Year ended September 30, 2024
 Opening net book amount   1,290,370   231,594   459,457   236,081   81,059   89,873   140,326   2,528,760 
 Additions   15,674   15,911   123,892   146,905   19,030   41,449   155,204   518,065 
	 Acquisition	of	subsidiaries	(Note	34)		 –		 	170,863		 	425,914		 –		 	43,950		 	32,558		 	11,823		  685,108 
 Disposals and adjustments   59,960   (55,318)  (87,006)  (19,778)  55,274   (4,381)  16,568   (34,681)
 Translation adjustments   11,391   1,816   866   9,756   456   1,208   384   25,877 
 Transfer from capital work in progress  22,123   16,173   118,685   1,652   17,574   20,867   (197,074) –
	 Reclassified	to	held	for	sale		 	
	 		(Note	35)	 	 (12,434)	 	–		 	(3,814)	 	–		 	(565)	 	(1,404)	 	(1,780)	  (19,997) 

Depreciation	and	impairment	charge	 	(49,354)	 	(6,570)	 	(66,392)	 	(74,424)	 	(74,834)	 	(31,680)	 –		  (303,254)

 Closing net book amount   1,337,730   374,469   971,602   300,192   141,944   148,490   125,451   3,399,878 
        
 At September 30, 2023        
 Cost   1,597,580   589,979   2,339,676   564,925   418,510   335,355   125,451   5,971,476 
	 Accumulated	depreciation	 	 	(259,850)	 	(215,510)	 	(1,368,074)	 	(264,733)	 	(276,566)	 	(186,865)	 –		 	(2,571,598)

 Net book amount   1,337,730   374,469   971,602   300,192   141,944   148,490   125,451   3,399,878 
        
 At October 1, 2022        
 Cost   1,517,344  441,674   1,326,088   442,794   282,920   238,098   140,326   4,389,244 
	 Accumulated	depreciation	 	 	(226,974)	 	(210,080)	 	(866,631)	 	(206,713)	 	(201,861)	 	(148,225)	 –		 	(1,860,484)

 Net book amount   1,290,370   231,594   459,457   236,081   81,059   89,873   140,326   2,528,760 
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6 Leases
 The following tables provide information for leases where the Group is a lessee:

6.1 Right-of-use assets

     Vehicles &
    Buildings Equipment Other Total
    $ $ $ $

 Year ended September 30, 2024     
 Opening net book amount    728,613   657   40,720   769,990
 Exchange adjustment    (3,226)  (69)  (16)  (3,311)
 Additions    228,928   3,492   6,591   239,011
	 Disposals	and	adjustments	 	 	 	1,950		 –		 	920		 	2,870
	 Effect	of	modification	to	lease	terms	 	 	 	(3,700)	 –		 	300		  (3,400)
 Depreciation charge    (99,024)  (989)  (8,390)  (108,403)

 At end of year    853,541   3,091   40,125   896,757

 Cost    1,168,245   9,432   76,015   1,253,692
 Accumulated depreciation    (314,704)  (6,341)  (35,890)  (356,935)

 At end of year    853,541   3,091   40,125   896,757
  
 Year ended September 30, 2023     
 Opening net book amount    734,620   1,784   33,131   769,535
 Exchange adjustment    7,138   34   5   7,177
	 Additions	 	 	 	68,448		 –		 	10,341		 	78,789
 Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 34)    140,194   80   5,486   145,760 
 Disposals and adjustments    1,069   (203)  (850)  16 
	 Effect	of	modification	to	lease	terms	 	 	 	(124,488)	 –			 –		  (124,488)
 Depreciation charge    (98,368)  (1,038)  (7,393)  (106,799)

 At end of year    728,613   657   40,720   769,990

 Cost    980,136   6,183   73,155   1,059,474
 Accumulated depreciation    (251,523)  (5,526)  (32,435)  (289,484)

 At end of year    728,613   657   40,720   769,990
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6 Leases continued

6.2  Lease liabilities 

     2024 2023
     $ $

 Opening net book amount      937,932   922,672  
Translation adjustments      (3,965) 7,963  
Additions      239,011   78,485  
Repayments      (94,834)  (91,197) 
Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 34)     –   146,943  
Effect	of	modifications	of	lease	terms*	 	 	 	 	  (3,400)  (125,617) 
Disposals and adjustments      (3,769)  (1,317)

 Closing net book amount      1,070,975   937,932 

 Current      96,115   142,399  
Non-current      974,860   795,533  
 

       1,070,975 937,932  
 

     
	 *	During	the	2023	financial	year,	Massy	Integrated	Retail	Ltd.	conducted	an	exercise	assessing	the	reasonability	of	exercising	their	lease							 	

		extension	options.	Based	on	the	review,	six	leases	were	identified	to	be	remeasured	for	a	modification	of	the	lease	term.	 	 	
  

     
6.3  Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for continuing operations:    

     
     2024 2023
     $ $

 Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 27)     61,855 56,659 
Depreciation charge on right-of-use assets     108,403 106,799 
Expense relating to short-term leases     45,328 30,440 
Expense relating to leases of low value assets not included above    1,802 140 
 

      217,388 194,038 
 

     
     



61    Massy Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2024 excerpts  

7 Investment properties

     2024 2023
     $ $

 Movement analysis:   
 Opening net book amount     – 297,821
 Translation adjustments     –  226
 Additions     –  3,118
 Disposals     –   (109,424)
 Depreciation     –    (20,733)
	 Reclassified	to	held	for	sale	(Note	35)	 	 	 	 	 –  (175,736)
 Other adjustments     –   4,728

 Closing net book amount     –    –  

	 •	 The	fair	value	of	the	investment	properties	amounted	to	$155,400	(2023:	$210,589).	All	investment	properties	have	been	reclassified	to	held	for			
	 sale	(Note	35).

 • The fair value amount was either:
1	 valued	by	independent,	professionally	qualified	valuators;	or
2 asserted via a Management’s valuation based on:

•	 references	to	properties	in	similar	areas	and	condition;
•	 correspondence	from	valuators	which	supports	that	there	has	not	been	significant	movement	in	terms	of	market	prices;
•	 the	directors’	independent	FV	assessment	based	on	a	calculation	if	the	property	is	tenanted;
•  re-assessment of any assumptions made in the last valuation and whether there were or should have been any changes and any other   

	 factors	which	support	management’s	position	that	the	FV	continues	to	be	relevant	and	appropriate.	
	 •	 The	property	rental	income	earned	by	the	Group	during	the	year	from	its	investment	properties,	amounted	to	$2,043	(2023:	$6,995).
	 •	 Direct	operating	expenses	arising	on	the	investment	properties	which	generated	revenue	during	the	year	amounted	to	$3,907	(2023	$9,014).		
	 	 There	were	no	costs	in	the	current	year.	
	 •	 There	were	no	direct	operating	expenses	arising	on	the	investment	properties	which	did	not	generate	revenue	during	the	current	and	prior	year.	
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8 Goodwill

     2024 2023
     $ $

 Cost      1,234,367 1,234,367
 Accumulated translation adjustments      (9,559) (7,142)
 Accumulated impairment      (155,943)  (155,943)

 Net book amount      1,068,865   1,071,282

 Movement analysis:    
 Opening net book amount      1,071,282  168,200
 Translation adjustments      (2,417)  502
 Additions (Note 34)     – 902,580

 Closing net book amount      1,068,865 1,071,282

	 Goodwill	is	allocated	to	the	Group’s	cash-generating	units	(‘CGUs’)	identified	according	to	country	of	operation	and	business	segment.	 	
  

	 For	continuing	operations,	a	segment-level	summary	of	the	goodwill	allocation	is	presented	below.

     2024 2023
     $ $

 Motors & Machines     105,223 105,223
 Integrated retail     219,268 220,776
 Gas products     744,374 745,283

      1,068,865 1,071,282

	 In	assessment	of	the	impairment	of	goodwill	the	recoverable	amount	of	cash	generating	units	is	determined	based	on	value-in-use.		 	
 

	 These	calculations	use	weighted	cash	flow	projections	based	upon	a	base,	best-	and	worst-case	sensitivity	approved	by	Directors	covering	a	five-
year	period.	 	 	 	
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8 Goodwill continued 

 Key assumptions used for value-in-use and fair value less costs to sell calculations:   
 

    
                                2024                              2023 
    Growth Discount Growth Discount
    Rate1 Rate2 Rate1 Rate2
    % % % %

 Motors & Machines   3.00 14.40	 3.13	 12.25
 Gas products   3.00 10.95 -11.13	 1.11	 6.96-12.39
 Integrated retail   0 6.44 -9.63	 0	 6.38-10.72
    
	 ¹	Weighted	average	growth	rate	used	to	extrapolate	cash	flows	beyond	the	budget	period.	 	 	 	

²	Pre-tax	discount	rate	applied	to	the	cash	flow	projections	in	determining	the	value-in-use	(VIU).	 	 	
 

	 These	assumptions	have	been	used	for	the	analysis	of	each	CGU	within	the	business	segment.		Management	determined	the	budgeted	gross	
margin	based	on	past	performance	and	its	expectations	for	the	market	development.	The	weighted	average	growth	rates	used	are	consistent	with	
the	forecasts	included	in	industry	reports.	The	discount	rates	used	are	pre-tax	and	reflect	specific	risk	relating	to	the	relevant	segments.	

	 The	value	in	use	calculation	is	based	on	a	discounted	cash	flow	model.	The	expected	future	cash	flows	are	derived	from	approved	budgets	and	do	
not	include	restructuring	activities	that	the	Group	is	not	yet	committed	to	or	significant	future	investments	that	will	enhance	the	asset’s	performance	
of	the	cash	generating	unit	being	tested.	The	recoverable	amount	is	sensitive	to	the	discount	rate	used	for	the	discounted	cash	flow	model,	the	
expected	future	cash	inflows	and	the	growth	rate	used	for	extrapolation	purposes.

9 Other intangible assets
 Intangibles represent brands and software licenses which have been recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and are measured at carrying 

value	less	accumulated	amortisation	and	impairment.	No	impairment	has	been	recorded	during	the	years	presented.

     2024 2023
     $ $
 
 Opening net book value      116,107 63,417
 Translation adjustments      (846)  2,969
 Additions for the year      19,747   14,682 
 Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 34)     –   55,992 
 Amortisation charge for the year      (28,416)  (23,466)
 Other adjustments      (11)  2,513
 
 Net book amount      106,581   116,107 
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9 Other intangible assets continued
 
     2024 2023
     $ $

 Cost      249,325   232,446 
 Accumulated amortisation      (142,744)  (116,339)

 Net book amount      106,581   116,107 
   
	 The	amortisation	charge	is	included	in	selling,	general	and	administrative	expenses.

10 Investments in associates and joint ventures   

 Investment and advances      118,939   118,939
 Share of post-acquisition reserves      (13,611)  (14,925)
  
      105,328   104,014 
   
 Movement analysis:   
 Balance at beginning of year      104,014   140,228 
 Translation adjustments      (14)  78 
 Share of results before tax      119,030   3,792 
 Share of tax      (34,117)  (6,358)
 Dividends received      (74,062)  (13,513)
 Disposal of associates      (9,547)  (24,371)
 Additional investments and advances     –    4,778 
 Other      24   (620)

 Balance at end of year      105,328   104,014 
   
 Analysed as:   
  Individually material associates and joint ventures      102,723   86,551 
  Individually immaterial associates and joint ventures      2,605   17,463 
  
      105,328 104,014 
   
	 Share	of	profit	before	tax	of	associates	and	joint	ventures		   
 Continuing operations      119,030   3,792 
  
      119,030   3,792 
   

	 The	tables	below	provide	summarised	financial	information	for	associates	and	joint	ventures	that	are	related	to	the	Group.	The	information	disclosed	
reflects	the	amounts	presented	in	the	financial	statements	of	the	relevant	associates	and	joint	ventures	and	not	the	Group’s	share	of	those	amounts.	
A	reconciliation	to	the	net	carrying	amounts	is	included	below	to	reflect	adjustments	made	by	the	entity	when	using	the	equity	method,	including	
goodwill	and	other	adjustments.
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10 Investments in associates and joint ventures continued

                             2024                          2023
    Caribbean   Caribbean 
    Industrial   Industrial
   Massy Gases  Massy Gases
   Wood Unlimited Total Wood Unlimited Total
   $ $ $ $ $ $
 
	 Summarised	financial	position:       

Current assets  293,311   85,484   378,795  249,082   64,570   313,652 
	 Non-current	assets	 	17,721		 –	  17,721   16,181   19,513   35,694 
 Current liabilities  (136,027)  (37,402)  (173,429)  (104,416)  (24,256)  (128,672)
	 Non-current	liabilities	 	–		 –	 	–	 –		 	(19,385)	 	(19,385)

 Net assets    175,005   48,082   223,087   160,847   40,442   201,289 
       
 Reconciliation to net carrying amounts:       

Group share of joint ventures (%) 50 50  50 50 
	 Group	share	of	joint	ventures	($)	 	87,502		 	24,041		  111,543   80,423   20,221   100,644 
	 Goodwill	 	727		 –	  727 	 	727		 –	 	727	
	 Impairment	 –	 	(9,547)	  (9,547)	 –		 –	 	–	

   88,229   14,494   102,723   81,150   20,221   101,371  
      

 Other information
	 Both	Massy	Wood	and	Caribbean	Industrial	Gases	Unlimited	are	Joint	Ventures	of	Massy	Holdings	and	are	incorporated	in	Trinidad	and	Tobago.
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10 Investments in associates and joint ventures continued

     Caribbean
     Industrial   

    Gases
    Massy Wood Unlimited Curbo Total
    $ $ $ $
   
 Summarised statement of comprehensive income      
 As at September 30, 2024      
	 Revenue	 	 	 	798,003		 	28,269		 	–	  826,272  

Depreciation	and	amortisation	 	 	 	(9,421)	 		–	 	–		  (9,421) 
Interest	expense	 	 	 	(11)	 	–	 		–		  (11) 
Profit	before	tax	 	 	 	33,935		 	204,125		 	–	 	238,060  
Tax	 	 	 	(6,812)	 	(61,422)	 		–		  (68,234) 
Profit	after	tax	 	 	 	27,123		 	142,703		 		–		  169,826  
  

 Reconciliation to profit or loss:       
Group	share	of	joint	ventures	(%)	 	 	 50	 50	 		–	

	 Group	share	of	profit/(loss)	before	impairment	expenses	 		 	 16,967		 	102,063		 		–		  119,030 

	 Group	share	of	profit/(loss)	before	tax	 	 	 	16,967		 	102,063		 		–	  119,030  
Income	tax	expense	 	 	 	(3,406)	 	(30,711)	 		–	  (34,117)

 Group share of profit/(loss) for the year    13,561   71,352   	–  84,913  
  

 Summarised statement of comprehensive income       
As at September 30, 2023       
Revenue	 	 	 	664,333		 	39,991		 		–		 	704,324  
Depreciation	and	amortisation	 	 	 	(11,419)	 		–	 		–	  (11,419) 
Interest	expense	 	 	 	(29)	 	(877)	 		–	  (906) 
Profit	before	tax	 	 	 	33,042		 	4,182		 		–	  37,224  
Tax	 	 	 	(10,196)	 	(2,520)	 		–	  (12,716) 
Profit	after	tax	 	 	 	22,846		 	1,662		 		–	  24,508  
  

 Reconciliation to profit or loss:       
Group	share	of	joint	ventures	(%)	 	 	 50	 50	 19.55	 	
Group	share	of	profit/(loss)	before	impairment	expenses	 	 	 	16,521		 	2,091		 	–	  18,612  
Group	investment	impairment	 	 	 		–		 		–	 	(14,820)	  (14,820)

	 Group	share	of	profit/(loss)	before	tax	 	 	 	16,521		 	2,091		 	(14,820)	  3,792  
Income	tax	expense	 	 	 	(5,098)	 	(1,260)	 –	  (6,358) 
  

 Group share of profit/(loss) for the year    11,423   831   (14,820)  (2,566) 
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10 Investments in associates and joint ventures continued

 The Group has investments in a joint venture and an associate whose year ends are not coterminous with September 30

     Country  Reporting
     of incorporation  year end

	 Massy	Wood	Group	 	 	 	 Trinidad	and	Tobago	 		 December	31
 Curbo    Colombia  December 31

	 Both	Massy	Wood	Group	and	Curbo	have	year	ends	that	are	not	coterminous	with	the	group’s	year-end	i.e.	31	December	however	separate	
financial	statements	are	prepared	as	of	30	September	for	the	purpose	of	equity	accounting	into	the	group’s	consolidated	financial	statements.

11 Trade and other receivables

     2024 2023
     $ $

 Trade receivables      1,414,688   1,395,449 
 Receivables with related parties      8,060   15,478 
	 Less:	Provision	for	impairment	of	receivables	(Note	33.1.2)	 	 	 	 	  (252,018)  (106,102)

 Trade receivables - net      1,170,730   1,304,825 
   
	 Contract	assets	(Note	11.1)	 		 	 	 	 139,301   151,862 
	 Less:	provision	for	impairment	of	contract	assets	(Note	11.1)	 	 	 	 	  (81)  (81)
 Prepayments      164,012   133,231 
 Other debtors       878,563   782,644 
	 Less:	provision	for	impairment	of	other	debtors	(Note	33.1.2)	 		 	 	 	 (2,059)  (1,928)

 Other debtors and prepayments - net      1,179,736   1,065,728 
 
       2,350,466   2,370,553 
   
 Non-current portion      22,002   26,472 
 Current portion      2,328,464   2,344,081 

       2,350,466   2,370,553 
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11 Trade and other receivables continued

 11.1 Contract assets comprises:   
   

     2024 2023
      $ $
   
 Unbilled income      99,229   109,072 
	 Assets	recognised	from	costs	to	fulfil	a	contract	 	 	 	 	  112   107 
 Service contracts      39,879   42,602
 
       139,220  151,781 
   
	 The	contract	assets	and	other	debtors	are	subjected	to	impairment	testing	under	IFRS	9.	The	basis	for	impairment	is	explained	in	Note	

33.1.2.	

	 Contract	assets	have	decreased	as	the	Group	has	provided	less	services	ahead	of	the	agreed	payment	schedules	for	fixed-price	contracts.

12 Financial assets

     2024 2023
     $ $

   
 At amortised cost:   
 - Bonds      387,455  564,993 
 - Less: provision for impairment of bonds      (1,515)  (939)
 - Instalment credit, hire purchase receivables and other accounts     778,237   776,530 
 - Less: provision for impairment of instalment credit, hire purchase receivables and other accounts   (42,247)  (31,633)

       1,121,930   1,308,951
 
	 Fair	value	through	profit	or	loss:   
 - Listed equities      1,623   8,473 
 - Unlisted equities      212   212 
 - Investment funds      213,778   139,419 
 - Structured notes     –  56,537 

       215,613   204,641 
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12 Financial assets continued

     2024 2023
     $ $
 
 Fair value through other comprehensive income:   
 - Bonds and treasury bills       931,548   1,424,771 
 - Less: provision for impairment of bonds and Treasury Bills      (347)   (293)
 - Unlisted equities      101,106   90,475 

       1,032,307   1,514,953 

 Total      2,369,850   3,028,545 
   
 Non-current portion      1,533,367   1,622,259 
 Current portion      836,483   1,406,286 

       2,369,850  3,028,545 
   
   

 12.1  Finance leases   
	 Included	in	instalment	credit	and	other	accounts	are	amounts	relating	to	finance	leases	as	follows:	 	 	
   
 Not later than 1 year      3,276   4,274 
 Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years      2,742   3,183 

       6,018   7,457 
	 Unearned	finance	charges	on	finance	leases	 	 	 	 	  (6)  (22)

 Net	investment	on	finance	leases      6,012   7,435 
   
 Not later than 1 year      3,276   4,261 
 Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years      2,736   3,174 

       6,012  7,435 
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13 Deferred income tax
	 Deferred	income	taxes	are	calculated	in	full,	on	temporary	differences	under	the	liability	method	using	a	principal	tax	rate	of	30%	(2023:	30%).

 The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as follows:
 Deferred income tax assets

  Accelerated    
  depreciation Tax losses Leases Pension Other Total
  $ $ $ $ $ $

 Year ended September 30, 2024      
 At beginning of year  44,161   17,036   39,657   18,173   32,602   151,629 
	 Credit/(charge)	to	profit	or	loss	 	5,026		 	26,410		 	1,553		 	3,314		 	(5,099)	  31,204 
	 Exchange	adjustment	 	(214)	 	(356)	 	(207)	 –		 	(1,123)	  (1,900)
 Other movements  (3,084)  (2,937)  (69)  (136)  (672)  (6,898)

 At end of year 45,889 40,153 40,934 21,351 25,708 174,035
      
 Year ended September 30, 2023      
 At beginning of year  15,904   18,029   38,639   15,864   45,454   133,890 
	 Credit/(charge)	to	profit	or	loss	 	5,034		 	(724)	 	904		 	1,145		 	(2,371)	  3,988 
 Exchange adjustment  61   158   84   2   4,210   4,515 
	 Acquisition	of	subsidiary	(Note	34)	 	1,162		 –			 	–			 –			 –			  1,162 
 Other movements  22,000   (427)  30   1,162   (14,691)  8,074 

 At end of year 44,161 17,036 39,657 18,173 32,602 151,629
      
      
	 Deferred	tax	assets	are	recognised	for	tax	losses	carried-forward	to	the	extent	that	the	realisation	of	the	related	tax	benefit	through	the	future	taxable	

profits	is	probable.	The	Group	does	not	have	any	unrecorded	deferred	tax	asset	for	unutilised	losses	at	September	30,	2024.	
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13 Deferred income tax continued

 Deferred income tax liabilities

    Accelerated Pension  
    depreciation plan surplus Other Total
    $ $ $ $
 
 Year ended September 30, 2024    
 At beginning of year    153,520   120,173   59,990   333,683 
	 Charge/(credit)	to	profit	or	loss	 		 	 19,458		 	(873)	 	(2,237)	  16,348 
 Exchange adjustment    (784)  (105)  (1,351)  (2,240)
 Other movements    88   24,069   (12,428)  11,729 

 At end of year   172,282 143,264 43,974 359,520
    
 Year ended September 30, 2023    
 At beginning of year    51,419   138,092   34,699   224,210 
	 Credit	to	profit	or	loss	 	 	 	(7,269)	 	(5,712)	 	(386)	  (13,367)
 Exchange adjustment    (38)  47   2,959   2,968 
	 Acquisition	of	subsidiary	(Note	34)	 	 	 	88,017		 –		 	–		  88,017 
	 Reclassified	to	held	for	sale	(Note	35)	 	 	 	(66)	 –		 	–		  (66)
 Other movements    21,457   (12,254)  22,718   31,921 

 At end of year   153,520 120,173 59,990 333,683

    
14 Retirement benefit assets/obligations
   Retirement	benefit	assets

       2024 2023
        $ $
 
   Neal & Massy Group Pension Fund Plan     413,282 360,078
	 		 Overseas	plans	–	Other	 	 	 	 	 69,516 43,557
  
        482,798 403,635
 
	 		 The	pension	plans	were	valued	by	independent	actuaries	using	the	projected	unit	credit	method.



72    Massy Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2024 excerpts  

14 Retirement benefit assets/obligations continued
   Retirement	benefit	assets continued

   Neal & Massy Group Pension Fund Plan
	 		 The	amounts	recognised	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	are	as	follows:

       2024 2023
        $ $

   Fair value of plan assets     1,805,887 1,754,393
   Present value of obligation     (1,392,605) (1,394,315)

   Asset in the statement of financial position     413,282 360,078

	 The	movement	in	the	present	value	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation	is	as	follows:
	 Opening	present	value	of	defined	benefit	obligation		 	 	 	 	 1,394,315 1,323,001
 Current service cost     39,564 38,475
 Interest cost     82,078 64,831
 Actuarial (losses)/gains on obligation     (70,653) 20,778
	 Benefits	paid	 	 	 	 	 (52,699) (52,770)

 Closing present value of defined benefit obligation at September 30     1,392,605 1,394,315

 The movement in the fair value of plan assets for the year is as follows:
 Opening fair value of plan assets     1,754,393 1,838,122
 Expected return on plan assets     104,188 84,265
 Actuarial losses on plan assets     (16,832) (131,969)
 Employer contribution     16,837 16,745
	 Benefits	paid	 	 	 	 	 (52,699) (52,770)

 Closing fair value of plan assets at September 30     1,805,887 1,754,393

	 The	amounts	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss	are	as	follows:
 Current service cost     39,564 38,475
 Net interest cost     (22,110) (19,434)

 Total included in profit or loss     17,454 19,041

 Actuarial (gains)/losses recognised in other comprehensive  income before tax   (53,821) 17,929

	 Movement	in	the	asset	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position:
 Asset at beginning of year     360,078 380,303
 Net pension expense     (17,454) (19,041)
 Employer contribution     16,837 16,745
 Actuarial gains/(losses)     53,821 (17,929)

 Asset at end of year     413,282 360,078
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14 Retirement benefit assets/obligations continued
   Retirement	benefit	assets continued
   Neal & Massy Group Pension Fund Plan continued

 The principal actuarial assumptions used were:
      2024 2023 

     Per annum Per annum
      % %

 Discount rate     6 6
 Future salary increases     6 6
	 Future	pension	increases	–	post	retirement	 	 	 	 	 5 5

	 Sensitivity	–	change	in	discount	rate	 	 	 	 	 1% increase 1% increase

 Sensitivity impact     (205,418) (205,663)

 
	 Assumptions	regarding	future	mortality	experience	are	set	based	on	advice	from	published	statistics	and	experience	in	each	territory.

     2024 2023

 Plan assets are comprised as follows:
 Local equities/mutual funds     24% 31%
 Local bonds/mortgages     18% 16%
 Foreign investments     54% 48%
 Deferred annuities/insurance policy     3% 3%
 Short-term securities/cash/accrued income     1% 2%

 The average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 60 is as follows:
 Male     81 81
 Female     85 85

 Overseas plans – I.G.L. Limited, HD Hopwood Jamaica & Massy Guyana Staff Pension Fund Plans
 
       2024 2023
        $ $
 
	 The	amounts	recognised	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	are	as	follows:	
 Fair value of plan assets     434,805 464,091
	 Present	value	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation	 	 	 	 	 (271,788) (270,571)

      163,017 193,520
 Unutilisable asset     (93,501) (149,961)

 Asset recognised in the statement of financial position     69,516 43,559
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14 Retirement benefit assets/obligations continued
   Overseas plans – I.G.L. Limited, HD Hopwood Jamaica & Massy Guyana Staff Pension Fund Plans continued

       2024 2023
        $ $
 
	 The	movement	in	the	defined	benefit	obligation	over	the	year	is	as	follows:
	 Opening	present	value	of	defined	benefit	obligation	 	 	 	  270,571 183,657
 Current service cost     6,773 27,026
 Interest cost     21,483 14,051
 Plan participant contributions     7,387 6,388
 Actuarial losses on obligation     (18,779) 51,924
	 Exchange	differences	on	foreign	plans	 	 	 	  (4,398) (996)
	 Benefits	paid	 	 	 	 	 (11,249) (11,479)

 Closing present value of defined benefit obligation     271,788 270,571

 The movement in the fair value of plan assets for the year is as follows:
 Opening fair value of plan assets     464,091 451,075
 Income from discount rate on utilisable plan assets     31,926 18,048
 Actual return on assets greater than above     (54,556) 10,452
 Assets disbursed on settlement     – (9,682)
	 Exchange	differences	on	foreign	plans	 	 	 	  (7,720) (5,152)
 Employer contributions     5,218 4,662
 Plan participant contributions     7,387 6,388
 Administration expenses     (292) (221)
	 Benefits	paid	 	 	 	  (11,249) (11,479)

 Closing fair value of plan assets at September 30     434,805 464,091

	 The	amounts	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss	are	as	follows:
 Current service cost     6,773 6,386
 Net interest cost     (10,443) (3,997)
 Administration expenses     292 221
 Curtailments and settlements     – 9,682

 Total included in other income     (3,378) 12,292

 Actual return on plan assets     (22,630) (45,465)
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14 Retirement benefit assets/obligations continued
   Overseas plans – I.G.L. Limited, HD Hopwood Jamaica & Massy Guyana Staff Pension Fund Plans continued

       2024 2023
        $ $

	 	Movement	in	the	asset	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position:
 Asset at beginning of year     43,559 36,537
 Actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive     17,361 (38,675)
 Net pension income/(expense)     3,378 41,035
 Employer contributions     5,218 4,662

 Asset at end of year     69,516 43,559

 Actuarial (gains)/losses recognised in other comprehensive income     (17,361) 38,675

 
 The principal actuarial assumptions used were:
    
      Per annum Per annum
      % %

 Discount rate     5-11 5-13
 Future salary increases     5-10.5 5-11
 Future national insurance increases     4 4
 Future pension increases     2-6	 2-5.5
 Future bonuses     0-2 0-2

	 Assumptions	regarding	future	mortality	experience	are	set	based	on	advice	from	published	statistics	and	experience	in	each	territory.

      2024 2023
        $ $

 Retirement	benefit	obligations
	 Massy	Holdings/BS&T/Hopwood	–	medical	pension	plan	 	 	 	  (150,163) (147,926)
	 Barbados	Shipping	&	Trading	(BS&T)	–	pension	plan	 	 	 	 	 37,812 36,321

      (112,351) (111,605)
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14 Retirement benefit assets/obligations continued

 Barbados Shipping & Trading (BS&T) – pension plan
 
      2024 2023
        $ $
 
	 The	amounts	recognised	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	are	as	follows:
 Fair value of plan assets     596,687 586,753
	 Present	value	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation	 	 	 	 	 (500,485) (494,497)

      96,202 92,256
 Unrecognised asset due to limit     (58,390) (55,935)

 Asset in the statement of financial position     37,812 36,321

	 The	movement	in	the	defined	benefit	obligation	over	the	year	is	as	follows:
	 Opening	present	value	of	defined	benefit	obligation	 	 	 	 	 494,497 503,722 
 Current service cost     4,153 4,754
 Interest cost     37,106 37,888
 Past service cost     – (3,591)
 Actuarial gains/(losses) on obligation     2,655 (9,463)
	 Exchange	differences	on	foreign	plans	 	 	 	 	 (699) 1,147
	 Benefits	paid	 	 	 	 	 (37,227) (39,960)

 Closing present value of defined benefit obligation at September 30    500,485 494,497

 The movement in the fair value of plan assets for the year is as follows:
 Opening fair value of plan assets     586,753 595,711
 Income from discount rate on utilisable plan assets     40,182 41,273
 Actual return on assets less than above     (7,327) (20,177)
 Administration expenses     (125) (121)
 Employer contributions     15,253 8,662
	 Exchange	differences	 	 	 	 	 (822) 1,365
	 Benefits	paid	 	 	 	 	 (37,227) (39,960)

 Closing fair value of plan assets at September 30     596,687 586,753
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14 Retirement benefit assets/obligations continued
    Barbados Shipping & Trading (BS&T) – pension plan continued

      2024 2023
        $ $

	 The	amounts	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss	are	as	follows:
 Current service cost     4,153 4,754
 Net interest income     (3,076) (3,385)
 Past service cost     – (3,591)
 Administration expenses     125 121

	 Income	recognised	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss	 	 	 	 	 1,202 (2,101)

 Actual return on plan assets     (32,855) (21,096)

 Liability at beginning of year     36,321 44,077
 Expense recognised in other comprehensive income     (12,560) (18,519)
 Net pension income     (1,202) 2,101
 Contributions paid     15,253 8,662

 Asset at end of year     37,812 36,321

      2024 2023
      Per annum Per annum
      % %

 The principal actuarial assumptions used were:
 Discount rates     7.75	 7.75
 Future salary increases     5.75	 5.75
 Future NIS increases     3.5	 3.5
	 Future	pension	increases	–	past	service	 	 	 	 	 0.75	 0.75
	 Future	pension	increases	–	future	service	 	 	 	  0.75	 0.75

	 Assumptions	regarding	future	mortality	experience	were	obtained	from	published	statistics	and	experience	in	each	territory.
 
 The average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 65 is as follows:
      2024 2023
  
 Male     83 83
 Female     86 86
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14 Retirement benefit assets/obligations continued
    Barbados Shipping & Trading (BS&T) – pension plan continued

 BS&T – medical plans

 The principal actuarial assumptions used were:

      2024 2023
      Per annum Per annum
      % %

 Discount rate     7.75	 7.75
 Annual increase in health care     4.5	 4.5

 Other Plans: Massy Holdings/BS&T/Hopwood Medical Fund Plan 

      2024 2023
        $ $

	 The	amounts	recognised	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	are	as	follows:		
	 Present	value	of	the	defined	benefit	obligation	 	 	 	  (150,163) (147,926)

 Liability recognised in the statement of financial position    (150,163) (147,926)

	 The	movement	in	the	defined	benefit	obligation	over	the	year	is	as	follows:
	 Opening	present	value	of	defined	benefit	obligation	 	 	 	  (147,926) (121,792)
 Current service cost     (7,519) (13,102)
 Interest cost     (12,163) (8,913)
 Actuarial gains on obligation     (4,373) (8,520)
 Past service cost     (49) 1,049
 Liabilities extinguished on curtailment     16,349	 –
	 Exchange	differences	on	foreign	plans		 	 	 	 	 559 (1,194)
	 Benefits	paid	 	 	 	 	 4,959 4,546

 Closing present value of defined benefit obligation     (150,163) (147,926)

	 The	amounts	recognised	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss	are	as	follows:
 Current service cost     (7,519) (6,224)
 Net interest cost     (12,163) (8,913)
 Past Service cost     (49) 1,049

 Total income recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss    (19,731) (14,088)

 The amounts recognised in other comprehensive income:
 Actuarial gains/(losses) recognised in other comprehensive income    4,373 8,520
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14 Retirement benefit assets/obligations continued
    Other Plans: Massy Holdings/BS&T/Hopwood Medical Fund Plan continued

 The principal actuarial assumptions used were:

      2024 2023
        Per annum Per annum
        % %

 Barbados Shipping & Trading (BS&T) 
 Discount rate     7.75	 7.75
 Annual Increases in Healthcare Costs     4.5	 4.5

 Hopwood Medical Fund Plan
 Discount rate     11 13
 Annual increases in healthcare costs     10.5	 12.5

 Neal & Massy Group Medical Fund Plan
 Discount rate     6 6
 Annual increases in healthcare costs     5 4

15 Inventories

     Gross Provision 2024
     $ $ $

 Finished goods and goods for resale     2,060,321   (64,663)    1,995,658  
	 Goods	in	transit	 	 	 	 	285,352			 														–		  285,352  
 Raw materials and consumables     62,432    (28,066)    34,366  
	 Work	in	Progress	 	 	 	 	18,283			 	(45)			  18,238  
 
     2,426,388  (92,774)  2,333,614
   
   
     Gross Provision 2023
     $ $ $

 Finished goods and goods for resale     2,248,322   (76,614)  2,171,708 
	 Goods	in	transit	 	 	 	 	212,361		 	–		  212,361 
 Raw materials and consumables     57,471   (6,348)  51,123 
	 Work	in	Progress	 	 	 	 	17,010		 	(1,800)	  15,210 
 
      2,535,164   (84,762)  2,450,402 
   
	 The	cost	of	inventories	recognised	in	expense	and	included	in	cost	of	sales	amounted	to	$10,630,552	(2023:	$9,490,379).
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16 Statutory deposits with regulators
	 This	solely	relates	to	Massy	Finance	GFC	Ltd.	The	Financial	Institutions	Act,	2008	requires	that	every	non-banking	financial	institution	licensed	under	

the Act in the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago hold and maintain a non-interest bearing deposit account with the Central Bank of Trinidad and 
Tobago	equivalent	to	9%	of	the	total	deposit	liabilities	of	that	institution.	As	at	30	September	2024	and	2023,	Massy	Finance	GFC	Ltd	complied	with	
the	above	requirement.

17 Cash and cash equivalents 

      2024 2023
        $ $

 Cash at Hand and in bank      1,559,391   1,249,196 
 Short term bank deposit      40,862   40,490 
  
      1,600,253   1,289,686 

	 Deposits	have	an	average	maturity	of	less	than	90	days.
	 Cash,	cash	equivalents	and	bank	overdrafts	include	the	following	for	the	purposes	of	the	cash	flow	statement:
  
 Cash and cash equivalents      1,600,253   1,289,686 
 Bank overdrafts (Note 22)      (91,225)  (78,236)
 
 Cash, net of bank overdrafts      1,509,028   1,211,450 
  

18 Share capital

     Number of Ordinary
     shares # shares Total
     ‘000 $ $

 At September 30, 2024    1,979,385 764,344 764,344

 At September 30, 2023    1,979,385 764,344 764,344

	 The	total	authorised	number	of	ordinary	shares	is	unlimited	with	no	par	value.		All	issued	shares	are	fully	paid.

19 Dividends per share

      2024 2023
        $ $

	 Interim	paid:	2024	–	3.15	cents	per	share	(2023	–	3.15	cents)		 	 	  62,351 62,351
	 Final	paid:	2023	–	12.68	cents	per	share	(2022	–	12.68	cents)		 	 	  250,986 250,986

      313,337 313,337
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19 Dividends per share continued

 On	November	19,	2024,	the	Board	of	Directors	of	Massy	Holdings	Ltd.	declared	a	final	dividend	per	share	of	13.63	cents,	bringing	the	total	
dividends	per	share	for	the	financial	year	ended	September	30,	2024,	to	16.78	cents	(2023	–	15.83	cents).

20 Other reserves

     Statutory
     and general
   Translation Catastrophe banking Other 

  reserve reserve reserves amounts  Total 
   (Note 20.2) (Note 20.1)  

   $ $ $ $ $

 As at September 30, 2024     
 Balance at beginning of year   (162,057)  345,853   17,390   (223,086)  (21,900)
	 Currency	translation	adjustments	 	 	(42,603)	 –		 	–		 	–	  (42,603)
	 Other	reserve	movements	 	 –		 	18,834		 	–		 	(7,694)	 	11,140 

 Balance at the end of year   (204,660)  364,687   17,390   (230,780)  (53,363)
     
 As at September 30, 2023     
 Balance at beginning of year   (207,258)  345,959   17,390   (223,994)  (67,903)
	 Currency	translation	adjustments	 	 	45,201		 –	 –		 	–	  45,201 
	 Other	reserve	movements	 	 –		 	(106)	 –		 	908		  802 

 Balance at the end of year   (162,057)  345,853   17,390   (223,086)  (21,900)
     

20.1 Statutory and general banking reserves
 These are applicable to Massy Finance (GFC) Ltd as follows: 

• Statutory	Reserve	–	The	Financial	Institutions	Act,	2008	requires	a	financial	institution	to	transfer	annually	a	minimum	of	10%	of	its	profit	
after	taxation	to	a	reserve	fund	until	the	balance	on	this	reserve	is	equal	to	the	paid-up	capital	of	the	institution.	The	reserve	amounted	to	
$15,000	(2023:	$15,000).

•  General	Banking	Reserve	–	In	keeping	with	the	Financial	Institutions	(Prudential	Criteria)	Regulations,	1994,	the	Company	has	set	aside	
a	reserve	out	of	retained	earnings	to	provide	against	unforeseen	losses	on	the	loan	portfolio.	The	reserve	amounted	to	$2,390	(2023:	
$2,390).

 
20.2 Catastrophe reserve
 This comprises reserves arising from The Interregional Reinsurance Company Limited (TIRCL):

•	 Appropriations	from	Retained	Earnings	are	periodically	made	to	this	reserve	as	determined	by	the	Directors.	The	reserve	is	intended	to	
be	only	available	to	meet	both	current	and	future	losses	arising	under	the	entity’s	insurance	policies	from	catastrophic	events.	The	reserve	
amounted	to	$364,687	(2023:	$345,853).
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21 Non-controlling interests
 The following is an analysis of non-controlling interests which are material and individually immaterial to the Group:

      2024 2023
        $ $

 Accumulated balances with non-controlling interests
 Material non-controlling interests       155,202   137,837 
 Individually immaterial non-controlling interests       73,143   69,200 

       228,345   207,037 
  
 Profit	for	the	year	from	non-controlling	interests  
 Material non-controlling interests      39,511   36,324 
 Individually immaterial non-controlling interests      12,323   12,413 
  
      51,834   48,737 
  

	 Individually	immaterial	non-controlling	interests	include	Massy	Guyana	Group,	Massy	Stores	(SVG)	Ltd	and	Knights	Limited.

 The table below shows a movement analysis of Massy Stores (SLU) Ltd, the only subsidiary with non-controlling interests that is material to the 
Group.	The	amounts	included	represents	the	share	attributable	to	the	non-controlling	interests.

      2024 2023
        $ $

      40% 40%
 Balance at beginning of year      137,837   123,935 
 Total comprehensive income for the year      39,511   36,324 
 Dividends      (22,038)  (19,466)
 Currency translation adjustments      82   178 
 Other adjustments      (190)  (3,134)

 Balance at end of year      155,202   137,837 
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21 Non-controlling interests continued

	 Set	out	below	is	summarised	financial	information	for	each	subsidiary	that	has	non-controlling	interests	that	are	material	to	the	Group.	The	amounts	
disclosed	for	each	subsidiary	are	the	amounts	as	per	the	entities’	financial	statements	before	inter-company	eliminations.

      2024 2023
      $ $

	 Summarised	financial	position:   
 Current assets      343,335   311,480
 Non-current assets      359,072   289,471
 Current liabilities      (141,465)  (141,473)
 Non-current liabilities      (155,524)  (101,107)
 Indirect NCI      (8,611)  (7,591)

 Net assets        396,807   350,780

 Summarised statement of comprehensive income:   
 Revenue      1,619,449   1,563,475
	 Profit	attributable	to	parent	 	 	 	   98,777   90,809

 Total comprehensive income for the year      98,777   90,809

 NCI share (%)      40   40
	 NCI	share		($)	 	 	 	 	  39,511   36,324

 Summarised	statement	of	cash	flows:   
 Operating activities      157,768   172,455
 Investing activities      (30,581)  (25,014)
 Financing activities      (107,960)  (109,381)

 Net change in cash flows      19,227   38,060 
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22 Borrowings

      2024 2023
      $ $

 Secured advances and mortgage loans      1,457,382   1,903,323 
 Unsecured advances      1,437,077   1,465,389 
 Bank overdrafts (Note 17)      91,225   78,236 
 Bankers’ acceptance      10,000   10,000 
 Loans from related parties     –  33,592 
 Total borrowings      2,995,684   3,490,540 
 Less short-term borrowings      (1,610,484)  (2,002,927)

 Medium and long-term borrowings      1,385,200   1,487,613 
  
 Short-term	borrowings	comprise:  
 Bank overdrafts (Note 17)      91,225   78,236 
 Bankers’ acceptance      10,000   10,000 
 Current portion of other borrowings      1,509,259   1,914,691 
  
      1,610,484   2,002,927 
  
  
	 On	July	30,	2014,	Massy	Holdings	Ltd.	issued	a	$1.2B	TT	Dollar	Unsecured	Fixed	Rate	Bond	in	two	$600M	series,	Series	A	with	a	tenor	of	10	years	

and	a	4.00%	coupon,	and	Series	B	with	a	tenor	of	15	years	and	a	5.25%	coupon.	RBC	Merchant	Bank	(Caribbean)	Limited	was	the	Arranger	and	
RBC	Trust	(Trinidad	&	Tobago)	Limited	was	the	Trustee.	The	bond	repays	interest	semi-annually	and	the	principal	at	maturity.	The	bond	payable	is	
shown	net	of	any	investor’s	interests	held	by	the	parent.	Series	A	of	the	Bond	matured	in	July	2024	and	was	refinanced	by	short-term	commercial	
financing	arrangement	which	will	mature	in	January	2025,	this	is	reflected	in	the	current	portion	of	borrowings.

	 Secured	advances	and	mortgage	loans	include	secured	liabilities	(margin	line)	against	US$	investment	portfolio	equivalent	to	$939,363	(2023:	
$1,438,118).

	 Where	applicable,	the	Group	has	complied	with	the	financial	covenants	of	its	borrowing	facilities	during	the	2024	and	2023	reporting	periods.

	 Bank	borrowings	are	secured	by	the	land	and	building	of	the	Group.
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22 Borrowings continued

22.1 Net debt reconciliation

     Cash and cash  Borrowings
     equivalents, net net of 

 ,    of overdrafts overdrafts Total 
    (Note 17)   
    $ $ $

 
Year ended September 30, 2024    
At beginning of year     1,211,450   (3,412,304)  (2,200,854)
Proceeds	on	new	borrowings	 	 	 	 –	 	(2,778,256)	  (2,778,256)
Principal	repayments	on	borrowings	 	 	 	 –		 	3,274,990		  3,274,990
	Effect	of	exchange	rate	changes	on	cash	and	bank	overdrafts	 		 	 (7,937)	 	9,453		  1,516
Other	cash	flows	 	 	 	 305,516		 	1,658		  307,174

At end of year     1,509,029   (2,904,459)  (1,395,430)

Year ended September 30, 2023    
At beginning of year     1,169,333   (1,728,442)  (559,109)
Proceeds	on	new	borrowings	 	 	 	 –		 	(3,020,792)	  (3,020,792)
Principal	repayments	on	borrowings	 	 	 	 	–	 	1,362,985		 	1,362,985
Effect	of	exchange	rate	changes	on	cash	and	bank	overdrafts	 	 	 5,723		 	(27,668)	  (21,945)
Other	cash	flows	 	 	 	 	36,394		 	1,613		  38,007

At end of year     1,211,450   (3,412,304)  (2,200,854)

    
23 Customers’ deposits
	 These	represent	the	deposits	for	fixed	terms	accepted	mainly	by	Massy	Finance	GFC	Ltd.

      2024 2023
      $ $

 Payable within one year      583,167    604,054
	 Payable	between	two	and	five	years	 	 	 	   279,455    262,400 
 
       862,622   866,454 
  
 Sectorial analysis of deposit balances  
 Private sector      459,785   460,950 
 Consumers      402,837   405,504 

       862,622   866,454 
  
	 Interest	expense	on	customers’	deposits	of	$28,970	(2023:	$21,672)	is	shown	within	“other	direct	costs”	in	Note	25.	



86    Massy Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2024 excerpts  

24 Trade and other payables 

      2024 2023
      $ $

 Trade creditors      993,176    1,035,993 
	 Contract	liabilities	(Note	24.1)	 	 	 	   28,044    22,129 
	 Other	payables	(Note	24.2)	 	 	 	 	  785,454    893,538
 
       1,806,674   1,951,660
 
 Current      1,789,299    1,943,615 
 Non current      17,375    8,045 
  
      1,806,674    1,951,660 
  

24.1 Contract liabilities  
 Analysis of contract liabilities:  
 Deferred income      3,635   6,463 
 Customer loyalty programmes      22,769   14,201 
 Extended warranty programmes      918   842 
 Other      722   623 
 
       28,044   22,129 
  
 Expected timing of revenue recognition:  
	 Within	1	year	 		 	 	  28,044    21,589 
 After 1 year     –   540 
  
      28,044    22,129 
  
 Revenue recognised in current period that was included in the contract liability 
   balance at the beginning of the period      4,879    2,313
 
  
24.2	 Included	in	other	payables	is	the	provision	for	the	Long-Term	Incentive	Plan.	The	Shareholders	of	Massy	Holdings	Ltd	approved	a	Long-term	

Incentive	Plan	for	the	benefit	of	selected	Senior	Executives	of	Massy	Holdings	Ltd	and	its	subsidiaries.	Individuals	are	awarded	an	incentive	
based	on	a	pre-defined	multiple	of	their	salary.	This	amount	is	then	converted	into	an	equivalent	number	of	phantom	shares	which	are	then	
adjusted	to	reflect	individual	Key	Performance	Indicators.	The	phantom	shares	awarded	are	subject	to	a	vesting	period	of	three	years.	On	the	
vesting	date,	the	settlement	amount	is	determined	by	multiplying	the	number	of	phantom	shares	by	the	phantom	share	grant	price.	The	latter	
is	determined	by	applying	a	pre-determined	P/E	ratio	to	the	EPS	preceding	the	year	of	settlement.

      2024 2023
      $ $

 Balance at the end of the year     47,527 53,479
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25 Operating profit before finance costs

      2024 2023
      $ $

 Revenue:  
 -  Sale of goods     14,337,698 12,923,165
 -  Rendering of services     1,305,067 1,201,984
	 -		 Net	interest	and	other	investment	income	(Note	25.1)	 	 	 	 	 80,372 70,135

       15,723,137 14,195,284

 Cost of sales and other direct costs:  
 -  Cost of sales      (10,630,553)  (9,490,379)
 -  Other direct costs      (873,163)  (692,049)
 
      (11,503,716) (10,182,428)
  
 

25.1 ‘Net	interest	and	other	investment	income’	is	attributable	to	loans	to	customers	and	other	financial	assets	held	for	investment	purposes	only.	
Income from bank balances, short term investments, treasuries and other securities held for cash management purposes is included within 
finance	income	(Note	27).

25.2 The following items were included in administrative and other operating expenses from continuing operations:

      2024 2023
      $ $

	 Staff	and	staff	related	costs	 	 	 	  2,082,731 1,913,902
	 Expected	credit	losses/net	impairment	expense	on	financial	assets	(Note	33.1.2):	 	
 -  Trade and other receivables     149,516 47,781
 -  Corporate and sovereign bonds     515  (287)
	 -		 Instalment	credit,	hire	purchase	accounts	and	other	financial	assets	 	 	 	 11,757 11,514
 Short term lease rental     47,131 30,581
 Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment    367,340 303,254
 Depreciation of right-of-use assets     108,403 106,799
 Amortisation of other intangible assets     28,416 23,466
 Directors fees     3,978 4,037
 Other expenses     486,656 530,097

 Total administrative and operating expenses      3,286,443 2,971,144
       

 
	 Audit	fees	for	the	year	ended	September	30,	2024,	amounted	to	$11,405	(2023:	$11,534).	Other	fees	paid	to	the	auditor	(and	related	

network	firms)	for	non-assurance	services	amounted	to	$414	(2023:	$570).
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26 Staff costs
	 Staff	costs	included	in	cost	of	sales,	selling,	general	and	administrative	expenses	are	as	follows:

      2024 2023
      $ $

	 Wages	and	salaries	and	termination	benefits	 	 	 	 	 1,735,507  1,566,453
 Pension cost     55,497  58,321
 
      1,791,004 1,624,774
  
 Average number of persons employed by the Group during the year:  
 Full time     9,224  10,935
 Part time     4,604  2,580

      13,828  13,515
  

27 Finance costs – net

 Finance costs:  
 Interest expense on borrowings     227,960 160,716
 Unwinding of interest on restoration liability     1,850 295
	 Interest	expense	on	lease	liabilities	(Note	6.3)	 	 	 	 	 61,855 56,659

      291,665 217,670

 Finance income:  
	 Finance	income	(Note	27.2)	 	 	 	  (52,501) (48,883)

 Finance cost- net     239,164 168,787
  
  

27.1 Borrowing costs capitalised during the year $1,680 (2023: $1,654).

27.2 Income from bank balances, short term investments, treasuries and other securities held for cash management purposes is shown within 
finance	income.
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28 Income tax expense 

      2024 2023
      $ $

 Current tax     439,138 411,988
 Deferred tax     (14,855) (9,378)
 Business levy/withholding taxes     2,604 (6,854)

      426,887 395,756

	 In	the	current	and	prior	years,	the	Group’s	effective	tax	rate	of	32%	differed	from	the	statutory	
   Trinidad and Tobago tax rate of 30%, as follows:

 Profit before income tax     1,135,185 1,229,055

 Tax calculated at a tax rate of 30%      356,089 393,297
	 Effect	of	different	tax	rates	in	other	countries	 	 	 	 	 112,124 42,815
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes     154,082 142,539
 Income not subject to tax     (214,254) (169,198)
 Business levy/withholding taxes     2,604 (6,854)
	 Effect	of	change	in	overseas	tax	rate	 	 	 	 	 (6,680) (11,408)
 Adjustments to prior year tax provisions     22,922 4,565

 Income tax expense     426,887 395,756
 
 The income tax expense is attributable to:
 Trinidad and Tobago subsidiaries     134,419 173,518
 Overseas subsidiaries     258,351 215,880
 Associated companies     34,117 6,358
      
      426,887 395,756

29 Earnings per share
	 Basic	earnings	per	share	is	calculated	by	dividing	the	profit	attributable	to	equity	holders	of	the	Group	by	the	weighted	average	number	of	ordinary	

shares	in	issue	during	the	year.

      2024 2023
      $ $

	 Profit	attributable	to	shareholders:	
 - from continuing operations     656,464 784,562
 - from discontinued operations     4,135 (20,367)
  
       660,599 764,195

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)    1,979,385 1,979,385
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29 Earnings per share continued

      2024 2023
      $ $

 Basic earnings per share
 - from continuing operations     33.17	 39.64
 - from discontinued operations     0.21	 (1.03)
  
       33.38 38.61

30 Contingencies
 Subsidiaries
	 The	Property	Tax	Act	of	2009	(PTA)	was	enacted	into	law	by	the	Government	of	the	Republic	of	Trinidad	and	Tobago	(GORTT),	effective	from	1	

January	2010.	On	28	March	2024	there	was	an	amendment	to	the	PTA	that	was	passed	by	the	GORTT	however,	this	does	not	have	any	effect	on	
the	group.	As	of	present	date	there	have	been	no	further	changes	to	the	legislation	or	extension	of	the	waivers	previously	granted	by	the	GORTT.	
While	a	present	obligation	exists,	commercial	taxpayers	are	unable	to	reliably	estimate	the	liability	as	the	basis	for	fair	value	at	this	time	has	not	been	
clarified.	Property	tax	was	not	accrued	for	the	year	ended	September	30,	2024.	

 At September 30, 2024 the Group had contingent liabilities in respect of customs bonds, guarantees and other matters arising in the ordinary 
course	of	business	amounting	to	$398,639	(2023:	$354,812).	

	 Group	companies	are	defendants	in	various	legal	actions.		In	the	opinion	of	the	Directors,	after	taking	appropriate	legal	advice,	the	outcome	of	such	
actions	will	not	give	rise	to	any	material	unprovided	losses.

 Other investments
	 Included	within	the	contingencies	above	is	the	guarantee	entered	into	by	Massy	Holdings	Ltd.	with	Mitsubishi	Heavy	Industries,	Ltd	(MHI)	under	

which	it	guaranteed	payment	of	10%	of	the	base	equity	commitment	for	Caribbean	Gas	Chemical	Limited.	MHL’s	maximum	liability	under	
guarantees	is	$200,147	(2023:	$200,432).	In	October	2023,	the	guarantee	of	10%	of	Caribbean	Gas	Chemical	Limited’s	payment	obligations	to	MHI	
under	the	contracts	for	the	engineering	procurement	and	construction	of	the	methanol	and	DME	plants	expired.

31 Commitments
 Capital commitments

	 Capital	expenditure	contracted	at	the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	date	but	not	yet	incurred	is	as	follows:

      2024 2023
      $ $

Property, plant and equipment     137,965  70,032
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31 Commitments continued
 Capital commitments continued

Operating lease commitments - where a Group Company is the lessee:
	 The	Group	leases	various	retail	outlets,	commercial	space	and	warehouses	under	non-cancellable	operating	lease	agreements.	The	leases	have	

varying	terms,	escalation	clauses	and	renewal	rights.

	 The	Group	also	leases	various	plant	and	machinery	under	cancellable	operating	lease	agreements.	The	Group	is	required	to	give	a	six-month	notice	
for	the	termination	of	these	agreements.

 The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

      2024 2023
      $ $

 No later than 1 year     58 11,728

 Operating lease commitments - where a Group Company is the lessor:
 Less than one year     37,626  9,520
	 One	year	to	five	years	 	 	 	 	 28,654  8,539

      66,280  18,059
  

32 Related party transactions
	 The	ultimate	parent	of	the	Group	is	Massy	Holdings	Ltd.	(incorporated	in	the	Republic	of	Trinidad	and	Tobago).

 The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

      2024 2023
      $ $

a Sales of goods 
 Associates     36,430  45,103
  
	 Goods	are	sold	on	the	basis	of	the	price	lists	in	force	with	non-related	parties.	
  
b Purchases of goods 
 Associates     338  1,060
  
 Goods purchased from entities controlled by non-executive directors    – 212,643

	 Goods	are	bought	on	the	basis	of	the	price	lists	in	force	with	non-related	parties.	
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32 Related party transactions continued

      2024 2023
      $ $

c Key management compensation 
	 Salaries	and	other	short-term	employee	benefits	 	 	 	 	 157,668  172,822
	 Post-employment	benefits	 	 	 	 	 11,233  11,233
 
      168,901  184,055
  
d Year-end balances arising from sales/purchases of goods/services 
 Receivables from related parties     7,297  14,314

 Payables to related parties     62  1,328
  
e Customer deposits to related parties     39,477 38,468

  

33 Financial risk management

33.1 Financial risk factors
	 The	Group’s	activities	expose	it	to	a	variety	of	financial	risks.	The	Group’s	aim	therefore	is	to	achieve	an	appropriate	balance	between	risk	and	

return	and	minimise	potentially	adverse	effects	on	the	Group’s	financial	performance.	This	is	achieved	by	the	analysis,	evaluation,	acceptance	
and	management	of	the	Group’s	risk	exposure.	

	 The	Board	of	Directors	is	ultimately	responsible	for	the	establishment	and	oversight	of	the	Group’s	risk	management	framework.	The	
main	financial	risks	of	the	Group	relate	to	the	availability	of	funds	to	meet	business	needs,	the	risk	of	default	by	counterparties	to	financial	
transactions,	and	fluctuations	in	interest	and	foreign	exchange	rates.		The	treasury	function	manages	the	financial	risks	that	arise	in	relation	to	
underlying	business	needs	and	operates	within	clear	policies	and	stringent	parameters.	The	function	does	not	operate	as	a	profit	centre	and	
the	undertaking	of	speculative	transactions	is	not	permitted.

	 The	Group's	principal	financial	liabilities	comprise	bank	loans,	operating	overdrafts,	lease	liabilities	and	trade	payables.	There	are	various	
financial	assets	such	as	trade	receivables,	investments,	loans	receivable,	cash	and	short-term	deposits	which	emanate	from	its	operations.	
The	main	risks	arising	from	the	Group’s	financial	instruments	are	credit	risk,	liquidity	risk,	foreign	currency	risk,	interest	rate	risk	and	equity	
securities	price	risk.

	 The	following	contains	information	relative	to	the	Group’s	exposure	to	each	of	the	above	risks,	including	quantitative	disclosures.	
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

33.1.1	 Market	risk
	 The	Group	is	inherently	exposed	to	market	risk,	which	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	or	future	cash	flows	of	a	financial	instrument	will	

fluctuate	because	of	changes	in	market	factors.		Market	risk	can	be	subdivided	into	three	categories	namely	currency	risk,	interest	
rate	risk	and	price	risk.

a Currency risk
	 The	Group	operates	internationally	and	is	exposed	to	foreign	exchange	risk	arising	from	various	currency	exposures.		Foreign	

exchange	risk	arises	from	future	commercial	transactions	and	recognised	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities.	The	Group	
manages its foreign exchange risk by ensuring that the net exposure in foreign assets and liabilities is kept to an acceptable level 
by	monitoring	currency	positions	as	well	as	holding	foreign	currency	balances.	

	 The	following	table	summarises	the	Group’s	net	exposure	and	sensitivities	to	currency	risk	on	its	financial	instruments.	
 
     Net Currency  Change/  
     Exposure Sensitivity Impact
 Currency    $ % $

 As at September 30, 2024
 USD     488,421  2  9,768
 BBD     (221,044) 2  (4,421)
 PESO     (263,136) 1  (2,631)
 GYD     141,559  3  4,247
 JCD     167,496  5  8,375
 Other     (131,765) 2  (2,635)

     181,531    12,703

 As at September 30, 2023    
 USD     199,654  2  3,993
 BBD     (212,330) 2  (4,247)
 PESO     (274,575) 1  (2,746)
 GYD     216,649  3  6,499
 JCD     139,094  5  6,955
 Other     (109,810) 2  (2,196)
 
      (41,318)   8,258
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

33.1.1	 Market	risk	continued

b Interest rate risk
	 The	Group’s	loans	receivables	are	fixed	rate	and	are	subject	to	fair	value	interest	rate	risk	with	no	impact	to	the	financial	

statements	since	they	are	carried	at	amortised	cost.	However,	the	floating	rate	loans	and	bonds	are	subject	to	cash	flow	interest	
rate	risk.	The	Group’s	exposure	to	floating	rate	bonds	is	minimal.

	 The	Group’s	exposure	to	changes	in	market	interest	rates	relates	primarily	to	the	long-term	debt	obligations,	with	floating	interest	
rates.	The	exposure	to	interest	rate	risk	on	cash	held	on	deposit	is	not	significant.

	 At	the	end	of	2024,	interest	rates	were	fixed	on	approximately	62.5%	of	the	borrowings	(2023:	56%).	The	impact	on	the	
consolidated	statement	of	profit	or	loss	to	a	50	basis	points	change	in	floating	interest	rates	is	$16,770	in	2024	(2023:	$31,880).

c Price risk
 The Group has investments in equity securities and investment funds and these are carried at fair value, consequently resulting in 

exposure	to	equity	securities	price	risk.	The	Group	is	not	exposed	to	commodity	price	risk.	To	manage	its	price	risk	arising	from	
investments	in	equity	securities,	the	Group	diversifies	its	portfolio.	Diversification	of	the	portfolio	is	done	in	accordance	with	the	
limits	set	by	the	Group.	See	note	33.3.1

33.1.2	 Credit	risk
 The Group is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that may arise from its customers, clients and counterparties failing to discharge 

their	contractual	obligations.	The	credit	exposures	arise	primarily	from	the	Group’s	receivables	on	sales,	interest-bearing	investments	
and	cash	held	on	deposit	at	various	financial	institutions.	

	 The	Group	has	no	significant	concentrations	of	credit	risk	and	trades	mainly	with	recognised,	creditworthy	third	parties.	It	is	the	
Group’s	policy	that	all	customers	trading	on	credit	terms	are	subject	to	credit	verification	procedures.	These	procedures	are	elements	
of a structured credit control system and include an analysis of each customer’s creditworthiness and the establishment of limits 
before	credit	terms	are	set.	In	addition,	receivable	balances	are	monitored	on	an	ongoing	basis	to	mitigate	the	Group’s	exposure	to	
bad	debts.
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

33.1.2	 Credit	risk	continued

	 The	following	is	a	summary	of	the	Group’s	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk.	These	amounts	are	net	of	ECL	provisions.

      2024 2023
      $ $

 Cash and cash equivalents (Note 17)     1,600,253 1,289,686
 Trade and other receivables (Note 11)     2,350,466 2,370,653

	 Other	financial	assets	at	amortised	cost	(Note	12):
 - Bonds     385,940 564,054
 - Instalment credit and other accounts     691,627 668,613
 - Hire purchase receivables     44,362 76,284
 
	 Other	financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	other	comprehensive	income	(Note	12):
 - Bonds and treasury bills     931,201 1,424,478
 
	 Assets	reclassified	to	held	for	sale	(Note	35)
 Cash and cash equivalents     2,135 2,393
 
	 Other	financial	assets	at	amortised	cost
 - Instalment credit and other accounts     65,456 67,838
 - Loan receivables     26,956 26,995

 Total     6,098,396 6,490,994

	 The	Group	recognises	provision	for	losses	for	assets	subject	to	credit	risk	using	the	expected	credit	loss	model.	While	cash	and	cash	
equivalents	are	also	subject	to	the	impairment	requirements	of	IFRS	9,	the	identified	impairment	loss	was	immaterial.

	 The	Group	uses	the	general	approach	in	arriving	at	expected	losses	for	instalment	credit	and	other	loans,	Note	2.9.

	 A	default	on	a	financial	asset	occurs	in	the	following	circumstances:
	 -	 When	the	issuer	of	a	bond	has	missed	a	payment	of	principal	or	interest	or	has	announced	its	intention	to	suspend	payments	on		

	 part	or	all	of	its	financial	obligations,	or
	 -	 For	all	other	financial	assets,	when	the	counterparty	fails	to	make	contractual	payments	within	90	days	of	when	they	fall	due.
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

33.1.2	 Credit	risk	continued

	 Practical	expedient	for	financial	assets	with	low	credit	risk
	 As	an	exception	to	the	simplified	and	general	approaches,	if	the	credit	risk	of	a	financial	instrument	is	low	at	the	reporting	date,	the	

Group	can	measure	impairment	using	12-month	expected	credit	losses	(ECL),	and	so	it	does	not	have	to	assess	whether	a	significant	
increase	in	credit	risk	has	occurred.	

	 The	financial	instrument	has	to	meet	the	following	requirements,	in	order	for	this	practical	expedient	to	apply:
	 -	 it	has	a	low	risk	of	default;
	 -	 the	borrower	is	considered,	in	the	short	term,	to	have	a	strong	capacity	to	meet	its	obligations	in	the	near	term;	and
 - the lender expects, in the longer term, that adverse changes in economic and business conditions might, but will not necessarily,  

	 reduce	the	ability	of	the	borrower	to	fulfil	its	obligations.

 Assets written off
	 Financial	assets	are	written	off	when	there	is	no	reasonable	expectation	of	recovery,	such	as	a	debtor	failing	to	engage	in	a	repayment	

plan	with	the	Company.	The	Company	categorises	a	loan	or	receivable	for	write	off	when	a	debtor	fails	to	make	contractual	payments,	
even	after	several	attempts	at	enforcement	and/or	recovery	efforts.	Where	loans	or	receivables	have	been	written	off,	the	Company	
continues	to	engage	in	enforcement	activity	to	attempt	to	recover	the	receivable	due.	Where	recoveries	are	made,	these	are	
recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

 Collateral and other credit enhancements 
	 The	Group’s	policies	regarding	obtaining	collateral	have	not	significantly	changed	during	the	reporting	period	and	there	has	been	no	

significant	change	in	the	overall	quality	of	the	collateral	held	by	the	Group	since	the	prior	period.	

 • Trade receivables and treasuries: These are generally unsecured and are generally considered low risk subject to a few   
	 exceptions.

 • Corporate debt securities and sovereign debt securities:	These	are	both	secured	and	unsecured	by	fixed	or	floating	charges	on		 	
	 the	assets	of	the	issuer.	

 • Instalment credit debtors, hire purchase receivables and other accounts: The principal collateral types for these instruments   
 are  security agreements over motor vehicles, furniture and appliances, the values of which are reviewed periodically if there is a   
	 significant	increase	in	credit	risk.
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

33.1.2	 Credit	risk	continued

 Summary of ECL calculations
a	 The	simplified	approach	(trade	receivables,	contract	assets	and	other	debtors)
 The following is a summary of the ECL and Exposure at Default (EAD) on trade receivables and contract assets from a 

combination	of	specific	and	general	provisions:

 Aging Bucket

     Average Estimated Expected
 Category    ECL rate EAD credit loss
     % $ $
 
 As at September 30, 2024
	 Current	(0-30	days)	 	 	 	 0.52	 640,376	 3,360
	 31	to	90	days	 	 	 	 1.74	 241,836	 4,199
	 Over	90	days	 	 	 	 35.97	 679,836	 244,540

 Total    16.14 1,562,048 252,099
   
 Reclassified to held for sale
 Aging Bucket

	 Current	(0-30	days)	 	 	 	 –	 162	 –
	 31	to	90	days	 	 	 	 –	 182	 –	

Over	90	days	 	 	 	 94.33	 5,020	 4,735
 
 Total    88.27 5,364 4,735
 
 As at September 30, 2023    
	 Current	(0-30	days)	 	 	 	 0.74	 767,134	 5,648
	 31	to	90	days	 	 	 	 2.09	 270,102	 5,635
	 Over	90	days	 	 	 	 18.05	 525,553	 94,900

 Total    6.79 1,562,789 106,183

 Reclassified to held for sale    
 Aging Bucket    
 
	 Current	(0-30	days)	 	 	 	 –	 1,201	 –
	 31	to	90	days	 	 	 	 –	 1,044	 –	

Over 90 days    100 3,663 3,663

 Total    62 5,908 3,663
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

33.1.2	 Credit	risk	continued
 Summary of ECL calculations continued

a	 The	simplified	approach	(trade	receivables,	contract	assets	and	other	debtors) continued

 The movement in the provision for expected credit losses for trade receivables and contract asset accounts is as follows:

      2024 2023
      $ $

 
 Balance at beginning of the year      106,183   64,717 
 Translation adjustments      (255)  123 
	 Increase	in	loss	allowance	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	 		 	 	 141,019  46,121 
	 Amounts	written	off	in	the	current	year	 		 	 	 	 5,152  (1,115)

 Balance at end of the year      252,099   109,846 
	 Reclassified	to	held	for	sale	 	 	 	 	 –  (3,663)

 Total      252,099   106,183 
   
	 The	following	is	an	analysis	of	the	net	impairment	expense	on	financial	assets	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	 	 	

       
     2024 2023

      $ $

 Net changes to provisions for the year per  above    141,019 46,121
	 Other	adjustments/write	offs	 	 	 	 	 8,485 1,679

 Net expense for the year     149,504 47,800

 Net expense for the year attributable to:    
	 Continuing	operations	(Note	25.2)	 	 	 	  149,504 47,818
 Discontinued operations     – (18)
 
 Total     149,504 47,800
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

33.1.2	 Credit	risk	continued
 Summary of ECL calculations continued

a	 The	simplified	approach	(trade	receivables,	contract	assets	and	other	debtors)	continued

	 The	following	is	a	summary	of	the	ECL	on	other	debtors	from	a	combination	of	specific	and	general	provisions:
 
 Aging Bucket

     Average Estimated Expected
 Category    ECL rate EAD credit loss

      % $ $

 As at September 30, 2024
	 Current	(0-30	days)	 	 	 	 0.02	 828,576	 140
	 31	to	90	days	 	 	 	 1.09	 1,190	 13
	 Over	90	days	 	 	 	 3.91	 48,797	 1,906

 Total    0.23 878,563 2,059

 Reclassified to held for sale
 Aging Bucket

     Average Estimated Expected
 Category    ECL rate EAD credit loss

      % $ $
   
 As at September 30, 2024  
 Current	(0-30	days)	 	 	 	 –	 5,640	 –

 Total    – 5,640 –
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

33.1.2	 Credit	risk	continued
 Summary of ECL calculations continued

a	 The	simplified	approach	(trade	receivables,	contract	assets	and	other	debtors)	continued

 Aging Bucket

     Average Estimated Expected
 Category    ECL rate EAD credit loss
     % $ $

 As at September 30, 2023
	 Current	(0-30	days)	 	 	 	 0.02	 746,497	 174
	 31	to	90	days	 	 	 	 5.99	 261	 16
	 Over	90	days	 	 	 	 4.84	 35,886	 1,738

 Total    0.24 782,644 1,928

 Reclassified to held for sale    
 Aging Bucket    
    
	 Current	(0-30	days)	 	 	 	 –	 6,046	 –

 Total    – 6,046 –
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

33.1.2	 Credit	risk	continued
 Summary of ECL calculations continued

a	 The	simplified	approach	(trade	receivables,	contract	assets	and	other	debtors) continued

  The movement in the provision for expected credit losses for other debtors accounts is as follows:

      2024 2023
      $ $

 Balance at beginning of the year      1,928   1,611 
 Translation adjustments      (21)  (8)
	 Increase	in	loss	allowance	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	 	 	 	  12   (37)
	 Amounts	written	off	in	the	current	year	 	 	 	 	  140   362 

 Balance at end of the year      2,059   1,928 
  
	 The	following	is	an	analysis	of	the	net	impairment	expense	on	financial	assets	recognised	in	profit	or	loss:

      2024 2023
      $ $

 Net changes to provisions for the year per above    12  (37)

 Net expense for the year     12  (37)
  
 Net expense for the year attributable to:  
	 Continuing	operations	(Note	25.2)	 	 	 	 	 12  (37)
  
 Total     12  (37)
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

33.1.2	 Credit	risk	continued
 Summary of ECL calculations continued

b The general approach
 A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Company’s expected credit loss model under the general approach is as 

follows:

    Basis for recognition of
 Category Definition expected credit loss provision

	 Performing	 The	counterparty	has	a	low	risk	of	default		 12	month	expected	losses.	Where	the	expected
 (Stage 1) and a strong capacity to meet contractual  lifetime of an asset is less than 12 months, 
	 	 cash	flows	 expected	losses	are	measured	at	its	expected		 	

   lifetime
  
 Underperforming Financial assets for which there is a  Lifetime expected losses
	 (Stage	2)	 significant	increase	in	credit	risk	since	
  origination  
  
	 Non-performing	(Stage	3)	 The	financial	asset	is	in	default		 Lifetime	expected	losses
  
 Purchased or Financial assets with evidence of  Lifetime expected losses using a 
	 Credit-impaired	 impairment	at	the	point	of	initial	recognition		 credit-adjusted	effective	interest	rate.
  (for instance, if they are acquired at a 
  deep discount) 
  
	 Write-off	 There	is	no	reasonable	expectation	 Asset	is	written	off
  of recovery
  
	 Over	the	term	of	the	financial	asset,	the	Group	accounts	for	its	credit	risk	by	appropriately	providing	for	expected	credit	losses	on	

a	timely	basis.	In	calculating	the	expected	credit	loss	rates,	the	Group	considers	historical	loss	rates	for	each	category	of	financial	
assets	and	adjusts	for	forward	looking	macroeconomic	data.

 Corporate and sovereign bonds at amortised cost

 Aging Bucket

     Average Estimated Expected
 Category    ECL rate EAD credit loss
     % $ $
 
 As at September 30, 2024
	 Performing	(Stage	1)	 	 	 	 0.39	 386,470	 1,515
	 Non-Performing	(Stage	3)	 	 	 	 –	 985	 –

 Total    0.39 387,455 1,515
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

33.1.2	 Credit	risk	continued
 Summary of ECL calculations continued

b The general approach continued
 Corporate and sovereign bonds at amortised cost continued

 The movement in the provision for expected credit losses is as follows:

      Non-
     Performing Performing Total
     $ $ $
 
 As at September 30, 2024  
 Balance at beginning of the year    871 68 939
	 Reclassification	and	other	adjustments	 	 	 	 	(133)	 	(68)	  (201)
	 Net	charge	to	profit	or	loss	 	 	 	 	777		 –	  777 

 Balance at end of the year     1,515  –  1,515

    
     Average Estimated Expected
 Category    ECL rate EAD credit loss
     % $ $

 As at September 30,  2023
	 Performing	(Stage	1)	 	 	 	 0.15	 562,289	 871
	 Non-Performing	(Stage	3)	 	 	 	 2.53	 2,704	 68

 Total    0.17 564,993 939

       
 The movement in the provision for expected credit losses is as follows:    

      Non-
     Performing Performing Total
     $ $ $

 As at September 30, 2023
 Balance at beginning of the year     813   238   1,051
	 Reclassification	and	other	adjustments	 		 	 	 132		 –	  132
	 Net	charge	to	profit	or	loss	 	 	 	 	(74)	 	(170)	  (244)

 Balance at end of the year     871   68   939
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

33.1.2	 Credit	risk	continued
 Summary of ECL calculations continued

b The general approach continued
 Corporate and sovereign bonds at amortised cost continued

	 The	following	is	an	analysis	of	the	net	impairment	expense	on	financial	assets	recognised	in	profit	or	loss:

      2024 2023
      $ $

 Net changes to provisions for the year per above     777   (244)
 Other adjustments      (201)  26

 Net expense for the year      576   (218)

 Net expense for the year attributable to:    
	 Continuing	operations	(Note	25.2)	 	 	 	 	  576   (218)

 Total      576   (218)
 
 Corporate and sovereign bonds at fair value through other comprehensive income    

    
 Aging bucket    
  
     Average Estimated Expected
 Category    ECL rate EAD credit loss
     % $ $
 
 As at September 30, 2024 
 Performing	(Stage	1)	 	 	 	 0.04	 931,548	 347

 Total    0.04 931,548 347

 The movement in the provision for expected credit losses is as follows:    
 
      Performing Total
      $ $
 
 As at September 30, 2024
 Balance at beginning of the year      293   293 
	 Reclassification	and	other	adjustments	 	 	 	 	 	87		  87 
	 Net	charge	to	profit	or	loss	 	 	 	 	 	(33)	  (33)

 Balance at end of the year      347   347 
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

33.1.2	 Credit	risk	continued
 Summary of ECL calculations continued

b The general approach continued
 Corporate and sovereign bonds at fair value through other comprehensive income continued
    
 Aging bucket    
  
     Average Estimated Expected
 Category    ECL rate EAD credit loss
     % $ $

 As at September 30, 2023
	 Performing	(Stage	1)	 	 	 	 0.02	 1,424,771	 293

 Total    0.02 1,424,771 293
     
     
      Performing Total
      $ $
   
 As at September 30, 2023  
 Balance at beginning of the year      449   449  

Reclassification	and	other	adjustments	 		 	 	 	 (116)	  (116) 
Net	charge	to	profit	or	loss	 	 	 	 	 	(40)	 	(40) 
  

 Balance at end of the year      293   293  
  

     
	 The	following	is	an	analysis	of	the	net	impairment	expense	on	financial	assets	recognised	in	profit	or	loss:	 	 	

  
      2024 2023

      $ $
   
     
 Net changes to provisions for the year per above     (33)  (40) 

Other adjustments      (28)  (29) 
  

 Net expense for the year      (61)  (69) 
  

 Net expense for the year attributable to:     
	 Continuing	operations	(Note	25.2)	 	 	 	 	  (61)  (69) 

  
 Total      (61)  (69) 
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

33.1.2	 Credit	risk	continued
 Summary of ECL calculations continued

b The general approach continued

 Instalment	credit,	hire	purchase	accounts	and	other	financial	assets

 Aging bucket    
  
     Average Estimated Expected
 Category    ECL rate EAD credit loss
     % $ $
 
 As at September 30, 2024    
	 Performing	(Stage	1)	 	 	 	 0.06	 641,631	 406
	 Underperforming	(Stage	2)	 	 	 	 0.35	 48,113	 166
	 Non-Performing	(Stage	3)	 	 	 	 47.09	 88,493	 41,675
 
 Total    5.43 778,237 42,247

 Reclassified to held for sale    
	 Performing	(Stage	1)	 	 	 	 0.14	 79,777	 114
	 Underperforming	(Stage	2)	 	 	 	 5.51	 3,038	 167
	 Non-Performing	(Stage	3)	 	 	 	 12.71	 11,315	 1,438
 
 Total    1.83 94,130 1,719

 The movement in the provision for expected credit losses is as follows:   
     
     Under- Non- 
    Performing performing Performing Total
    $ $ $ $
     
 As at September 30, 2024
 Balance at beginning of the year    1,967   201   29,465   31,633 
 Translation adjustments    (4)  (2)  (66)  (72)
	 Net	changes	to	provisions	and	reclassifications	 	 (1,772)	 	(90)	 	13,095		  11,233 
	 Amounts	written	off	in	the	current	year	 		 	 215		 	57		 	(819)	  (547)

 Balance at end of the year   406 166 41,675 42,247
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

33.1.2	 Credit	risk	continued
 Summary of ECL calculations continued

b The general approach continued
 Instalment	credit,	hire	purchase	accounts	and	other	financial	assets	continued

     Under- Non- 
    Performing performing Performing Total
    $ $ $ $
     
 As at September 30, 2024
 Reclassified to held for sale
 Balance at beginning of the year    313   291   1,472   2,076 
	 Translation	adjustments	 	 	 –	 	–	 	(3)	  (3)
	 Net	changes	to	provisions	and	reclassifications	 	 	(104)	 	(57)	 	(32)	  (193)
	 Amounts	written	off	in	the	current	year	 		 	 (95)	 	(66)	 	–	  (161)

 Balance at end of the year    114   168   1,437   1,719 
     
 Aging bucket    
  
     Average Estimated Expected
 Category    ECL rate EAD credit loss
     % $ $
  
 As at September 30, 2023 
	 Performing	(Stage	1)	 	 	 	 0.29	 683,233	 1,967
	 Underperforming	(Stage	2)	 	 	 	 1.36	 14,766	 201
	 Non-Performing	(Stage	3)	 	 	 	 37.52	 78,531	 29,465

 Total    4.07 776,530 31,633

 Reclassified to held for sale    
	 Performing	(Stage	1)	 	 	 	 0.38	 82,308	 313
	 Underperforming	(Stage	2)	 	 	 	 9.19	 3,164	 291
	 Non-Performing	(Stage	3)	 	 	 	 12.87	 11,437	 1,472

 Total    2.14 96,909 2,076
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

33.1.2	 Credit	risk	continued
 Summary of ECL calculations continued

b The general approach continued
 Instalment	credit,	hire	purchase	accounts	and	other	financial	assets	continued

     Under- Non- 
    Performing performing Performing Total
    $ $ $ $
     
 As at September 30, 2023    
 Balance at beginning of the year    5,827   604   14,048   20,479 
 Translation adjustments    2   6   23   31 
	 Net	changes	to	provisions	and	reclassifications	 	 (3,797)	 	(450)	 	15,274		  11,027 
	 Amounts	written	off	in	the	current	year	 	 	 	(65)	 	41		 	120		  96 

 Balance at end of the year    1,967   201   29,465   31,633 
     
 Reclassified to held for sale    
 Balance at beginning of the year     384   356   1,771   2,511 
 Translation adjustments    --   2   4   6 
	 Net	changes	to	provisions	and	reclassifications	 	 53		 	(42)	 	(269)	  (258)
	 Amounts	written	off	in	the	current	year	 	 	 	(124)	 	(25)	 	(34)	  (183)
       
 Balance at end of the year    313   291   1,472   2,076 

	 The	following	is	an	analysis	of	the	net	impairment	expense	on	financial	assets	recognised	in	profit	or	loss:
    

      2024 2023
      $ $

 Net changes to provisions for the year per above     11,233  10,769
 Other adjustments      433   539

 Net expense for the year      11,666   11,308

 Net expense for the year attributable to:    
	 Continuing	operations	(Note	25.2)	 		 	 	 	 11,757   11,514
 Discontinued operations      (91)  (206)

 Total      11,666   11,308
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.1 Financial risk factors continued

     
33.1.3	 Liquidity	risk

Liquidity	risk	is	the	risk	which	may	arise	if	the	Group	is	unable	to	meet	the	obligations	associated	with	its	financial	liabilities	when	they	
fall	due.	

The	Group’s	liquidity	risk	management	process	is	measured	and	monitored	by	senior	management.	This	process	includes	monitoring	
current	cash	flows	on	a	frequent	basis,	assessing	the	expected	cash	inflows	as	well	as	ensuring	that	the	Group	has	adequate	
committed	lines	of	credit	to	meet	its	obligations.

The	following	is	an	analysis	of	the	undiscounted	contractual	cash	flows	payable	under	financial	liabilities.		Undiscounted	cash	flows	will	
differ	from	both	the	carrying	values	and	the	fair	values.

Maturity analysis of financial liabilities
     
   Less than 1– 5 More than Contractual Carrying 
   1 Year Years 5 years Cash flows amount
   $ $ $ $ $

2024
Financial liabilities     
Bank	overdraft	and	bankers’	acceptance	(Note	22)	 101,225	 –	 –	 101,225	 101,225
Other borrowings (Note 22)  1,525,541 1,206,964 219,459 2,951,964 2,894,459
Customers’	deposits	(Note	23)	 	 583,167	 279,455	 –	 862,622	 862,622
Trade	and	other	payables	(Note	24)	 	 1,804,366	 2,308	 –	 1,806,674	 1,806,674
Lease	Liabilities	(Note	6.2)	 	 149,115	 624,951	 791,325	 1,565,391	 1,070,975

   4,163,414 2,113,678 1,010,784 7,287,876 6,735,955
     
     
2023     
Financial liabilities     
Bank	overdraft	and	bankers’	acceptance	(Note	22)	 88,236	 –	 –	 88,236	 88,236
Other borrowings (Note 22)  1,916,064 670,080 827,574 3,413,718 3,402,304
Customers’	deposits	(Note	23)	 	 604,460	 262,400	 –	 866,860	 866,454
Trade	and	other	payables	(Note	24)	 	 1,943,615	 8,045	 –	 1,951,660	 1,951,660
Lease	Liabilities	(Note	6.2)	 	 145,708	 466,100	 809,874	 1,421,682	 937,932
 
   4,698,083 1,406,625 1,637,448 7,742,156 7,246,586
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33 Financial risk management continued

33.2 Capital risk management
 The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns 

for	shareholders	and	benefits	for	other	stakeholders	and	to	maintain	an	optimal	capital	structure	to	reduce	the	cost	of	capital.

 In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may vary the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders,	issue	new	shares	or	sell	assets	to	reduce	debt.

	 The	Group	monitors	capital	on	the	basis	of	the	gearing	ratio.	The	ratio	is	calculated	as	net	debt	divided	by	total	capital.		Net	debt	is	calculated	
as	total	borrowings	(current	and	non-current	borrowings)	less	cash	and	cash	equivalents.	Total	capital	is	calculated	as	total	equity	as	shown	in	
the	consolidated	statement	of	financial	position	plus	net	debt.

      2024 2023
      $ $

 Total borrowings (Note 22)     2,995,684 3,490,540
 Less: Cash and cash equivalents including cash
	 Reclassified	to	held	for	sale	 	 	 	  (1,602,388) (1,292,079)

 Net debt      1,393,296 2,198,461
 Total equity     8,013,445 7,608,506

 Total capital     9,406,741 9,806,967

 Gearing ratio     14.8%	 22.4%
 Total borrowings to total equity ratio     37.4%	 45.9%

33.2.1	 Regulatory	capital	held	by	subsidiaries
a Massy Finance GFC Ltd.
	 This	entity	is	incorporated	in	the	Republic	of	Trinidad	and	Tobago	and	is	licensed	under	the	Financial	Institutions	Act,	2008.	It	is	

subject	to	the	capital	requirements	set	by	the	Central	Bank	of	Trinidad	and	Tobago	(CBTT).

 Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored weekly by management based on the guidelines developed by 
the	Basel	Committee,	as	implemented	by	the	CBTT,	the	country’s	authority	for	supervisory	purposes.	The	required	information	is	
filed	with	the	CBTT	on	a	quarterly	basis.

	 In	addition	to	the	above,	there	are	specific	requirements	governing	lending,	customers’	deposits	and	other	activities	in	relation	to	
the	Company’s	capital.
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.2 Capital risk management continued

33.2.1	 Regulatory	capital	held	by	subsidiaries	continued
a Massy Finance GFC Ltd. continued

 The table below summarises the total equity positions of each of the above entities, both of which are in excess of their minimum 
regulatory	capital	requirements.

                Massy Finance GFC Ltd. 
      2024 2023

      $ $

 Total equity     153,403 145,889

33.3 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
33.3.1	 Fair	value	hierarchy
	 The	Group	uses	the	following	hierarchy	for	determining	and	disclosing	the	fair	value	of	financial	assets	and	liabilities	recorded	at	fair	

value	in	the	consolidated	financial	statements	based	upon	the	level	of	judgement	associated	with	the	inputs	used	to	measure	their	fair	
value.	The	hierarchical	levels,	from	lowest	to	highest	based	on	the	amount	of	subjectivity	associated	with	the	inputs	to	fair	valuation	of	
these assets and liabilities are as follows:

 Level 1 
	 Inputs	are	unadjusted,	quoted	prices	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities	at	the	measurement	date.	The	types	of	assets	

carried	at	level	1	fair	value	are	equity	and	debt	securities	listed	in	active	markets.	The	fair	value	of	financial	instruments	traded	in	active	
markets	is	based	on	quoted	market	prices	at	the	statement	of	financial	position	date.	The	quoted	market	price	used	for	financial	
assets	held	by	the	Group	is	the	current	bid	price.

 Level 2 
	 Inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	level	1	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	liability,	either	directly	or	indirectly.	These	

inputs are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means at the measurement date 
and	for	the	duration	of	the	instruments’	anticipated	life.

	 The	fair	value	of	financial	instruments	that	are	not	traded	in	an	active	market	is	determined	by	using	valuation	techniques.	The	Group	
uses	a	variety	of	methods	and	makes	assumptions	that	are	based	on	market	conditions	existing	at	each	statement	of	financial	
position	date.	Quoted	market	prices	or	dealer	quotes	for	similar	instruments	are	used	for	long-term	debt.	Other	techniques,	such	as	
estimated	discounted	cash	flows,	are	used	to	determine	fair	value	for	the	remaining	financial	instruments.

 Level 3
	 Inputs	that	are	unobservable	for	the	asset	or	liability	for	which	there	are	no	active	markets	to	determine	a	price.	These	financial	

instruments	are	carried	at	fair	value	and	are	regularly	tested	for	impairment	with	changes	taken	through	other	comprehensive	income.
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33 Financial risk management continued
33.3 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities continued

33.3.1	 Fair	value	hierarchy continued

 The following table presents the Group’s assets that are measured at fair value at 30 September 2024:
    
    Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
    $ $ $ $

 Assets    
	 Financial	assets	at	FVPL	and	FVOCI	(Note	12)	 	 	 	
	 Bonds	and	treasury	bills	 	 	 	–		 	931,201		 –				  931,201 
	 Listed	equities	 	 	 	1,589		 	34		 	–				  1,623 
	 Unlisted	equities	 	 	 	–				 	139		 	101,179		  101,318 
	 Investment	funds	 	 	 	205,734		 	8,044		 	–			  213,778 
  
    207,323   939,418   101,179   1,247,920 
    
 The following table presents the Group’s assets that are measured at fair value at 30 September 2023:   

 
	 The	movement	in	level	3	financial	assets	is	as	follows:	 	 	 	
    Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
    $ $ $ $

 Assets
	 Financial	assets	at	FVPL	and	FVOCI		(Note	12)	 	 	 	
	 Bonds	and	treasury	bills	 	 	 	285,765		 	1,138,713		 	–			  1,424,478 
	 Listed	equities	 	 	 	8,439		 	34		 	–		  8,473 
	 Unlisted	equities	 	 	 	–			 	140		 	90,547		  90,687 
	 Investment	funds	 	 	 	125,353		 	14,066		 –			 	139,419 
	 Structured	Notes	 	 	 –			 	56,538		 –		  56,538 
 
     419,557   1,209,491   90,547   1,719,595
 
    

      2024 2023
      $ $

 Balance at beginning of year      90,547   216,098  
Additions for the year     –    67  
Disposals for the year     –    (13,621) 
Net fair value gains/(losses) recognised in other  comprehensive income    10,748   (112,290) 
 Exchange adjustments on retranslation of overseas operations     (116)  293  
 

      101,179 90,547 
 



113    Massy Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2024 excerpts  

33 Financial risk management continued
33.3 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities continued

33.3.1	 Fair	value	hierarchy continued

	 The	Group	utilises	the	valuation	specialists	(internal	or	external)	for	the	valuations	of	non-property	items	required	for	financial	reporting	
purposes,	including	level	3	fair	values.	The	following	is	a	summary	of	the	significant	unobservable	inputs	used	in	level	3	fair	value	
measurements of unlisted equity instruments:

	 •	 	Risk-adjusted	discount	rates	–	Discount	rates	ranging	around	11.6%	were	used	in	arriving	at	fair	value	measurements.	Had	these		
	 rates	changed	by	+/-	200	basis	points,	the	fair	value	measurement	would	have	been	lower	by	$3,973	or	higher	by	$5,821.

 •  Growth rate was nil since operations are at 100% capacity 
 •  Methanol prices were based upon the Argus Price Forecast

33.3.2	 Fair	value	of	financial	instruments	carried	at	amortised	cost
	 The	carrying	amounts	and	fair	values	of	financial	instruments	carried	at	amortised	cost	are	as	follows:

     Carrying amount  Fair value
    2024 2023 2024 2023
    $ $ $ $
 
 Financial assets    
 Financial assets at amortised cost (Note 12)    
 -  Bonds   385,940 564,054 392,885 564,084
 -  Instalment credit and other accounts   703,600 668,613 715,363 668,613
 -  Hire purchase receivables   32,390 76,284 31,964 74,900
	 -		Reclassified	to	held	for	sale	(Note	35)	 	 	 92,412 94,833 92,412 94,833
 
    1,214,342 1,403,784 1,232,624 1,402,430
    
 Financial liabilities    
 -  Bank overdraft and bankers’ acceptance (Note 22)  101,225 88,236 101,225 88,236
 -  Other borrowings (Note 22)   2,894,459 3,402,304 2,894,459 3,402,304
 -  Customers’ deposits (Note 23)   862,622 866,454 862,622 866,454
 
    3,858,306 4,356,994 3,858,306 4,356,994
    
 Due to the short-term nature of Trade and other receivables and Trade and other payables, their carrying amounts are considered to 

be	the	same	as	their	fair	values.	Accordingly,	their	values	are	not	shown	in	the	tables	above.	
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34 Business combinations
	 There	were	no	business	combinations	that	took	place	in	the	2024	financial	year.

 The Group acquired 100% of the shareholdings in the following companies in 2023:
	 -	 Rowe’s	IGA	Group	–	effective	12	December	2022
	 -	 	Air	Liquide	Trinidad	&	Tobago	Limited		(now	known	as	Massy	Gas	Products	Manufacturing	(Trinidad)	Ltd)	–	effective	28	January	2023
	 -	 I.G.L.	(St.	Lucia)	IBC	Limited	–	effective	17	May	2023

     Massy Gas
     Products
    Rowe's IGA Manufacturing IGL
    Group (Trinidad) Ltd (SLU) Ltd. Total
    $ $ $ $

 Purchase consideration 
 Period ended 30 September 2022    
 Total purchase consideration     316,684   347,005   958,803   1,622,492 
	 Deferred	consideration		 	 	 –		 	15,589		 	–		  15,589 
 
     316,684   362,594   958,803   1,638,081

 Net assets acquired    
	 Cash	and	short-term	investments		 	 	 –		 	–		 	23,034		  23,034   

Trade	receivables		 	 	 –		 	22,157		 	43,128		 	65,285 
	 Inventories		 	 	 	–	 	3,936		 	19,072		 	23,008 
	 Current	tax	asset		 	 	 –		 	10,013		 	18,286		  28,299 
 Fixed assets    100,561   233,949   350,598   685,108 
 Right of use assets     139,996   5,566   198   145,760 
	 Intangible	assets		 	 	 	55,992		 –		 	–		  55,992 
	 Other	assets	 	 	 –		 	1,340		 	24,017		  25,357 
	 Trade	payable	 	 	 	–	 	(3,689)	 	(26,876)	  (30,565)
	 Current	tax	liabilities		 	 	 	–		 	(3,895)	 	(18,634)	  (22,529)
	 Deferred	tax	liabilities		 	 	 	–	 	(52,415)	 	(35,602)	  (88,017)
 Lease obligations    (139,996)  (6,914)  (33)  (146,943)
	 Pension	liabilities		 		 	 –	 	–	 	(6,882)	  (6,882)
	 Other	liabilities		 	 	 	–		 	(15,652)	 	(5,754)	  (21,406)

 Net identifiable assets acquired    156,553   194,396   384,552   735,501 

 Goodwill    160,131   168,198   574,251   902,580 
    
	 Purchase	consideration-cash	outflow    
	 Outflow	of	cash	to	acquire	subsidiary,	net	of	cash	acquired	 	 	 	
 Cash consideration    316,684   347,005   958,803   1,622,492 
	 Less:	Cash	and	short-term	investments	acquired	 	 	 –		 –		 	(23,034)	  (23,034)

 Net outflow of cash – investing activities    316,684   347,005   935,769   1,599,458
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35 Discontinued operations
	 The	following	disposals	are	reported	in	the	prior	period.

 30 September 2023 – Disposed entities
	 •	 The	Group’s	49%	interest	in	Dunmass	Holdings,	Inc.	was	sold	to	Dunblare	Import-Export,	Inc.	on	September	25,	2023.
	 •	 Other	-	Farnells	Holdings	Inc.,	an	associate	of	Massy	Barbados	Ltd.,	was	sold	to	Mr.	Harry	Yeh	on	February	6,	2023.

 30 September 2023 – Held for sale entities
	 •	 Massycard	(Barbados)	Limited	has	signed	a	sale	agreement	for	the	sale	of	the	credit	card	portfolio	and	supporting	assets.	The	sale	is	expected		

	 to	be	completed	within	the	new	financial	year.
	 •	 Massy	Properties	(Barbados)	Ltd.,	which	contains	all	remaining	investment	properties,	has	been	reclassified	to	held	for	sale	as	several	properties		

	 have	been	earmarked	to	be	sold	within	the	next	year.

35.1 Held for Sale entities
	 	Assets	reclassified	to	Held	for	Sale	for	the	period	ended	September	30,	2024:

      Massy
     Massycard Properties
     (Barbados) (Barbados)
     Ltd. Ltd. Total
     $ $ $

 Property, plant and equipment    4,119 11,772 15,891
	 Investment	properties	 	 	 	 –	 121,981	 121,981
 Financial assets    
	 -		 Instalment	credit	and	other	accounts	 	 	 	 65,456	 –	 65,456
	 -		 Loan	receivables	 	 	 	 –	 26,956	 26,956
	 Trade	&	other	receivables	 	 	 	 –	 6,289	 6,289
	 Cash	&	cash	equivalents	 	 	 	 –	 2,135	 2,135
	 Inventories	 	 	 	 –	 2,053	 2,053

 Total assets    69,575 171,186 240,761

	 Liabilities	reclassified	to	Held	for	Sale	for	the	period	ended	September	30,	2024.
   
       Massy
       Properties
       (Barbados)
       Ltd
       $
   
 Trade and other payables      6,470 

Deferred income tax liabilities      1,161 
  

 Total liabilities      7,631 
  

    



116    Massy Holdings Ltd  Annual Report 2024 excerpts  

35 Discontinued operations continued
35.1 Held for Sale entities continued

	 Assets	reclassified	to	Held	for	Sale	for	the	period	ended	September	30,	2023

      Massy
     Massycard Properties
     (Barbados) (Barbados)
     Ltd. Ltd. Total
     $ $ $

 Property, plant and equipment     3,972   19,997   23,969
	 Investment	properties	 	 	 	 	–	 	175,736		  175,736
 Financial assets    
	 -		 Instalment	credit	and	other	accounts	 	 	 	 	67,838		 		–		 	67,838
	 -		 Loan	receivables	 	 	 	 	–		 	26,995		  26,995
	 Trade	&	other	receivables	 	 	 	 		–	 	8,487		  8,487
	 Cash	&	cash	equivalents	 	 	 	 		–	 	2,393		  2,393
	 Inventories	 	 	 	 		–	 	2,055		  2,055

 Total assets    71,810 235,663 307,473

	 Liabilities	reclassified	to	Held	for	Sale	for	the	period	ended	September	30,	2023.	 	 	 	
     
       Massy
       Properties
       (Barbados)
       Ltd
       $
     
 Trade and other payables       10,474  

Deferred income tax liabilities       66  
  

 Total liabilities       10,540  
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35 Discontinued operations continued
35.2 Analysis of the results of discontinued operations     

      2024 2023
      $ $

 Revenue     25,734 48,323

	 Operating	profit	before	finance	costs	 	 	 	
 and expected credit losses      4,170 (20,572)
 Expected credit losses     91 224

	 Operating	profit	before/after	finance	costs		 	 	 	 	 4,261 (20,348)
 Income tax expense      (126) (19)

	 Profit	after	income	tax	 	 	 	 	 4,135 (20,367)

 Profit for the year from discontinued operations     4,135 (20,367)
 
 Attributable to:    
 Owners of the parent     4,135 (20,367)

      4,135 (20,367)

	 Analysis	of	profit	before	tax	from	discontinued	operations	as	per	consolidated	statement	of	cashflows:	 	 	
 

	 Operating	profit	after	finance	costs	 	 	 	 	 4,261 (20,348)

      4,261 (20,348)
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35 Discontinued operations continued
 35.2 Analysis of the results of discontinued operations continued 

                Massy Properties                        Massycard 
                   (Barbados) Ltd.                   (Barbados) Ltd.                          Other                            Total
   2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
   $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

 Revenue   7,144   28,150   18,590   20,174  –   –    25,734   48,323 

	 Operating	profit	before	finance	costs	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 and expected credit losses    (11,244)  (26,512)  15,414   3,532  –  2,408   4,170   (20,572)
 Expected credit losses  –  24   91   200   –	 –		  91   224 

	 Operating	profit	before/after	
	 		finance	costs	 	 	(11,244)  (26,488)  15,505   3,732  –  2,408   4,261   (20,348)
 Income Tax Expense  –			 –	  (126)  (19) –	 –		  (126)  (19)

 Profit after income tax   (11,244)  (26,488)  15,379   3,713   –   2,408   4,135   (20,367)
         
 Attributable to:        
 Owners of the parent   (11,244)  (26,488)  15,379   3,713  –  2,408   4,135   (20,367)

    (11,244)  (26,488)  15,379   3,713   –   2,408   4,135   (20,367)
        

 
35.3 Analysis of cash flows from discontinued operations

      2024 2023
      $ $

	 Net	cash	inflow	from	operating	activities	 	 	 	 	  (8,922)  11,514
	 Net	cash	inflow	from	investing	activities	 	 	 	 	  56,851   110,556
	 Net	cash	outflow	from	financing	activities	 	 	 	 	  (48,183) (122,824)

       (254)  (754)
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  2020  2021 2022 2023 2024

Income Statement Information     
Third party revenue  10,205,454   11,089,117   12,326,604   14,195,284   15,723,137 
Operating	profit	before	finance	costs		 	764,432		 	968,335		 	1,077,587		 	1,394,050		  1,255,319 
Finance costs  (112,318)   (102,767)  (101,412)  (168,787)  (239,164)
Share of results of associates and joint ventures  48,948   50,296   18,842   3,792   119,030 
Profit	before	tax	 701,062		 	915,864		 	995,017		 	1,229,055		 	1,135,185 
Effective	tax	rate	(%)	 36		 27	 31	 32	 38
Profit	for	the	year	from	continuing	operations	 	448,452		 	666,023		 	689,041		 	833,299		  708,298 
Profit/(loss)	for	the	year	from	discontinued	operations	 	294,699		 	156,005		 	169,147		 	(20,367)	  4,135 
Profit/(loss)	for	the	year	 743,151		 	822,028		 	858,188		 	812,932		  712,433 
Profit	attributable	to	owners	of	the	parent	 	696,403		 	788,458		 	813,929		 	764,195		 	660,599 
Basic	earnings	per	share	-	from	continuing	operations	(¢)	 	21.06		 	31.92		 	32.57		 	39.64		  33.17 
Basic	loss	per	share	-	from	discontinued	operations	(¢)	 14.48		 	8.17		 	8.55		 	(1.03)	  0.21 
Total	earnings	per	share	(¢)	 	35.54		 	40.09		 	41.12		 	38.61		  33.38 
      
Balance Sheet Information     
Non current assets  5,445,388   5,179,494   6,380,903   7,665,266   8,025,600 
Current assets 7,794,359   8,355,415   6,317,680   7,875,584   7,421,582 
Total assets 13,239,747   13,534,909   12,698,583   15,540,850   15,447,182 
Non current liabilities  2,764,101   2,846,504   2,924,592   3,012,836   3,142,255 
Current liabilities 4,058,602   3,856,234   2,521,208   4,919,508   4,291,482 
Total liabilities 6,822,703   6,702,738   5,445,800   7,932,344   7,433,737 
Shareholder's equity  6,170,638   6,668,132   7,066,954   7,401,469   7,785,100 
Non-controlling interests 246,406   164,039   185,829   207,037   228,345 
Equity 6,417,044   6,832,171   7,252,783   7,608,506   8,013,445 
Cash 2,533,621   2,034,141   1,227,119   1,289,686   1,600,253 
Debt   2,117,280  1,709,901   1,786,228   3,490,540   2,995,684 
      
Balance Sheet Quality Measures     
Working	Capital	 3,735,757		 	4,499,181		 	3,796,472		 	2,956,076		  3,130,100 
Current	Ratio	 	1.92		 	2.17		 	2.51		 	1.60		  1.73 
Quick	Ratio	 1.53		 	1.74		 	1.69		 	1.10		  1.19 
Total	debt	to	shareholder's	equity	(%)	 34.3		 25.6	 25.3	 47.2	 38.5
Total	debt	to	shareholder's	equity	&	debt	(%)	 25.5		 20.4	 20.2	 32.0	 27.8
      
Cash Flow Information     
Cash	flow	from	operating	activities	 	839,173		 	414,037		 	681,111		 	1,018,390		  1,348,952 
Cash	flow	from	investing	activities	 14,898		 	221,891		 	(1,557,126)	 	(1,990,041)	  175,229 
Cash	flow	from	financing	activities	 	(389,621)			 (794,623)	 	(318,692)	 	1,010,438		  (1,218,923)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash, cash equivalents 
  before exchange rate changes  464,450   (158,695)  (1,194,707)  38,787   305,258 
      
      
      

Five Year Review
Year ended September 30. Expressed in thousands of Trinidad and Tobago dollars, except where otherwise stated.
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